ECOLOGICAL RECONCILIATION: BRIDGING HUMANITY AND NATURE FOR JUSTICE

By

Esme Greene Murdock

A DISSERTATION

Submitted to
Michigan State University
in partial fulfillment of the requirements
for the degree of

Philosophy—Doctor of Philosophy

2016

ABSTRACT

ECOLOGICAL RECONCILIATION: BRIDGING HUMANITY AND NATURE FOR JUSTICE

By

Esme Greene Murdock

The disciplines of political philosophy and environmental ethics are both concerned with the articulation and analysis of harms as well as the creation of normative and sustainable remedies. However, these disciplines rarely overlap in either the scope of their analysis of harm or their remedies. For they largely articulate harm as either "political" or "environmental," and not importantly, both. "Ecological Reconciliation: Bridging Humanity and Nature for Justice" explores this separation between political philosophy and environmental ethics as exemplified in the separation of the literatures of political reconciliation and ecological restoration. This dissertation argues that both political reconciliation and ecological restoration attempt to articulate processes of reconciliation as remedies to harms—where reconciliation is defined as the instantiation of right relations out of harmful ones. However, both the analysis of political and environmental harm and the proposed processes of reconciliation regarding these harms can be improved through the incorporation of more inclusive ecological relations within political reconciliation and through the incorporation of more inclusive political relations within ecological restoration. Ecological relations, roughly, track the physical processes and functionalities of ecosystems, while political relations track the human perspectives, lived experiences, and values that construct human relationships to power. Political reconciliation can come closer to its aspirations toward social justice from understandings of how environmental injustices both aggravate and contribute to social and political marginality; ecological restoration can come closer to its aspirations to create greater environmental responsibility from analysis of how social and political injustices infuse and color restoration plans and projects.

This dissertation argues that the integration of ecological relations and political relations is key to better analyzing harm, as well as to the construction of sustainable, practical remedies. For example, the disproportionate siting of commercial toxic waste facilities in poor, communities of color in the United States is an instance of both social/political injustice and environmental injustice. Both levels of harms must be analyzed and addressed through reconciliatory frameworks that are expanded to account for them both. As solutions, this dissertation explores the literatures of environmental justice and Indigenous environmental ethics as areas of inquiry that center the relatedness of political and environmental harms/remedies. Both environmental justice and Indigenous environmental ethics prioritize the wedding of inclusive ecological relations and political relations to the instantiation of right relations and, thus, produce integrated, better models of reconciliation, which overcome limitations of both political reconciliation and ecological restoration models explored in the first part of the dissertation. Environmental justice tracks the ways in which environmental, social, and political ills disproportionately affect already vulnerable and marginalized communities, which illustrates the inextricable links between political and environmental injustice. Similarly, Indigenous environmental ethics examines how the rampant injustices (especially to the environment and ecosystems) of settler colonialism engender networks of harm that are deeply political and ecological, which call for reconciliatory processes that result in the ability of Indigenous communities to live in and experience the world in just, authentic, and culturally appropriate ways.

Copyright by ESME GREENE MURDOCK 2016



TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter 1: The Separation of Ecological Relations and Political Relations	1
1.1 Situating the Dissertation Project in Current Literature	
1.2 Political Theories of Justice.	
1.3 Reconciliation.	18
1.4 Dissertation Chapter Outline	22
	25
Chapter 2: Does the Environment Have a Place in Political Reconciliation?	
2.1 Ecological Vulnerability and Political Realities	
2.2 Models of Political Reconciliation.	
Models Resistant to Environmental Concern	
(1) Forgiveness	
(2) Political Value	
Models Amenable to Environmental Concern	
(3) Trust	
(4) Political Community	
(5) Moral Agency/Reciprocity	
(6) Indigenous	
2.3 Is the Exclusion of the Environment from Political Reconciliation Justified?	54
Chapter 3: The Evolution of Ecological Restoration.	58
3.1 The Thin Paradigm of Ecological Restoration	
Culture Versus Nature Rejection	
"Value-free"/"Objective" Landscape Rejection	
3.2 The Thick Paradigm of Ecological Restoration	
3.3 Is the Thick Paradigm Better?	
3.4 Case Study: The Sinkyone Intertribal Park Project	
Chapter 4: Environmental Justice.	
4.1 The Emergence of the Environmental Justice Movement.	
4.2 Amendments to the Environmental Justice Movement.	
Civic Estrangement and the Erasure of Black Ecological Identities	
4.3 Case Study: "The Flint Water Crisis".	101
Chapter 5: Indigenous Environmental Ethics	100
5.1 Coloniality, Time, and Spatiality	
Settler Colonialism	
5.2 The Danger of Testimony and Epistemic Violence	
The Emotional Space of Theory	
5.3 The Restoration/Reconciliation of Community is Land	126
5.4 Co-Management Models of Reconciliation.	
Sinkyone and Sturgeon Restoration Projects	
Concluding Remarks	137
DVDL 10 CD 4 DVW	
BIBLIOGRAPHY	141

Chapter 1: The Separation of Ecological Relations and Political Relations

This chapter provides an overview of the dissertation problem. This is the problem that is often analyzed as either political or environmental—a conceptual division that then appears in conceptions of repair. This dissertation argues that the presentation of ecological relations and political relations as separate and oppositional to each other leads to similarly bifurcated methods of harm analysis and proposed remedies. It does this through briefly exploring the separation of political and ecological relations as they manifest within the areas of political reconciliation and ecological restoration. Section I situates the dissertation project in relation to literatures within both political philosophy and environmental philosophy. This section examines the ways in which specific conceptions of humans and environments construct political analysis of harms and remedies and environmental analysis as exclusionary categories. Section II explores both distributive and recognition frameworks of justice as specific examples of how harm has been analyzed within political philosophy. It argues that each articulation does not have a way of considering or incorporating environmental dimensions of harm and that this is problematic. Section III examines the concept of reconciliation through various scholarly, political and philosophical engagements with it. It explores what is both philosophically promising and challenging about the notion of reconciliation as a particular mode of repairing harm/damaged relations, and ultimately justifies the decision to examine reconciliation as the suggested mode of repair within the dissertation. Finally, section IV provides a detailed breakdown of each of the dissertation's chapters.

Social and political philosophy and environmental ethics are each areas of inquiry focused on understanding and improving our well being in the world. Both are importantly interested in understanding and articulating the nature of harm and how harms are to be repaired.

Particular methods for reconciliation are presented within the sub-literatures of political reconciliation and ecological restoration. Political reconciliation and ecological restoration both prioritize repairing relations. In this way, political reconciliation and ecological restoration fall under the larger category of reconciliation. They both identify harms, as a disruption of relationships or as an instantiation of harmful relationships, which must be repaired. I define reconciliation as the process through which right relations are formed out of harmed relations. The development of right relations will often rely on unoppressive examples from the past (where present) or will create new relations (in the absence past models) to move toward a better future. Either way, they each point toward a different way of relating that is not harmful or injurious. Right relations are relationships that are just and allow the entities involved to exist in ways that are not oppressive. Right relations allow members within a relationship to ensure a positive future for all involved.

As reconciliation is about the formation of right relations, it is concerned with understanding harm, injury and degradation. Despite the areas of overlap, little dialogue exists between the environmental and social and political literatures. For example, literatures on ecological restoration tend to leave out political reconciliation with few exceptions, while literatures on political reconciliation do not mention the need to repair environmental damages and harms as part of establishing right political relations. These missing connections are troubling because often privileged people fail to see why environmental injustices, such as polluted air and water supplies, require deeper forms of reconciliation than simply enacting stricter environmental regulations. Similarly, ecological restoration practitioners do not aim to address issues of racial and economic privilege that can bias what restoration projects aim to

¹ This does not disallow the possibility that both aspects of past models of right relations *and* new instantiations of better relations can be combined to carry out reconciliatory processes.

restore. Consider how Truth and Reconciliation Commissions in cities like Detroit may fall short of achieving long term goals if obvious environmental inequalities continue to divide urban residents even after they have engaged in dialogue on other forms of oppression, such as racial segregation; or how ecological restoration initiatives such as the State of the Lakes Ecosystem Conference (SOLEC) in the Great Lakes Region fail if they do not include political reconciliation between settler societies and the Indigenous peoples of the region. This dissertation is concerned with the ways in which the assumptions and frameworks that support the separation of social and political relations from ecological relations are articulated and argued for, while also proposing that these hyper-separations are ultimately not as useful or intuitive as they appear. Throughout the dissertation, I explore in detail some of the reasons why these literatures are not in dialogue. I propose solutions that emerge from literatures in which dialogue between political relations and ecological relations are present.

I posit that one of the key reasons that political reconciliation and ecological restoration are not in dialogue with each other is that they both rely on various conceptual separations, or boundaries, between what counts as the properly political and the properly environmental (Haila 2000; Heyd 2005). That is, political reconciliation and ecological restoration each feature underlying assumptions that what needs to be reconciled is either primarily political or primarily ecological in nature. By implication then, "harm" is assumed to be either political or ecological. This separation impedes dialogue because people think they are working with analytically distinct types of harm. To go back to the example of Detroit, there is a desperate need to restore and repair the broken trust that exists within that city and among its citizens from a legacy of abandonment, segregation, and exploitation. This legacy engenders communities in which already vulnerable and marginalized populations live in the most ecologically degraded

environments, which serve as waste sites for privileged populations. Trust cannot be repaired or reestablished in systems like this without addressing the histories and practices—both political and environmental—that mark certain citizens of Detroit as disposable.

A key aspect of my analysis relies on identifying political relations and ecological relations as influential factors present in the context of any ecopolitical² harm and proposed methods of repair. Ecological relations, roughly, track the physical processes and functionalities of ecosystems, while political relations track the human perspectives, lived experiences, and values that shape the structure of social institutions and conflicts.³ The primary thesis of the dissertation is that ecological relations and political relations both co-constitute—or mutually construct—the harms we categorize as either political or ecological. This connection means that our reconciliatory processes must also instantiate just solutions motivated by "right" ecological relations and "right" political relations. The process of connecting these literatures, in which ecological relations and political relations are viewed as mutually exclusive, demonstrates a process of reconciliation in itself.

1.1 Situating the Dissertation Project in Current Literature

By focusing on how political relations and ecological relations are both contributing to analyses of harm and repair, I highlight a level of analysis that is continuously overlooked within the literatures of political reconciliation and ecological restoration. Political reconciliation excludes ecological relations as an important feature of political processes, harms, and resolutions. For example, the Truth and Reconciliation Commission in South Africa did not

²

² Ecopolitical is a term I use to include scenarios that are often coded as either political or environmental when they are, in fact, both. An ecopolitical situation is one where both ecological and political factors influence each other to produce the situation.

³ The definitions of ecological relations and political relations are provisional. They are offered to advance my analysis and expose the problem the dissertation is working through, they are not unchanging or uncomplicated givens.

include within its report an analysis of the way in which the ideology of Apartheid was actively supported by a geographical and territorial isolation of black South Africans in homelands (Truth & Reconciliaton Commission 1998; Butler, Rotberg, and Adams 1978). Under Apartheid, the South African government divided the Black South African population into 10 "nations," each of which were assigned a corresponding "homeland." The majority of these homelands were in rural areas. While the majority of the population of South Africa is black Africans, the land allocated for all the homelands combined accounted for less than 13 percent of the total area of the Republic. Black South Africans are considered, in some respect, citizens of their homelands and "are granted" a certain degree of self-governance (Butler, Rotberg, and Adams 1978, 2). The development and placement of Black South Africans in homelands intended to keep the Republic of South Africa sanitized and free of Black presence, while at the same time suggesting that these homelands were desirable because they tracked (externally identified and mandated) "ethnic/familial" designations. This physical separation included a host of negative ecological relations such as inferior environmental quality and lack of access to municipal services that resulted in poorer health conditions for black South Africans within the homelands, which consequently fulfilled and enabled their marginalized status politically (Butler, Rotberg, and Adams 1978). Similarly, while ecological restoration focuses on the ecological relations involving humans and ecosystems, it does not engage in the political aspects of restoration projects. For example, the State of the Lakes Ecological Conference (SOLEC) exists as an attempt to ecologically restore the Great Lakes Basin, but it has been critiqued for its westernized perspective that mostly ignores Aboriginal Traditional Ecological Knowledge (TEK) and political relations between Indigenous and settler societies. This is problematic because the

_

⁴ For further evidence of the legacy of Apartheid regarding geographical separation, drastically different environmental quality, and urban planning that still exists today between White South Africa and Black South Africa see: (*The Guardian* 2016).

restoration of right political relations between these two groups is integral to long-term sustainable ecological relations in the region. The exclusion of ecological relations in the realm of political reconciliation and the exclusion of political relations in the realm of ecological restoration constitute practices of incomplete reconciliation and sometimes the creation of completely different harms and injuries. In Canada, for example, the completion of the Truth and Reconciliation Commission may have led some settler Canadians to believe that reconciliation had occurred despite the fact that no reforms had been made to some of the major environmental issues Indigenous peoples face in Canada, such as control over subsurface rights on their lands (Hoogeveen 2014; Stanley 2016).

The separation of political relations and ecological relations manifest in distinct ways within the political reconciliation and ecological restoration literatures. Within the literature on political reconciliation, the "political" is mostly constructed in a way that excludes the natural world. This is evident in the ways in which some political reconciliation theories only reference the environment as a support system for human survival or as an economized resource that sometimes causes human conflict (Moellendorf 2007; Murphy 2010; Walker 2006). More often than not, the natural world is not referred to at all, as if politics and human affairs occur in a vacuum or that the environment is merely a convenient contingency of human flourishing. The history of the lack of theorization of the environment within the realm of politics is deeply embedded in (white) Western philosophical traditions. Consider the depictions of the "state of nature" as articulated within the limited purview of what is considered the classical, Western political philosophy canon (Rousseau 2010; Hobbes 2011; Locke 2011b). These idealized or demonized depictions of nature as base, something to be overcome, property, or as a panacea operate in ways that disallow dynamic and complex understandings of human interactions with

the environment. The development of political philosophy has always relied on some consideration (however limited or warped) of the natural world, the vestiges of which still surface in contemporary discourse. What is important to track here though is how ecological harm is not a harm that is conceptualized as co-constitutive of or importantly connected to political realities. Relatedly, how the environment is theorized is not critically examined as a condition of the possibility for particular manifestations of political systems, including their problems. For example, consider how Hobbes' depiction of the state of nature relies on representations of nature (both human and environmental) as wild, dangerous, and war-like. This initial characterization of nature leads him to propose a social contract in which humans accept the rule of government and governmental figurehead to combat the alternative (supposed) chaos that ensues without this political structure (Hobbes 2011). The construction of nature as a separate realm from human affairs and political governance does not allow for the articulation of a political system that demonstrates right relations with nature for Hobbes. His particular model of governance and political structure relies deeply on constructions of both internal and external nature as something separate and antithetical to political relations.

Within ecological restoration literature, the natural world is also theorized as separate from the human/political sphere. Many times the natural world is referred to as something that is by definition exclusive of humans in order for it to be considered authentic. As in political philosophy, this constitutes a human-structured and idealized construction of the environment. Early articulations of the environment in classical (white) environmental philosophy still focused on the use-value of the environment, but in less economized or explicitly profit-motivated ways. John Muir and others discuss the natural world as a cathedral, place of reverence, and escape (Thoreau 2008; Muir 2015). Notions of the environment, as places where humans are not, still

motivate human interactions with the environment even within restoration projects. Projects of ecological restoration have been framed as practices of restoring natural environments to a prehuman/"pristine" state. This mode of interaction is the only context through which human interference in nature is considered appropriate and warranted (Katz 1992; Elliot 1997). In this way, we can see that political theories of harm and reconciliation and ecological restoration formulate almost identical methods of excluding each other ultimately founded on a pernicious opposition of political relations versus ecological relations. Even in the case of Aldo Leopold, who argued that humans should be considered citizens of the biotic community, Leopold touches very little on political relations (Leopold 1989; Whyte 2015).⁵

I will sketch in more detail the landscape of the various literatures and how more inclusive philosophical theorizing and use of various conceptual frameworks might improve the work being done to think about and practically resolve complicated political and ecological problems. By bringing the political and ecological together as a unified framework importantly focused on relationality, my analysis will offer new ways of theorizing harm as *both* political and ecological, which will tailor different solutions that have less likelihood of creating previously unanticipated and new harms during the process of reconciliation.

1.2 Political Theories of Justice

This section will engage in an analysis of two conceptual frameworks of justice critical to political philosophy: economic frameworks and recognition frameworks. Both frameworks propose different modes through which injustice is produced and how justice is achieved. Both

_

⁵ By prioritizing political and ecological relations as the focus of analysis/inquiry, I am moving away from the broader culture/nature dualism, which has an extensive history of critique within the history of environmental ethics. Surely, ecological restoration projects encompass the interface of humans and the environment. However, I am arguing that these modes of analysis are lacking in a particular attention to *political* relations inherent in these human/nature encounters.

are engaged in argumentative strategies that aim to locate and articulate harm as a specific kind of entity. As evinced in the existence of this dissertation project, trouble occurs when we try to make frameworks strictly exclusive and oppositional when they are actually related.

Within political philosophy, there are a series of arguments and debates about what the specific genesis or genealogy of the harms we characterize as political is. This debate is about where harm finds its origin or rather what type of conceptual frame we see as most fundamental (if at all) to describing and understanding harm as well as correcting or repairing harm. One of the frameworks for examining harm is distributive justice. In a basic sense, distributive justice is an economic framework that tracks justice based on the distribution of economic benefits or burdens as carried out through societal structures such as laws, policies, and institutions (Rawls 1999). Where distribution is unjust, proposals of redistribution serve as models of repair (Fraser 1997). Since distribution of economic benefits and burdens hinge upon the structures and institutions in place in particular societies, redistribution of things like wealth similarly requires a reorganization of those structures and institutions. There is ongoing debate about what things should be distributed (income, wealth, opportunity, and so on) and also who or what qualify as recipients (individuals, groups, classes, and so on) (Barry 1991; Roemer 1998; Arthur and Shaw 1991). However, distributive justice proposes the mode through which justice is achieved or denied is ultimately distribution, regardless of questions concerning what is being distributed and whom it is being distributed to. Distribution is the main tenant of this framework where harm, philosophically, concerns not being allocated enough of some good. An example of this type of harm is economic harm, where having less financial means or access to useful financial resources, such as loans, harms a person.

While distribution and economic forms of harm affect people and societies in serious ways, there is another important form of harm that is related, but not captured in primarily distributive frameworks. Another form of harm is being denied the right to participate equally in how distributions are determined. This deontological articulation of harm prompts a focus not only on the consequences of mal-distribution as harm, but also the harmful means through which that unequal distribution comes about. While the distributive model is explanatory and useful for tracking the consequences and harm of unequal distribution, it does not track well the ways in which that distribution comes to be unequal. Unequal and unrepresentative participation when it comes to the formation and maintenance of societal structures and institutions is a major harm that contributes to the predictable patterns of whom in society receives the most distributive benefits as well as burdens. This aspect of harm and justice must be addressed if distributive harms are to be remedied in real ways (Young 2011).

There are many critiques of economic frameworks of harm and distributive models of justice. A prominent critique is that economic and distributive frameworks' focus on distribution of economic benefits and burdens is too narrow. It is too narrow in the sense that it does not address other kinds of harm that may be related to, but not reducible to economic classification. Critiques posed by advocates of recognition justice fall within this camp. Recognition justice is concerned with the ways in which society or other members of society harm communities and individuals by misrecognizing them in negative and harmful ways. Misrecognition has been studied in relation to those groups and communities who have been victims of racism and colonization, where being misrecognized is related to warped relationships with oneself and carries a distinct psychological/existential harm (Fanon 2008). Thus recognition justice focuses on proper and appropriate recognition as a "vital human need" (C. Taylor 1994, 26). Recognition

frameworks of justice expand notions of justice beyond a primary focus of how many goods a person or community should have, to considerations concerning how the recognition of others affects one's standing as a person (Young 2011). Since one of misrecognition's primary functions within societies is to marginalize and oppress certain groups, I am interested in how misrecognition designates some communities not only as socially/politically inferior, but also as sites for rampant environmental injustice. While economic and recognition frameworks of justice gesture towards differing ideas about what justice requires or looks like, there is little consideration in either for the importance and distinctiveness of environmental injustice. As evidence of this, I offer an overview of two political theories of harm: that of Axel Honneth's whose focus is on harm as misrecognition and that of Nancy Frasers's whose focus is on the mutual influence of both misrecognition and unfair distribution.

Honneth frames his theory of harm by proposing that all harms issue from the same sphere of misrecognition and disrespect. Misrecognition refers to the process of being identified and treated in a way that is harmful, that distorts one's ability to relate to oneself in positive ways. One form of harmful treatment related to misrecognition for Honneth is disrespect, which encapsulates physical maltreatment, exclusion and social devaluation (Honneth 2004; Honneth 1992). In this way, Honneth's theory of justice, grounded in recognition, moves away from previous models of justice that focused primarily on the distribution of economic goods in terms of righting the wrongs of inequality. For Honneth, economic inequalities can ultimately be explained through the lens of recognition; unequal or unjust distribution or access to economic goods or burdens stems from a lack of recognition that denies a person his or her full citizenship or status as a full citizen. Economic inequality, then, shows up as yet another distortion of misrecognition. Recognition, for Honneth, is the basic unit/frame for conceptualizing harm or

injustice and thus proper recognition must also be the solution or method of repair for such harms.

Honneth characterizes the most pernicious form of misrecognition as "disrespect." He breaks this concept of disrespect into three major kinds: disrespect to a person's physical integrity or physical maltreatment, disrespect by ostracism or exclusion, and disrespect by social devaluation. Disrespect for a person's physical integrity results in "social shame, loss of selfconfidence and trust in the world, as well as adverse effects in practical interactions with other" (Honneth 1992, 190). Disrespect by ostracism or exclusion results in individuals feeling as though they are not full members of society with full-fledged access to the same moral rights as others. Individuals who are disrespected in this way feel "a loss of self-respect, of the ability to relate to oneself as a partner to interaction in possession of equal rights on a par with all other individuals" (Honneth 1992, 191). Finally, disrespect through social devaluation involves evaluative forms of disrespect such as denigration of individual or collective lifestyles. "If this hierarchy of societal values is structured so as to downgrade individual forms of living and convictions for being inferior or deficient, then it robs the subjects in question of every opportunity to accord their abilities social value" (Honneth 1992, 191). Individuals who are socially devalued usually experience a severe loss of self-esteem because "[they] are no longer in a position to conceive of [themselves] as beings whose characteristic traits and abilities are worthy of esteem" (Honneth 1992, 191). All of these forms of misrecognition that Honneth characterizes constitute harmed relations that are in need of reconciliation in order to instantiate right relations.

The solutions Honneth proposes to righting these harmed relations are the development of relationships of mutual recognition and are characterized as love, rights, and solidarity. For

Honneth, love does not refer to romantic love, but rather a foundation of emotional support and encouragement. He defines it as an "underlying layer of an emotional body-related sense of security in expressing one's own needs and feelings, a layer which forms the psychological prerequisite for the development of all further attitudes of self-respect" (Honneth 1992, 193). The reparative category of rights involves the mutual recognition of equal rights or that people recognize each other as legal persons with knowledge of norms that their community dictates as rights and responsibilities to which everyone is equally entitled (Honneth 1992, 194). Solidarity involves the moral capacity for sympathy for and solidarity with "unconventional lifestyles." This would allow for encouragement and approval of persons based on an understanding that people have special characteristics that are informed by their "specific biographies" (Honneth 2004b, 194).

Fraser has taken issue with Honneth's reduction of all harm and repair to the framework of recognition because she is weary of a psychological attitude or category being the basic structure of how we understand harm and larger systematic interworkings that contribute to injustice. Thus, she rejects Honneth's solitary conceptual framework of recognition. While Fraser does not abandon the conceptual framework and importance of recognition for justice, she does not ultimately reduce all such concerns for justice to a recognition framework and disagrees with how Honneth defines recognition. She instead offers a bivalent theory of justice that views just distribution and proper recognition as both distinct in nature and important in diagnosing and remedying injustice.

She distinguishes socioeconomic injustice from cultural and symbolic injustice.

Socioeconomic injustice involves activities such as economic exploitation, economic marginalization, deprivation, and the like, while cultural and symbolic injustice concerns itself

with realities such as cultural domination, non-recognition, and disrespect. Since she breaks injustice (the systematic confluence of factors resulting in wide spread and particularized harms for some citizens) into these two analytically distinct categories, her antidote similarly involves two distinct solutions. The solution for socioeconomic injustice is redistribution, while the solution for cultural and symbolic injustice is recognition. Redistribution requires "redistributing income, reorganizing the division of labour, subjecting investment to democratic decision-making, or transforming other basic economic structures" (Fraser 1997, 73). While recognition involves "upwardly revaluing disrespected identities and the cultural products of maligned groups...recognizing and positively valorizing cultural diversity...wholesale transformation of societal patterns of representation, interpretation and communication in ways that would change *everybody's* sense of self" (Fraser 1997, 73, emphasis in original).

While Fraser views socioeconomic injustice, cultural/symbolic injustice, redistribution, and recognition as distinct entities, she also asserts that these entities interact and influence each other in important ways. The reality that we inhabit a world where there exist multiple kinds of injustice that can mutually inform each other leads Fraser to advocate for transformative remedies to these problems as opposed to affirmative remedies. Affirmative remedies are "remedies aimed at correcting inequitable outcomes of social arrangements without disturbing the underlying framework that generates them," while transformative remedies are those "aimed at correcting inequitable outcomes precisely by restructuring the underlying generative framework" (Fraser 1997, 82). An example of a symbolic cultural injustice being treated with an affirmative remedy alone would be something like trying to tackle cultural domination with something like a superficial multiculturalism. Changing the rhetoric of how cultural dominance is enacted in such a way that it affirms the value of cultural minorities may be a step in the right

direction, but without attending to the deeper structural problems that continue to generate disadvantaged and discounted cultural identities seems to be only a half-remedy at best.

Transformative remedies might look to deconstruct the underlying structures that result in such systematic and widespread devaluing of cultural minorities and also how these structures reinforce narratives and practices of cultural dominance and supremacy.

While both Honneth and Fraser contribute to theorization of injustice and harm within the literature of political theory and both push for more holistic and robust theories of repair that attend to the various types of injustices that can crop up, both miss key relationships—especially ecological ones, for my purposes here. What I mean by this is that neither actively or seriously attends to the way in which ecological relations inform both of their accounts of justice. Fraser and Honneth's accounts each expand the parameters of justice frameworks beyond distribution, but neither creates a space to allow for deep and robust notions of the environment's importance. Through a lack of theorization or consideration of the importance of the environment and ecological relations, the environment is presented in particular way, primarily as a resource or support system on which humans/human affairs depend. This not only marginalizes and alienates other views of and relations to the environment that go beyond this instrumental view, but it also prescribes remedies to injustice that do not attempt to instantiate better/different ecological relations. The presentation of the environment as inert matter and not as a scientifically complex, determinate agent is in itself harmful and allows for mistreatment of the environment as well as the unhampered progression of environmental injustices.

Now, it could be argued that both Honneth and Fraser do have ways of addressing the environment and environmental concerns within their frameworks. One might argue that Honneth's first notion of disrespect as physical harm could encapsulate environmental injustices

or that Fraser's notion of symbolic injustice can account for the injustice of the disposability of certain populations through environmental degradation and marginalization. However, Honneth's concept of disrespect as physical harm still seems too narrow to incorporate deep, robust conceptualizations to the environment and ecological relations. For example, I can imagine a scenario where environmental racism still exists, but the physical harm of living in a degraded environment is not viewed or characterized as a direct form of physical maltreatment. Or consider again the views of some settler Canadians who believe reconciliation is achieved after the Truth and Reconciliation Commission there, while First Nations peoples still have no subsurface rights on their lands. First Nations peoples could be seen by some as being respected in this instance and yet are still dealing with deeply harmful structural injustices that infringe upon their sovereignty, land tenure, and environmental well-being. By theorizing all harm as fundamentally a refraction of proper recognition, Honneth under theorizes how harms involving recognition directly result in distributive or other structural harms. It is unclear how his solutions to misrecognition would ultimately connect to or repair problems of structural injustice/mal distribution.

And what about Fraser's notion of symbolic injustice? Could the disposability of populations affirmed through environmental racism be explained through Fraser's symbolic injustice category? I would argue that while symbolic injustice captures some of the serious harm inflicted upon populations through misrecognition and cultural domination, it does not consider the centrality of ecological relations sufficiently. For example, many Indigenous peoples' cultural beliefs, practices, and traditions are inseparable from the land they belong to. While Indigenous land theft and relocation of Indigenous peoples could be seen as both a symbolic injustice and an economic mal-distribution under Fraser's account, this injustice is not reducible

to either. This is due to the fact that the mutual influence of both cultural elimination and dominant settler conceptions of land largely make Indigenous ways of life impossible such that solutions to ensuring justice for these populations go far beyond redistribution and affirmation/transformation in the general sense. Further, economic accounts of distribution of land where land is viewed as an interchangeable commodity do not square with Indigenous conceptions of a land and are in themselves harmful. Fraser's account would be improved by deeper attention to the environment and ecological relations' centrality to justice.

Both Honneth and Fraser's accounts fail to theorize environmental harm or ecological relations as important aspects that attribute both to misrecognition and unfair distribution. As I will argue throughout the dissertation and specifically in chapters four and five, reconciliation requires the repair of both ecological relations and political relations at the same time. The confluence of political and social marginalization of vulnerable populations and their relegation to severely degraded environmental spaces is not reducible to either mal-distribution or misrecognition, but these areas of harm are overlapping and mutually influencing each other.

I find this absence of ecological conceptions of harm to be a more general trend in theories of harm within political philosophy. It is almost as if the term political is, without explicit awareness or explanation, confined to the sphere of human projects alone, while disregarding the actual embedded nature of humans' existence in and among the natural world. This is a limitation in the sense that is does not allow us to theorize harm and injustice completely, which means that our remedies are similarly incomplete. With this neglect of the environmental now established, I move to examining the ways in which reconciliation as a concept has been theorized and utilized.

1.3 Reconciliation

As shown above, there are many ways to conceptualize what repair in response to harms and injustices should look like. In this project, I focus on reconciliation and that is a decision worth addressing and justifying. To begin, I am not arguing that reconciliation is necessarily the only way to address or repair oppressive, unjust, or harmful relationships, but it is the one I focus on here given that reconciliation is used in a number of contexts globally. Part of what a more expansive treatment and articulation of reconciliation as a goal and process requires, however, is to closely study what it is about reconciliation that is both philosophically appealing and philosophically challenging. There are many different ways reconciliation is theorized and these theorizations encompass different levels. A distinct context in which reconciliation is thought about is at the interpersonal level where what is being reconciled is a relationship between individual persons (Walker 2006; Griswold 2007; Radzik 2011). We can track the goal and process of reconciliation through a hypothetical interpersonal scenario. Imagine two people who are friends with one another and that Friend A betrays Friend B, thus damaging the friendship. Here, the primary harm is the betrayal, which belies a normative structure informing the relationship: friendship. Friendship as a type of relationship encapsulates a variety of assumptions that friends rely on to build and maintain an authentic friendship. Some characteristics of a good friendship might include: trust, honesty, respect, consideration, and holding the other's best interests at heart. A betrayal in the midst of these characteristics constitutes a deviation from the norm, but can also convey a calculated choice one party is making to intentionally harm the other, knowing the betrayal will cause the other considerable harm. One might also assume that given a particular history of good relations within the friendship up until the point of betrayal could make the betrayal more poignant to Friend B.

Reconciliation in this scenario would require many things, but perhaps most importantly an acknowledgment of how the betrayal harmed Friend B and damaged the friendship, thus ushering a new chapter of the relationship in which harm needs to be repaired in order for both friends and the relationship to move forward.

There are already here many questions and potential challenges to examining harm and reconciliation within the context of an interpersonal friendship. For example, what if the nature of the betrayal was so damaging to the relationship that salvaging or building a new friendship is either not possible or not desirable to Friend B? There is also the danger of putting the onus of reconciliation on one party in a way that disproportionately burdens the recipient of the harm or further harms that party. Now, this is a particular scenario that has rather neat parameters. What I mean by this is that it involves two individual actors, a history of benevolent and friendly relations, and a single act of betrayal that has damaged that history and relationship. We can assume here that both actors speak a language the other understands and that they share somewhat similar worldviews or at least exist with some commonalities that allow both actors to recognize and respect each other.

When we consider just how complicated, involved, and challenging interpersonal reconciliatory processes are with limited actors, we can appreciate how difficult reconciliation is for groups of people in much more complex historical contexts where a starting point of conciliation is not assumed or indeed present. Questions of scale become increasingly relevant. For example, the occurrence and examination of events in the 1990s such as the end of South African Apartheid, the Rwanadan Genocide, and the wars within former Yugoslavia, prompted the expansion of reconciliation and transitional justice as massive sites of political and philosophical inquiry. The larger context of and number of actors within these crises encouraged

theorization of reconciliation beyond the confines of individual interpersonal contexts to broader legal and political scales. Transitional justice⁶, which was largely developed and deployed to understand and analyze the crises listed above, focuses on what is necessary to transition post-conflict societies to more stable/democratic states (Minow 1999; Teitel 2000). However, the value of reconciliation has also been taken up in the context of stable, non-transitional societies such as the US, Canada, and Australia. Questions of reconciliation, here, attend to how to cope with large historical injustices of the past that still affect communities within states who must interface and live with each other (Brooks 1999; Thompson 2002; Barkan and Karn 2006; Kymlicka and Bashir 2010). Different models of reconciliation abound because of disagreement and debate as to what processes are appropriate in particular cases, as well as how reconciliation's success is measured. The fact that this debate is ongoing and critical is encouraging because it exemplifies the resistance to master harm and repair narratives.

A major challenge of reconciliation especially, within the new context in which it is applied, is understanding what goals and processes are required to achieve the goals of reconciliation in any given scenario. The word reconciliation in itself is challenging as the "re" prefix channels a backward, past, reflective movement. This is not in itself a problem and can be seen as an important directionality since the historical context matters and needs to be examined in scenarios where harms and injustices are present, where reconciliation is called for. What could be problematic about a purely retroactive directionality, in regard to reconciliation, is when a better or unproblematic past or situation is assumed. Many communities embroiled in the pernicious harms and injustices (such as racial minorities in the US) are tangled in a systemic and structural machine created and reconstituted all the time to manufacture and perpetuate their

_

⁶ A closely related framework of justice is restorative justice. For articulations of restorative justice see (Umbreit and Armour 2011; Van Ness and Strong 1997; van Wormer and Walker 2013).

oppression. For African Americans in the US, in particular, there is no conciliatory historical moment or context to recall or use as a blueprint for instantiating right relations and justice for these communities in that nation.

There are also factors present within the contexts of massive historical injustices that outstrip the somewhat neater parameters of person-to-person reconciliation within the relationship of a friendship. For one, massive historical injustices have differing time spans and in the case of US slavery the harm spans generations and encompasses the actions and inactions of countless actors, the majority of whom are no longer present. In these cases, it is hard to pinpoint a single or primary harm since the harms and injustices have been compounded through repetition and the carving out of patterns of structural predictability (Bourdieu 2000). These patterns and structural pathways through repetition become normalized, but not less reprehensible. The suggested inertia of the realities dictated by these patterns is relied upon to justify the objective or neutral nature of the unjust outcome systematically doled out to certain populations, e.g. African Americans. A major focus of this dissertation is tracking harm and injustice when the normative background against which these deviations stand out is immoral. This requires paying attention to the ways in which systematic injustices are naturalized as the status quo to try to blend the foreground and background of ethical reasoning and the process of distinguishing right from wrong.

A major contribution of the dissertation to the reconciliation literature is exploring and articulating the way in which the environment and ecological relations are deeply connected and constitutive to the political problems we experience and analyze. Even within the hypothetical interpersonal example of a betrayal between friends, we can imagine how ecological relations might factor into interpersonal betrayal. Suppose that different conceptions of the environment

and differing beliefs about the place and importance of ecological relations might amplify interpersonal conflict. Suppose Friend A interacts with Friend A and B's shared environment in a way that illustrates a harmful relation to the environment and Friend B's worldview/culture as related to that environment. An attitude toward the environment that dictates through Friend A's behavior an oppressive position toward Friend B and Friend B's relationship to her environment could constitute a serious harm that fundamentally challenges Friend's A expressed respect and friendship toward Friend B. Similarly, in broader group contexts, attitudes toward the land of a shared nation state or national boundary might constitute deep harms of cultural domination, elimination, and attempts to justify environmental degradation. Through expanding the avenues of inquiry and analysis of reconciliation to include ecological reconciliation, this dissertation offers ways of theorizing and practicing harm analysis and remedies that are more thorough and sustainable

1. 4 Dissertation Chapter Outline

Since the dissertation is motivated by the problematic separation of political relations from ecological relations, chapter two explores the ways in which ecological harms and concerns are left out of the theorization of political reconciliation. The main questions this chapter attempts to answer are: (1) are there any compelling reasons as to why it is acceptable to allow for and/or justify this exclusion? And, (2) is political reconciliation justified by *valid* reasons in excluding the environment from its analysis? Section I will examine the South African and Detroit TRCs as case studies of political projects of reconciliation that exclude environmental concerns and offer three reasons as to how political and ecological concerns are connected. These reasons are broadly: (1) that social harms often map onto environmental harms, (2) that historical context such as environmental and settler colonialism matter for justice, and (3) that

political relations are dependent on a finite physical environment. Section II will assess six prominent models of political reconciliation based on the three reasons formulated from section I. Finally, section III will provide and examine two pseudo reasons that justify the exclusion of environmental concerns from models of political reconciliation.

Conversely, chapter three explores the ways in which political relations are excluded from the field of ecological restoration. This chapter examines debates within ecological restoration surrounding the extent of human involvement in restoration projects. I use the distinctions of thin and thick to categorize distinct paradigms of ecological restoration that espouse different goals and commitments. The thin paradigm of ecological restoration is concerned with whether it is possible or desirable to restore landscapes to a particular historical state through human interventions, where the particular historical goal landscape is a "pristine" wilderness. This commitment promotes a process of ecological restoration that requires human intervention only until the landscape is "restored," then the erasure and removal of human presence. The thick paradigm of ecological restoration views the ecological integrity of landscapes as intimately linked to the health and well being of people and, thus, engages ecological restoration projects as a way to reconcile humans with one another and their stewardship obligations to the environment. Section I examines a prominent understanding of ecological restoration found within the thin paradigm and its focus on restoration as the creation of a chronologically past and historically specific ecological system and offers reasons for rejecting this view. Section II examines how the thick paradigm of ecological restoration provides more inclusive and dialogical frameworks for restoration projects. Section III argues that the thick paradigm of ecological restoration is preferable to the thin paradigm because it creates more space for vulnerable communities, who are increasingly becoming more involved in environmental issues. Section IV examines why the thick paradigm of ecological restoration is better for more responsible restoration projects through the case study of the Sinkyone Intertribal Park Project.

Chapter four closely follows the argumentation of chapters two and three that supports the unreasonableness of excluding the environment from analyses of harm. This chapter argues that political agency is not achievable as a goal without analyses and interrogations of environmental harm that foreclose the possibility of full political agency to many communities. This chapter examines the environmental justice movement as one literature that understands environmental dimensions of harm as roadblocks to the creation of reconciliation and instantiation of right relations within society. Section I will explore the ways in which environmental justice tracks the patterns of social inequality and environmental inequality that lead to the most socially/politically marginalized and vulnerable communities incurring the least safe and most degraded environments, with special attention to black American communities in the US. Section II focuses on black American communities in the US as a group disproportionately affected by environmental degradation and suggests that one of the ways in which harm is done to black American communities is through the destruction of their unique environmental heritages and environmental identities. Section III investigates the Flint Water Crisis as a case study, which illustrates the need for reconciliation among black American communities and characterizes the instantiation of right relations as the ability of these communities to express their environmental heritages and identities. The ability to express and the acceptance of these heritages and identities by society is integral to the practice social/political agency. In this way, this chapter will argue that environmental harm, environmental heritages, and environmental identities are all integral to reconciliation's goals of political agency and environmental health. Thus, this chapter illustrates how environmental justice is fundamentally a project of reconciliation.

Chapter five continues previous chapters' argumentation for the integral nature of the environment and ecological reconciliation to the construction of reconciliatory processes that aim to build political agency and trust among the marginalized communities affected by social, political, and environmental harm at the hands of the state. Chapter five expands upon this thesis through exploring the ways in which Indigenous cosmologies, epistemologies, and knowledges inform particular methods of analyzing harm and designing reconciliation process. Essential to this analysis is the emphasis of the harmful effects of settler colonialism on Indigenous lands, ecosystems, and peoples. In this way, reconciliation always requires the instantiation of right relations with the environment (i.e. right ecological relations), which is inextricable from political structures and realities. Section I analyzes the disruptions to Indigenous systems (physical, epistemological, ecological, spiritual) and lifeways that were interrupted and displaced through "Contact" and settler colonialism. Section II examines the danger of dominant epistemological systems uprooting and erasing Indigenous ones in the form of reconciliatory processes that rely on specific testimonial exchanges as the primary basis for evidence of wrongdoing. This section also explores the importance of the emotional space of theory as articulated by Dian Million, which is necessary for addressing the excessive trauma and lived experience of Indigenous histories with settler states and their relationships to the environment. Section III studies the essential role and place of land, Creation, and relationality to the existence and flourishing of Indigenous communities as well as their primary roles in reconciliatory processes. Section IV explores Indigenous/settler co-management practices as sites of reconciliation that incorporate, acknowledge, and honor Indigenous peoples and their

epistemological systems, traditions, and lifeways. This section also examines the practical applications of Indigenous-centered forms of reconciliation through the sturgeon and Sinkyone case studies touched upon briefly in chapters two and three.

Chapter 2: Does the Environment Have a Place in Political Reconciliation?

This chapter explores the ways in which ecological harms and concerns are left out of the theorization of political reconciliation. The main questions this chapter attempts to answer are:

(1) are there any compelling reasons as to why it is acceptable to allow for and/or justify this exclusion? And, (2) is political reconciliation justified by *valid* reasons in excluding the environment from its analysis? Section I will examine the South African and Detroit TRCs as case studies of political projects of reconciliation that exclude environmental concerns and offer three reasons as to how political and ecological concerns are connected. These reasons are broadly: (1) that social harms often map onto environmental harms, (2) that historical context such as environmental and settler colonialism matter for justice, and (3) that political relations are dependent on a finite physical environment. Section II will assess six prominent models of political reconciliation based on the three reasons formulated from section I. Finally, section III will provide and examine two pseudo reasons that justify the exclusion of environmental concerns from models of political reconciliation.

Scholars and activists view political reconciliation as a transition from harmful political relations to more democratic and inclusive political relationships (Schaap 2005; Walker 2006; van Wormer and Walker 2013; Moellendorf 2007; Murphy 2010). The South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission (TRC) is viewed largely as a prototype for political reconciliation processes that promote healing and moral political relations. The South African model of reconciliation set out to correct harmful political relations that specifically targeted and maintained an oppressed population based on the arbitrary marker of skin color (Truth & Reconciliation Commission 1998). In 2009, the City of Detroit, Michigan drafted a charter for a Truth and Reconciliation Commission, inspired by South Africa's TRC, in hopes to address the

systematic and institutional racism that has plagued and continues to plague the city (Michigan Roundtable for Diversity and Inclusion 2011).

The impetus and need for reconciliation is undeniable in societies characterized by rampant political injustice and strife. Yet in both of the cases just referenced, I am struck by the absence of the environment. Both processes are firmly located within the realm of human affairs. What I mean by this is that political reconciliation engages with a community of actors that are human. The political reconciliation literature does not offer any justification for the exclusivity of politics to the human domain. This is initially troubling if the purpose of political reconciliation is to repair harmful political relations. For recent academic literatures—environmental justice being an example—show how political injustice and strife are often coupled with environmental degradation (Cole and Foster 2001; Shrader-Frechette 2002; R. D. Bullard 1990; P. Mohai, Pellow, and Roberts 2009).

Take the example of the South African TRC. Actors in this TRC envisioned reconciliation necessary in post-apartheid South Africa as a means of redressing a pervasive and damaging harm, namely, the state-sanctioned segregation and unequal treatment of Black South Africans. This injustice and harm is framed solely as an intra-human affair remedied by human solutions. However, it was not merely human actions or the human sphere that was complicit or responsible for the successful occurrence and maintenance of Apartheid. Part of what makes atrocities like Apartheid possible are the structural and physical conditions which reproduce the interpersonal/individual beliefs that a certain population is not worthy of equal and just treatment (an idea that interestingly enough finds its origin in rhetoric around the inferiority of the natural world). Apartheid was not only possible through an ideology of difference that equated difference with inferiority, but was actually produced through physical and material markers and

significations of inequality (such as black South Africans' relocation to ecologically specific Homelands). Apartheid could not have been successful without the physical separation of bodies and environments that accompanied the message of black marginalization and oppression.

The now abandoned Metropolitan Detroit Truth & Reconciliation Commission on Racial Inequality exhibited similar blind spots when it came to thinking of the environment and environmental degradation as *not* importantly related to the injustices of racial inequality and systematic racism (Michigan Roundtable for Diversity and Inclusion 2011). The charter offers an obscure analysis of institutional structures as being important to the reproduction of unjust beliefs and practices against African Americans in the city of Detroit, but it does not offer a specific analysis or hypothesis as to *how* that reproduction is so consistently and successfully carried out. For example, how are we to understand reconciliation amongst human Detroiters divorced from the rampant environmental degradation that actively asserts the disposability of this same urban population?

What is critical to me in both cases of the South African and Detroit TRCs is that they pronounce such a thorough commitment to healing and reconciliation, while at the same time ignoring the environmental aspects of injustice that are instrumental and critical to producing and reproducing the very realities they wish to dismantle and never repeat. The human sphere not only occupies an uncritical place of privilege that permeates most rhetoric about reconciliation, but is also constructed as positively and importantly different *from* the environment. The exclusion of ecological relations from the category of political relations integral to the process of reconciliation leads to the inadequate theorizing of harm and inferior solutions. For example, rampant environmental hazards or environmental inequalities affect the quality of life of those experiencing them (most often already vulnerable or marginalized populations) and their ability

to experience the world in dignified, safe, and culturally appropriate ways. The pronouncement of reconciliation in cases where these environmental injustices are still present and still affect communities in serious ways are not properly reconciled and do not instantiate the development of right relations. Given that notions of environmental harm are so routinely and consistently left out of the conversation of political reconciliation, the question this chapter concerns itself with is this: are there any compelling reasons as to why it is acceptable to allow for and/or justify this exclusion? Is political reconciliation justified by *valid* reasons in excluding the environment from its analysis?

2.1 Ecological Vulnerability and Political Realities

The South African Truth and Reconciliation Commission tasked itself with an investigation into the conditions and realities that produced and reproduced the massive injustices experienced during systematic Apartheid. The report published by the Commission is extensive and provides a deep and nuanced history and overview of the social and political realities that supported and allowed Apartheid to flourish on such large scale. The report draws attention to the fact that virtually no sector of society escaped the abuses that the regime of Apartheid so consistently and predictably doled out (Truth & Reconciliaton Commission 1998). The Commission was composed of three committees: the Human Rights Violation Committee (HRVC), the Reparation and Rehabilitation Committee (R&R), and the Amnesty Committee (AC). Each committee structured the commission and had distinct duties and responsibilities within the reconciliation process. The HVRC investigated human rights abuses that took place between 1960-1994, identified victims, the nature of the violation, and perpetrators. The R&R committee supported victims through development of policy proposals and rehabilitation programs. This committee also disbursed monies from a President's Fund for urgent interim

reparation to victims. The AC acted as the convening body through which applications for amnesty were considered (Truth & Reconciliaton Commission 1998). Parties and individuals who desired amnesty in exchange for their testimony had to apply to the AC and applications were reviewed, approved, or denied based on the committee's deliberation and reasoning.

Although not in the Commission's official mandate, the Commission stated:

In this process of bridge building, those who have benefited and are still benefiting from a range of unearned privileges under apartheid have a crucial role to play. [...] This means that a great deal of attention must be given to an altered sense of responsibility; namely the duty or obligation of those who have benefited so much (through racially privileged education, unfair access to land, business opportunities and so on) to contribute to the present and future reconstruction of our society (Truth & Reconciliaton Commission 1998, 134).

In this way, the Commission showed sensitivity to the diverse and complicated ways in which Apartheid affected not only South African society, but also particular individuals and resources within that society. This quote also represents a common theme throughout the Commission's endeavor and mission, which is to move forward into a new, more democratic society by trying to understand and coming to terms with the truth(s) that constituted an unjust and harmful past.

While the South African TRC is commendable in its commitment to the historical truths and realities of the Apartheid regime, there are certain areas the Commission and its report do not address. Chief among them is the absence of the physical environment as a sector of society that not only suffered from Apartheid, but also as an agent and entity that facilitated the systematic segregation and marginalization of black South Africans. There are ecological relations at play in the political construction of black South Africans as second-class citizens and an oppressed population. Black South Africans were relegated to homelands with inferior environmental conditions and resources as well as poor municipal support and services. As mentioned in chapter one, homelands were akin to reservations/reserves in North America that

Africans based on externally identified ethnic criteria. They were located in preponderantly rural areas with limited or underdeveloped municipal infrastructure as well as planning and zoning (Butler, Rotberg, and Adams 1978). This lack of sustainable and sufficient ecological relations led to poorer health outcomes for black South Africans such as "[h]igh rates of kwashiorkor, marasmus, pellagra, and vitamin deficiency illnesses...tuberculosis, and eye diseases" (Butler, Rotberg, and Adams 1978, 132). To focus purely on the formation of an oppressed population and marginalized category of person without also attending to the ways in which ecological relations factor into that construction leads to forms of reconciliation that are incomplete and unsustainable. The intersectional nature of injustices around racial equality and environmental quality mean that disciplines like environmental justice cannot ignore the way racial injustice and environmental degradation influence each other. It is not just a matter of trying to prioritize one type of harm over another, but instead interrogating how notions of racial injustice inform poor environmental outcomes and vice and versa.

In the spirit of the South African TRC, the city of Detroit drafted a Charter for its own Truth and Reconciliation Commission with the express purpose of examining the historical roots and current legacies of racial inequality. The Charter gestures strongly toward the history of the racial makeup of and industrial investment in the city of Detroit that falls out of larger historical narratives within the United States such as slavery and migration (Hahn 2005). The Charter also expresses a commitment to understanding and expounding upon the ways in which racism and racial inequality within the city of Detroit are not merely interpersonal phenomena (although it does show up on an interpersonal level), but is also a structural and institutional phenomenon (Michigan Roundtable for Diversity and Inclusion 2011). So, part of understanding how Detroit

got to its current existence of extreme racial inequality and economic disparity requires an examination of the structural and institutional means through which racial inequality and economic injustice is produced, normalized, and reproduced to seem like a natural and unchanging reality. This TRC for the city of Detroit was abandoned when more specific actions like the selection of Commission members failed to materialize.

Even within the final draft of the Detroit TRC Charter, there are clear environmental harms that are not addressed. For example, Detroit has higher asthma and lead poisoning rates among African Americans than other areas of the country and a higher incidence of African Americans living near polluting facilities that produce riskier and more hazardous health conditions in these populations. Part of understanding the current state of Detroiters as the legacy of racial inequality also requires an examination of the ecological relations and environmental conditions that place African Americans at higher risk of negative health outcomes and links to a more general and abstract disregard for the health and well being of African Americans and communities of color (Paul Mohai et al. 2011).

In each of these cases, I can think of at least three reasons why it seems unusual that the reconciliation processes did not address environmental harms explicitly—especially in light of their goals to repair political relations:

(1) Social harms map onto environmental harms in very transparent and straightforward ways. In the case of South African Apartheid, the larger ideological project of segregation of black South Africans and white South Africans was supported by and predicated on the actual physical separation of black South Africans into geographically distinct Homelands. This not only limited the interface between

- segregated populations, but also pushed black South Africans to the periphery of society and society's interest with limited access to physical and social resources. This lack of access and care for the actual environmental conditions of human well being further reproduces an existential/tangible difference of these persons such that differential (read inferior) treatment appears natural and justified.
- (2) If reconciliation is supposed to address historical harm, then, it has to address how processes of colonization and historical oppression were occurring simultaneously. Consider, for example, the historical concurrence of projects of colonization and oppression as wedded to the appropriation of natural resources and the severing of connections of local colonized populations from their natural environments. If political sovereignty has traditionally or historically been bound up with territorial control and control of natural resources, then any colonial/imperial project concerns itself, in the first instance, with domination of territorial lands and geographies; followed closely by the construction of colonized populations as "natural" (in a derogatory sense) and as closer to nature, thus prompting colonial control and domination of these peoples as well. Many of the ways humans learn to control other human populations stems from the initial dominating and controlling way in which the Western world has practiced dominating nature (Plumwood 2002b).
- (3) Finally, in a world of scarce resources, political relations must be concerned with sustainability and resilience. Part of the problem is that today's political relations were set up in ways that did not have any regard for human relations' dependency on the environment. The process of denying the multitude of ways in which humans are dependent on the natural world is called "backgrounding." According to Val

Plumwood, backgrounding occurs when we obscure or deny our dependence on ecological relations/processes, which leads us to believe that we, as humans, are outside of nature. Our denial of this dependency does not invalidate it as a form of dependence, but rather encourages us to treat nature as a "limitless provider without needs of its own" (Plumwood 2002b, 21). This denial has led and will continue to lead to unsustainable uses of and interactions with nature. Thus the sustainability of better political relations is directly connected to sustainable relations with our environments.

The fact that the natural world and our dependency on it has been backgrounded so systematically and consistently uncovers part of the reason why theories of reconciliation and practical solutions to political problems often exclude environmental conceptions of harm and environmental concerns. However, if our current ecological crisis is any indication, our dependency on the natural world and its well being can no longer be so conveniently ignored. In the face of such dire scarcity and the disappearance of natural resources on which we depend, does it make sense to privilege political relations over environmental dependency to the point of the erasure of the latter completely? Similarly, issues of resource scarcity amplify tensions that fuel political and interpersonal problems. For example, racism against American Indian tribes is more pronounced when there is a contested natural resource dwindling. In Arizona, a water shortage might reignite latent forms of racism against the sovereignty and cultures of tribes in that area (Burton 1987; Barnett and Adger 2007; Weinmann 2011). Therefore, processes that purport to reshape political relations without taking the opportunity to make sure that these solutions are conducive to sustainability will most likely end up recreating harms compounded by the fraught conditions of resource scarcity and all that entails.

In light of these three areas, I seek to understand whether some of the common theories of reconciliation exclude such environmental dimensions of harm and explore whether any exclusions are justified. In the next sections, I will examine six prominent models of reconciliation and whether or not each of them is justified in excluding the environment/environmental concerns from their theory. These six models are reconciliation as: forgiveness, trust, political community, political value, moral agency and reciprocity, and an Indigenous model of reconciliation. The first five models are categories of reconciliation Colleen Murphy examines and develops in her comprehensive study of moral theories of political reconciliation. For each model of reconciliation, I will consider whether or not it addresses the three reasons given as to how reconciliation and environmental concerns influence each other. The first two models I consider (forgiveness and political value), I categorize as models that exclude the environment and are also not easily adaptable to considering environmental harms/concerns. I categorize the final four (trust, political community, moral agency and reciprocity, and Indigenous) as models that lend themselves more easily to the sphere of environmental concern, with the final model of Indigenous reconciliation as unique in the sense that regard and communion with the environment and the repair of the relationship between humans and the environment is built *into* the very notion of reconciliation it offers.

2.2 Models of Political Reconciliation

Models Resistant to Environmental Concern

(1) Forgiveness

The reconciliation as forgiveness model conceptualizes harm as a deviation from a prescribed and normative set of conditions, which are referred to as normal/moral. This deviation

represents an exception to the rule of proper behavior and ways of relating. In this way, forgiveness takes on a role of repairing that harm by allowing the victim of the harm to overcome the negative reactive attitudes and emotions that he/she experiences as a result of being harmed. These negative reactive attitudes are justified for the victim because they constitute a reasonable position to occupy when someone crosses the line of normative expectation/acceptability.

The forgiveness model sets itself up as requiring specific conditions and a certain interaction in order to function. This interaction is a person-to-person or human-to-human model that has difficulty capturing any type of harm that exists outside of the actual interaction that occurs, such as human to environment harms or environment to human harms. This is partially because the model is so reliant on an interior, psychological account of emotion, that sets definitions for the beings that are capable, or deemed capable of, doing this type of psychological/emotional work; namely, humans.

The forgiveness model relies on a separation between humans and other beings that results in the exclusion of environmental dimensions of harm. This separation is one between entities that are considered capable of a type of characteristically human emotional work.

Forgiveness as a process, then, already reveals a deeper conceptual separation between humans and the natural world. William Jordan explores the existential shame of being in the world that is inherent to the natural world. By doing so, he problematizes the neat boundaries or limits of emotional and existential experiences of humans *and* nature. In particular, Jordan identifies a trend in environmental thinking "in which shame, trouble, and badness are introduced into the creation peculiarly late and as a result of a human failing, the idea that nature itself is innocent and therefore morally discontinuous from human beings, whose lapse introduced shame, trouble

and evil into creation" (Jordan 2003, 40). This myth is a prominent feature of environmental thinking and limits, according to Jordan, the complexity of humans' relationship with the natural world and the possibilities of reconciliation and communion.

While the forgiveness model relies on a background of normativity as a metric for assessing harms, it does not offer a robust space or accounting of history. As mentioned above, the forgiveness model confines itself to very specific criteria, conditions, and interactions. Whereas earlier I considered the narrow human confines of this model of reconciliation, here I consider the necessary temporal limits of a model that necessitates two living and present actors and a harm confined to a temporal period. Implied within the forgiveness model is that there must be someone around to ask forgiveness of another and another to consider, reject, or accept the proposal and forgive the perpetrator. Many times historical harms originate in the distant past and become compounded by the passage of time and many times actors (perpetrators and victims) are either no longer living or no longer present. The forgiveness model does not seem capable of addressing these sorts of harms or cases where repair is desperately needed, but occurs on a scale that well exceeds the specific limitations that the model employs. It also relies on an emotional and moral separation between humans and the natural world such that emotional work and expanded notions of forgiveness are excluded. If as Jordan suggests, our creation myths dictate a natural world free of harm and negativity while regarding the introduction of evil into that space as a human enterprise, then attempts to understand and improve upon our relationship with the natural world will be incomplete from the beginning. The exclusion of the natural world as an agent for and subject of both harm and healing limits the type of harms forgiveness as a model can identify and the scenarios through which forgiveness as a model of reconciliation can be employed.

Just as the forgiveness model excludes environmental dimensions of harm, it does not establish itself with an awareness of our dependence and reliance on a sustainable environment. The only way in which the forgiveness model could be interpreted as being cognizant of the ways in which political relations are tied to ecological conditions and scarcity of resources is to vaguely gesture towards the normative background upon which a trespass or harm must be foregrounded in order to count as harmful or as a deviation from the norm. It does not take into account the actual environmental concerns that might make the normative background an immoral or questionable one.

(2) Political Value

Darrel Moellendorf's theory of political reconciliation takes the goal of reconciliation as the formation of a political community wherein former strangers are treated as equal citizens. Political reconciliation is different, for Moellendorf, from justice or social justice because it operates as a more particular process. Moellendorf believes that the minimal requirement for politics is democratic equality. Therefore, a society that is interested in moving past problematic and unequal political relations requires a shift from the interaction of persons as strangers to an establishment of equal citizenship among the political community. In this way, Moellendorf suggests that political reconciliation is based on the minimum requirement of more just politics or relations at the political level. If one were to compare what he calls person-person reconciliation to political reconciliation the requirements would be as follows: the reestablishment of trust in the service of the restoration of friendship; to the formation of more just politics in the service of democratic equality (Moellendorf 2007, 206–207). Here, it is clear that Moellendorf's theory does not use interpersonal moral reconciliation as a blueprint for political reconciliation. Rather, the minimal institutional requirement for reconciliation at the

political level is a "political community of equals" (Moellendorf 2007, 208). And political equality requires institutional arrangements that ensure juridical equality and a constitutional democratic legal framework.

Moellendorf's theory of political reconciliation hinges quite directly on what he means when he states equal citizenship. Equal citizenship is the ideal end goal of any process of political reconciliation. Given the prominence of equal citizenship as an integral feature of reconciliation, it is surprising that Moellendorf does not explicitly discuss what characterizes equal citizenship. In this way, the essential goal of reconciliation is under theorized in his account. Citizenship is a loaded concept that can be defined broadly as the conditions necessary for recognition and belonging within a nation state or political territory. However, different notions of identity can be conveyed or actualized through the concept of citizenship. A place: whether real or imaginary, or both, is almost always involved in a conception of what it means to be a citizen. Equal citizenship, then, would seem to have something to do with some basic equitable level of existing in the world or benefiting from a geographical space. There is also an aspect of citizenship that is both backward and forward-looking. What I mean by this is that there is a notion of commonality and shared history that unifies a people that are, have been, or will be citizens of a particular place. This also means that there are moral expectations of what will become of future citizens. Given these characteristics of citizenship, a theory of political reconciliation based on equal citizenship that is not importantly allied with environmental concerns seems confused at best and neglectful at worst. Surely, the preservation of a nation state or geographical territory also importantly depends on a general attitude of stewardship or care for that physical place. Indeed, there are cases where what we might refer to as equal citizenship is

"achieved" while certain neighborhoods are still zoned for garbage disposal (Robert D. Bullard 2005).

Moellendorf remains at a conceptual level in explicating his theory of political reconciliation, which means he is not attendant to the practical matters concerned with the establishment of equal citizenship, as the goal of reconciliation. For this reason, Moellendorf is also unclear on what it actually means to be a citizen and, hence, an equal citizen. It also explicitly leaves out different histories and methods of incorporation, as well as competing claims to sovereignty and original land tenure, such that "equal citizenship" is not a just goal for many groups of peoples, especially Indigenous peoples (Turner 2006). It seems to me that a dimension or type of citizenship should include environmental citizenship. Being a good environmental citizen could be an important characteristic to being a good person in a society. In fact, many conflicts between groups of people have stemmed from different conceptions and ideas of what it means to be an environmental citizen. If one person thinks resources and natural habitats should be cared for and used sustainably, while another thinks we should use resources only insofar as they serve human needs and damn the consequences, this could cause significant harm and problems between members of these respective groups.

Moellendorf allows that historical situation and context matter in the proliferation of a particular harm or harmful situation. He states that the history of societal divisions and harms are real and act as serious obstacles to the transformation he believes essential to political reconciliation (Moellendorf 2007, 211). However, merely stating this fact does not coincide with an attention to the ways in which those obstacles can or should be overcome. Stating that there is some sort of history responsible for the current situation is not comparable to a process of understanding and a commitment to moving past these harms in a meaningful way. Equal

citizenship cannot just entail that different citizens have equal access to similar resources (a distributive model of justice), but must inculcate justice in the sense of allowing the ends those resources are used for to be self-determined and self-actualized by differently positioned peoples. Think of the conflicts that still exist between settlers and Indigenous peoples. The ongoing project of settler colonialism is an imposition of external "values" on a particular group of people and landscape (Hoogeveen 2014). In many ways, the formal and informal acts of forced assimilation dictate the parameters of what it means to be a citizen. If settler colonialism dictates that assimilation requires an instrumental attitude toward the environment embodied in rapid resource depletion and lack of respect for the natural world, this largely erases and makes impossible other (Indigenous) modes of being in the world and relating to the environment. Part of what makes the inequality of citizens (settler versus Indigenous) in this situation is the fact that the dominant hegemony of settler colonialism makes indigenous life ways illegal for all intents and purposes and also ignores Indigenous claims of sovereignty. Therefore, ignoring these underlying systemic and structural ways in which inequality is enacted and "citizenship" is constructed will not result in sustainable modes of reconciliation.

The environment is not mentioned in the sense of sustainability although it does function as a background upon which the political stage is set. Again, Moellendorf does not provide tangible conditions that must be met to ensure the founding of a political community of equal citizenship. Imagine a scenario in which the legacy and present practices of settler colonialism dictate that the dominant culture (even if the pronouncement of equal citizenship is audible) declares certain (namely the non-dominant culture's) life ways illegal. Here, on paper, citizens may in fact be considered equal, but only equal once certain populations cede their own identities and are assimilated into a culturally different and dominant body politic. This is not the kind of

equality or justice necessary for reconciliation and by not addressing these types of harms

Moellendorf leaves room for the perpetuation of these unjust realities even within a process of
reconciliation. This then also makes Moellendorf's model of reconciliation inattentive to deep
notions of environmental sustainability because it cannot read environmental harms such as those
instantiated through the dominant and unjust practices of settler colonialism as important to the
way in which inequality amongst citizens is established in the first place. Without a theoretical
space and eye for the ways in which environmental and resource scarcity often fuel and
exacerbate already existent tensions between groups of people or indeed between people and
environments, reconciliatory solutions will similarly prove unsustainable and in need of
revisiting.

Models Amenable to Environmental Concern

(3) Trust

Margaret Urban Walker largely develops the reconciliation as trust model in her book, *Moral Repair*. For Walker, the establishment of normative expectations resulting in the development of trust is the foundation of well-functioning moral relationships. Walker, importantly, distinguishes interpersonal trust from reliance or what she calls "default trust." Interpersonal trust requires:

[a] kind of reliance on others whom we expect (perhaps only implicitly or unreflectively) to behave as relied upon (e.g., in specified ways, in ways that fulfill an assumed standard, or in ways so as to achieve relied-upon outcomes) and to behave that way in the awareness (if only implicit or unreflective) that they are liable to be held responsible for failing to do so or to make reasonable efforts to do so (Walker 2006, 80).

This is different from what Walker refers to as "default trust" which is the kind of general reliance we have on things or objects that are not human such as institutions or the environment.

Trust is fundamental to moral relationships in a way that exceeds basic reliance. One might think about this additional requirement for interpersonal trust as the sense that another person has our best interests at heart or takes our interests, hopes, fears, and the like to heart. In this way, there is an additional element for interpersonal trust that results in a negative personal response when trust is violated. Thus, for Walker, trust is the normative expectation and grounding of interpersonal moral relationships by which we define deviance and wrongdoing. Moral repair, then, is the task of (re)building that foundation of trust.

In terms of the environmental dimensions of harms, Walker explicitly excludes non-humans and the environment as part of the sphere of reconciliation. However, environmental components are integral to the way trust is developed. The state of the environment is one way in which we can see if someone is pursuing his/her interest at the expense of someone else. Similarly, one way of displaying untrustworthiness is directly through the exploitation and degradation of the environment. It would seem then that environmental reconciliation and repair is a condition of trust since environmental degradation and exploitation is absolutely a cause for the breakdown of trust as a relation. When considering reconciliation as trust, then, with an environmental component it is crucial to stress that the restoration of trust cannot happen merely at the level of language. What might a politically and ecologically informed version of reconciliation look like? Figueroa and Waitt explore reconciliation between Aboriginal peoples and white settler Australians through the co-management of ecological spaces. Uluru, or Ayers Rock as settlers call it, is in a national park co-managed by both groups in attempts to heal past harms. Posted by the rock is a prohibition to climb dictated by the Anangu, a culturally specific

_

⁷ This initial exclusion of non-human animals or entities from the category of trusters could be critiqued from a biocentric position as problematic because it elevates humans to a level unwarranted by the maxim that all living things matter. However, it is outside the purview of this chapter to sufficiently address this critique.

prohibition that stems from the Anangu's responsibility for what happens to climbers. In this example, we can see how trust cannot be just symbolic in reconciliation processes. Part of what it means to address the harm of settler colonialism in this particular context is that tourists see and feel a distinct harm that came out of settler colonialism, which is the erasure of a particular way of life and ecological experience. Part of what it means to reconcile is to experience Uluru as a tourist in the Aboriginal way. The previous and current occurrence of prohibited climbing by settler Australians re-inscribes a harm that is trust based. Interfering ecologically with this site through climbing exerts the interest of one group (white settlers) over and at the cost of Anangu people and their life ways (Figueroa and Waitt 2010).

Walker's model sees history as integral to the evolution of norms within a society. The very idea of repair acknowledges that certain historical factors have contributed to the current situation of harm within a society that calls for repair and that this will also be important for the actual repair and imagined future of a society with more functional and just relationships. As such, Walker's model of reconciliation *as* trust could be adapted to make space for certain types of history, in this case environmental history. In incorporating environmental history as crucial to the development of a harm in need of repair, one might focus on how relationships to the environment influence and interact with relationships to non-human others, humans, and groups of humans respectively. Revisiting the Uluru case, we can see how the elevation of white settlers' experience over the Anangu's, through ecologically prohibited behavior, is a breakdown of trust that must be addressed. An initial ecological degrading activity has implications for a pattern of distrust specific to the larger context of settler colonialism. In this way, the trust model is much more amenable to historical context than the forgiveness model, which seems constricted to contemporary context and temporal limits.

While the trust model exceeds the forgiveness model in terms of actually addressing that there is an environment/physical world upon which we rely and depend, it does not go far enough in incorporating the extent to which this reliance and dependency goes. In fact, it does not explicitly address the ways in which trust established in one realm probably affects the foundation and types of trust established in other areas. Citing again Figeuroa and Waitt's example in Australia: attempted reconciliation of white settler tourists and the Anangu without an experiential component of experiencing Uluru the Aboriginal way, results in incomplete and largely symbolic reconciliation. Leaving this environmental harm unaddressed, does not grant the environment or climate agency in ways that compose distinct life ways and practices erased by settler colonialism. The exclusion of this type of harm and subsequent reconciliation as well as lack of agency for the environment can ignite distrust within a population or community.

Overall, Walker's trust model of reconciliation captures a crucial aspect of repair, which is the ability to trust and form meaningful trust relationships. The formation and maintenance of trust is integral to overcoming pervasive harms. However, Walker misses an essential element of what she calls default trust, which is that relations to and among the environment can and do form key aspects of what it means to trust and how and with whom trust can be built and expanded upon.

(4) Political Community

Andrew Schaap theorizes political reconciliation as the founding of a political community that creates an authentic space or possibility for politics. Schaap is deeply informed by Arendtian notions of politics such that he rejects any conception of reconciliation as a predetermined goal or closed event. Rather, he believes that it is through the struggle of founding

a political community that the standards reconciliation strives for are constantly being formed and reformed. True reconciliation should involve creating a space for politics where people need not be enemies, but through which the common world we occupy is revealed through a plurality of perspectives. Schaap states, "Political reconciliation thus always involves this constant back and forth between sustaining politics with the promise of reconciliation and holding open the horizon of reconciliation by assuming the risk of politics" (Schaap 2005, 151).

Schaap's model of political reconciliation can also be understood as reliant on the philosophical tradition that emerged out of the Frankfurt School for Social Research, commonly referred to as critical theory. One project of the first generation of critical theorists (Theodor Adorno, Max Horkheimer, Herbert Marcuse, Walter Benjamin) is the attempt to understand the trend of domination for the sake of (human) reason. This general trend is referred to as the domination thesis which sees the Western "civilizing" project as a thorough attempt to suppress and dominate human nature as well as external nature: the environment. Within the domination thesis, we see a logic of domination that makes connections between the domination and oppression of the physical world with the domination of human nature as instantiated in other human beings. What is critical to take away from this thesis crucial to the Frankfurt School is that domination of the environment and domination of humans are not mutually exclusive phenomena. They are importantly connected and co-constitutive in ways that matter for the theorization of harms such as social and environmental injustices (Gunderson 2015).

Schaap's model acknowledges the environment insofar as it realizes and upholds the idea that politics and human relations do not occur in a vacuum. Thus, an important part of politics or the properly political for Schaap is that politics is made possible by conditions in the actual world and that politics also discloses the common world we share. While Schaap's model does

not name environmental concerns specifically that might frame certain political realities or that might disclose certain political realities to us through the common space of the world we share, it makes progress from other models considered thus far in that it does not try to mystify or obscure the ways in which the physical world is a part of any endeavor, no matter how we try to abstract away from that fact.

The political community model is also similar to the tradition of critical theory coming out of the Frankfurt School in its thorough commitment to a type of historical materialism that supports the idea that current realities/conditions are predicated on a specific historical moment and material realities out of which they arise (Marx 1979). Schaap would agree that many of the situations in the world that require reconciliation are not born wholly ex nihilo, but rather can find their roots in historical and material conditions that shaped them and birthed them. Now, whether or not the environment is conceptualized, as its own material condition worthy of its own consideration and connection with the production and influence of political realities is not as clear. But as a model informed by critical theory, this model should be attendant to the ways in which our domination of external nature is indicative of other forms of domination amongst and between humans, making human injustices against humans and against external nature an importantly related phenomenon.

Shcaap's model of political reconciliation includes concerns for sustainability and resiliency of the environment because it relies heavily on ideas originally formed by Hannah Arendt that share this perspective. One of these ideas is a notion of the fragility of the world that we share and which is revealed to us through the sphere of politics and the moment of politics (Arendt 1998). As such, the world requires a deep and abiding care be taken with it. This indicates that both Arendt and Schaap are aware of the fragility and exhaustibility of the world

and its resources. If we fail to take care of the foundation that makes all other things possible, the world that will be revealed to us will be degraded and dangerous at best, non-existent for certain beings (humans among them) at worst.

(5) Moral Agency/Reciprocity

Colleen Murphy offers a theory of political reconciliation that is committed to capturing precisely the ways in which civil conflict and repressive rule "systematically undermine the conditions in which political relationships can express reciprocity and respect for moral agency" (Murphy 2010, 28). She critiques previous models of reconciliation as only offering pieces of a theory that is not unified in the way hers is. She argues three frameworks, which are interrelated and mutually reinforcing, unify her particular theory of political reconciliation. These three frameworks are the rule of law, political trust, and relational capabilities.

The rule of law captures the way in which political relationships go wrong and can be fixed at the institutional level, "specifically how legal institutions structure political interaction and define the expectations citizens and officials have of one another" (Murphy 2010, 28). The rule of law should constitute a clear and accessible codified expectation of rights and behavior that all citizens and officials understand and can reference. Political trust operates at the attitudinal level and "highlights the view that citizens and officials should ideally take of each other" (Murphy 2010, 28). Political trust is the ideal relationships of trust and trust responsiveness that a stable rule of law should engender. Finally, capabilities "refer to the genuine opportunities of individuals to achieve valuable doing and beings such as being adequately nourished or being respected" (Murphy 2010, 28). Capabilities is the framework that aims to capture the way both economic and political institutions work to either provide or deny

political efficacy and the success or failure of political relationships. Murphy highlights four capabilities she sees as most important to political reconciliation and the goals it seeks. These include "being respected by others; participating in the social, economic, and political life of a community; being recognized as a member of a political community; and surviving and escaping poverty" (Murphy 2010, 31).

Murphy acknowledges that political and economic realities/conditions are often wedded. She does also include a capabilities framework as part of her model, which relies on the fact that physical and economic conditions do influence the type of political realities and organization within particular societies for better or worse. However, she does not include a critical and deep consideration of how exactly environmental factors, outside of a commodified understanding of economic well being and its relationship with the environment, inform political realities and reconciliatory processes. For example, we might think of how black South Africans' sense of belonging was not only affected by being denied certain economic advantages through the allotment of lower wage paying jobs, but also how their sense of belonging and identity was affected by being isolated in homelands with inferior access to physical resources and completely divorced (in many cases) from any source of ethnic identity (even though the homelands were meant to be ethnic enclaves separate from the nation state of South Africa).

This model does not allow space for considering the ways in which many historical and physical conditions are predicated on an initial logic of domination first enacted upon the environment then upon humans by humans. Think about how oftentimes the historically oppressed groups in history are those who have been systematically disenfranchised of their "property" rights and environmental heritage/relationship with the land. This disenfranchisement, though no fault of their own, is usually blamed upon the "inferiority" of the oppressed population,

which was actually a historical consequence of the oppressors' actions. So in this sense, legacies of domination and colonization create and erase their own myth of how oppressed people get to be oppressed and why oppressors are justified in continuing to oppress these populations and keep them in lives devoid of physical and psychological environmental supports necessary for self-actualization and justice. In this way, Murphy's model does not move far enough away from viewing the environment as a resource.

Murphy's inclusion of a capabilities framework and in particular a capability dedicated to the survival and escape from poverty shows an awareness of the way in which environmental injustice in the form of poverty and subpar living conditions/access to resources affects the prospects of many people and their need/ability to transition to more democratic political realities and more autonomous modes of political efficacy. Again, as stated earlier, however, Murphy's model does not go far enough in conceptualizing environmental harm in terms other than economics. Economic harm is not the only way the environment figures in for people on the losing end of an oppressive political structure/society.

(6) Indigenous

The Indigenous model of reconciliation pulls from the overlapping, foundational similarities found within the cosmologies of Indigenous peoples. One particular Indigenous model of reconciliation examined is reconciliation as the Navajo people conceive of it. The Navajo have a rich cultural tradition and narrative that informs their notions of justice and thus peacemaking. The Navajo have a conception of justice "that is relationship centered, not based on a political authority beyond the individual" (Wall 2001, 535). Thus, when a wrong is committed, it is not solely left to the state as arbiter and enforcer of justice. Rather, since the

Navajo conception of justice is firmly rooted in the reality of relationships and relationality, an offence is understood in all the ways it relates to the cosmos. Peacemaking involves a focusing on the deed and not the doer, but through conversation and accountability the offender comes to hear intimately the ways in which this wrongful action has negatively affected relationships with others. So, justice, then, is a speaking of truth that leads to a realization of the ways in which this action has affected the community and cosmos, which ultimately promotes a return to that community through right action and understanding.

Another instantiation of an Indigenous notion of reconciliation appears in the Idle No More movement. Idle No More is a social/political/environmental movement that's mission is to "honour Indigenous sovereignty and to protect the land & water" ("Idle No More," n.d.). This movement responds to a long and well-documented history of the abuse of Indigenous peoples by state governments who have reneged time and again on treaties and disrespected Indigenous life and cosmology by actively disregarding and destroying their relationship to the land and each other. This instantiation of Indigenous justice and reconciliation focuses on an accountability and understanding through the narrative of truth telling and through the call for the healing of relationships that have resulted in unjust actions and outcomes.

The Indigenous model cannot fail to capture the way that social harms often map onto environmental harms because the concept of relationality with the environment is built into both its conception of justice and, thus, its conception of reconciliation or repair. It is no surprise to this model that social harms map onto environmental harms because an affront against a human operates within the nexus of relationships and harms on multiple levels that must be acknowledged, understood, and ultimately resolved. The Navajo have a rich creation narrative that guides, grounds and is recalled during many peacemaking processes. In this creation story,

the Holy People (the beings responsible for the creation of all things) created the five-fingered persons we commonly refer to as humans. Even within this assignation of humans as five-fingered persons we are presented with a different and wonderful cosmology that captures the fact that humans are one among many beings and are instantiated in their own unique way that is neither better nor worse than the manifestation of other persons. Many Indigenous cosmologies, including that of the Navajo, view every entity in creation as a person with a unique and important bodily and spiritual manifestation. Thus we are all related through our personhood as being and our connectedness to each other means that an offense against one affects all in a drastic way that calls for healing, for a restoration of right relations. Therefore, environmental concerns and harms are intimately related to the affairs of five-fingered persons in a way that must be righted in any resolution or attempt to instill peace amongst humans.

The Indigenous model relies on a cosmology that understands and respects the relationality between all things, which means it cannot make space for a conception of reality as separated from the context out of which it arises. In the Navajo practice of peacemaking, we see this by attention and reverence for the ways in which each person in the process shows up and factors in, which might make understandable, but not justify a person's negative behavior. In this way, the Indigenous model again builds in from the beginning a notion of accountability that also takes stock of the background and history of the situation that has influenced and led up to the deed that has necessitated peacemaking. In the case of Idle No More, we also see a movement that starts from the idea of both the inherent relationality of existence (one's actions affect others' reality and vice versa), but also a deep and meaningful historical accounting of the ways in which the Canadian government's past and present actions have established the disrespect and discounting of First Nations' peoples and their cosmologies.

Notions of the sustainability and resiliency are central to the Indigenous model because it does not start (as many Western models) from the place of a distinction between humans and the environment. Since it is deeply committed to the ways in which all things in existence are related, it of course has to be concerned with sustainability and resilience of all relations including political relations. If a process or solution to the problem is not sustainable, then it is not properly a solution. The Indigenous model of justice and reconciliation recognizes that relationships are delicate and tenuous and change, but the ultimate underlying fact that we are related is unchanging. In this way, it is necessary to think about the best and least harmful ways of existing with each other in ways that respect the fragility of existence and the limits of our world and resources. For it is not just the five-fingered persons we have to take care of but all the persons within creation and the cosmos. Any exceptionalism in this way is already a manifestation of a negative behavior for relationality because it disturbs the balance of reciprocity and sacred justice.

2.3 Is the Exclusion of the Environment from Political Reconciliation Justified?

So far, I have analyzed the six models of reconciliation and discussed whether or not they capture the three reasons of how the environment figures into political realities and the repair of those realities. In light of this analysis and discussion, I have a question: is there any compelling and substantial reason that models of political reconciliation should exclude environmental concerns/harms? My answer is "No." I will now consider two pseudo reasons that may be listed as compelling reasons for excluding the environment from the realm of political reconciliation and I will counter each reason with a response that shows that these reasons are not actually valid.

First, someone might propose that since the conflict is amongst humans, it must stick to the narrow context in which it arose, namely the human sphere. This reason rests on an already untenable assumption, which is that humans are exceptionally not a part of the environment proper. Such an account relies on a distinction that is not sustainable. To see the human sphere as separate from the environment proposes that physical conditions and environmental factors are not an important part of why and how human communities manifest themselves in certain ways. Abstracting away from the ways humans exist and subsist in the world is not only not helpful in crafting solutions to so called "human problems," but it also leads to uncritical action that can further deteriorate human relationships intrahumanly and among other aspects of creation, e.g. with non-human animals, ecosystems, and so on. As we saw from the three reasons given earlier, the environmental and political come together in a variety of important ways. For example, social harms often coincide with and map onto environmental harm and degradation (reason one), political harms are based on historical forms of ecological domination (reason two), and conflicts such as those falling out of settler colonialism are bad for sustainability (reason three).

Next, someone might say would it not be better considering the individual complexity of political problems and environmental problems to give each its own realm of consideration and space? This claim seems more reasonable than the first and seems to make sense, however, it does not make sense to view the political and environmental as analytically distinct to the point of mutual exclusion. What I mean by this is that there should not be within this claim a separation so strict that mutual influence and reciprocity between these categories is disallowed. The fact that we can analyze them and explore them as separate entities does not exclude them from being connected in ways that matter and that must be addressed. Many times, one would miss a key injustice if one enforced this separation. Consider the case of Uluru and the

reconciliation between settler Australians and the Anangu. If that reconciliation process ended at the linguistic level of apology, without an experience of the harm of a particular form of settler tourism in an Aboriginal way, it could be concluded that the only harm of settler colonialism in this instance was an abstract disrespect for Anangu identity. However, this disrespect involves a much larger harm, which is literally the illegality of Anangu life ways with the land and environment. Missing this component of harm is morally problematic and should be avoided in political reconciliation theory and political reconciliation processes.

Also, a dangerous tendency with this idea of keeping entities or concepts distinct is that it can lead to the creation of a hierarchy among said entities/concepts. In this way we can see arguments on either side claiming the superiority of the political (human) over the environment or vice versa. These hierarchies and arguments represent a conflict in need of resolution in themselves and unnecessarily detract from the more pressing and prescient political-ecological issues at hand. It is not an issue of which should come first or be considered greater, but given the intricacy and relatedness of the areas how are we to move forward with comprehensive and sustainable solutions?

While these reasons initially seem persuasive, they are proven to be residue of an outmoded yet familiar way of thinking that has more often than not led to the very issues we currently face, politically and ecologically, with very few sustainable and lasting solutions. As seen through the examples and literatures referenced, political reconciliation and the theory of political reconciliation can be furthered through engagement with environmental justice and Indigenous environmental ethics, as we will see in chapters four and five. This expanded inclusion promises more fulfilling and sustainable reconciliation processes.

In conclusion, I hope that by offering an in depth analysis of the current topography of political reconciliation we can agree that the exclusion of the environment from many models of reconciliation is unjustified. This lack of justification indicates an impetus to reconsider seriously amending our models of political reconciliation such that the environment is built in from the beginning as a category and agent for reconciliation and serious consideration. Certain models explored in this chapter show promise and manifestations of serious consideration and incorporation of the environment, with the Indigenous model being the most comprehensive because the environment as a category and member of society/existence is built into it from the beginning. That other models do not share this initial conception of the environment as a primary agent of existence and reconciliation does not exclude them from moving forward in making a place for environmental concerns/harms, but it does mean that there is serious work to be done in creating and adapting models of reconciliation that importantly consider the many and varied manifestations of being including the affairs of the five-fingered persons. Chapter three moves on to consider the exclusion of political relations from discussions and practices of ecological restoration.

Chapter 3: The Evolution of Ecological Restoration

With chapter two's analysis of the dangers of excluding ecological relations from projects of political reconciliation established, chapter three explores the exclusion of political relations the field of ecological restoration pose its own set of problems. This chapter examines debates within ecological restoration surrounding the extent of human involvement in restoration projects. I use the distinctions of thin and thick to categorize distinct paradigms of ecological restoration that espouse different goals and commitments. The thin paradigm of ecological restoration is concerned with whether it is possible or desirable to restore landscapes to a particular historical state through human interventions, where the particular historical goal landscape is a "pristine" wilderness. This commitment promotes a process of ecological restoration that requires human intervention only until the landscape is "restored," then the erasure and removal of human presence. The thick paradigm of ecological restoration views the ecological integrity of landscapes as intimately linked to the health and well being of people and, thus, engages ecological restoration projects as a way to reconcile humans with one another and their stewardship obligations to the environment. Section I examines a prominent understanding of ecological restoration found within the thin paradigm and its focus on restoration as the creation of a chronologically past and historically specific ecological system and offers reasons for rejecting this view. Section II examines how the thick paradigm of ecological restoration provides more inclusive and dialogical frameworks for restoration projects. Section III argues that the thick paradigm of ecological restoration is preferable to the thin paradigm because it creates more space for vulnerable communities, who are increasingly becoming more involved in environmental issues. Section IV examines why the thick paradigm of ecological restoration is

better for more responsible restoration projects through the case study of the Sinkyone Intertribal Park Project.

Ecological restoration is often characterized as the process through which ecological systems (i.e. ecosystems, landscapes, ecological spaces, and the like) are restored. However, ecological restoration is also a contested philosophical concept. An important arena of contestation involves debates about whether human intervention in ecological restoration is positive or negative. While it is obvious that any restoration project requires some degree of human involvement, the question of how the type and extent of that involvement colors particular restoration projects as "good" or "bad" remains unsettled. Many debate, for example, whether restoration is always a bad imitation of historical landscapes as imagined to exist at some point before human intervention.

I identify the various debates about human intervention in ecological restoration as falling into two paradigms, thick and thin. The term paradigm denotes a set of assumptions about what the axis of disagreement is on a particular issue. The thin paradigm includes a set of assumptions about ecological wellbeing that are largely guided by ideas of preservation and wilderness protection predicated on human absence. The axis of disagreement here revolves around whether it is possible or desirable to restore ecological spaces to a particular state (usually a chronologically prior or "historical" state). The thick paradigm engages assumptions that view ecological integrity as intimately linked with the health and wellbeing of people. The axis of disagreement here concerns how we can achieve restoration projects that reconcile humans with one another *and* their stewardship obligations to the environment.

In this chapter, ecological relations and political relations will be employed as terms through which to understand differing goals of restoration. Ecological relations, roughly, track the physical processes and functionalities of ecosystems, while political relations track the human perspectives, lived experiences, and values that shape the structure of social institutions and conflicts. I will argue that the deliberate bracketing of political relations within the thin paradigm of ecological restoration makes it more likely that restoration projects will predominantly seek to fulfill the interests of privileged, dominant populations. Whereas the heightened attention to political relations in the thick paradigm makes it more likely that restoration projects will address issues of human conflict and oppression and hence be inclusive to marginalized and nondominant populations as well as the needs of justice for both humans and ecosystems.

This distinction suggests that the assumptions about the axis of disagreement in the thin paradigm can be considered, in some ways, irresponsible because they exclude values concerning how ecological restoration should be beneficial for both ecosystems and diverse human populations. While both thin and thick paradigms instantiate particular human values, perspectives, and lived experiences, I argue that what I define as the thin paradigm of ecological restoration is narrower in its commitments to especially vulnerable human populations. The marked exclusion of diverse human populations in the framing and enactment of restoration projects that attempt to focus purely on physical/ecological relations neglect the opportunity to create more ethical and just relationships between humans and nature as well as between human communities. The lack of inclusivity and relative narrowness of the thin paradigm is what explains its diminishing presence in discussions of ecological restoration (Light 2000b) and why the thick paradigm of ecological restoration is more appealing and generally preferred, by my

reading. The thick paradigm of ecological restoration is more responsible because it opens a space for dialogue about sites of human conflict and collaboration. In this way, this chapter examines how differing paradigms of ecological restoration (thin and thick) espouse different commitments.

3.1 The Thin Paradigm of Ecological Restoration

Ecological restoration has become a topic of interest as an approach to analyze and understand how humans relate to the natural world. Some view ecological restoration as another form of land management akin to conservation and preservation (Mauritz 2005, ii; Cabin 2011; Throop 2000; Gann and Lamb 2006). Conservation and preservation bring with them differing ideas and assumptions about how relationships between humans and the natural world are formed. Ideas about ecological restoration as an environmental ethic and land management strategy have been closely followed and critiqued by philosophers (Katz 1992; Elliot 1997; Rolston III 1994; Jordan 2003; Light 2000b). One iteration of restoration within the thin ecological restoration paradigm views the goal of ecological restoration as the return of a degraded landscape to a chronologically prior and often romanticized period or state. I use "romantic" here in the sense of the imagery of wild, untamed landscapes devoid of human taint and often invoking human awe and reverence. Eric Katz and Robert Elliot feel that ecological restoration is a project involving an attempt to restore a natural space to the conditions it existed in at some time gone by, particularly a time before human intervention occurred, with any previous human intervention largely being conceived of as negative. Eric Higgs refers to this reliance on "historical" measures of "original" conditions as a reliance on "pre-disturbance conditions" (Higgs 2003, 95). Pre-disturbance is correlated with an ecological place existing before human interference or impact.

In his essay "Faking Nature," Elliot compares the attempts to restore an ecosystem to aesthetic projects of restoring works of art. Elliot argues that part of the reason we value natural places is because of their difference from human structured places. In this way, he posits that places with a higher degree of authentic "naturalness," as it were, are more valuable than others. He is against restoration, then, because he believes that attempts to restore a natural space to an "original" state are imitative at best and deceptive at worst. For, even if an environmental engineer somehow secretly restored an environment to such a degree that it looked relatively untouched and "natural," the viewer would be losing some of the historical authenticity of that place, just as if a real Vermeer painting was secretly replaced with an exact replica not painted by the Dutch master. He states,

Similarly, it is not just those things which make me feel the joy that wilderness makes me feel that I value. That would be a reason for desiring such things, but that is a distinct consideration. I value the forest because it is of a specific kind, because there is a certain kind of causal history, which explains its existence. Of course I can be deceived into thinking that a piece of landscape has that kind of history, has developed in the appropriate way. The success of the deception does not elevate it to the level of the original, no more than the success of the deception in the previous example confers on the fake the value of the real Vermeer (Elliot 1982).

This limited interpretation of the goal of restoration allows Elliott to disagree with it as a process. Elliott relies on a certain set of human values and perspectives informing his understanding of ecological restoration, in this case, ones that are useful for aesthetic, art restoration projects. These chosen values and perspectives make possible his ability to disagree with restoration in its entirety. Different imported values and perspectives would constitute a different form of restoration entirely, which is why paradigms of ecological restoration vary.

Eric Katz in "The Big Lie: Human Restoration of Nature," similarly argues that the act of restoration in itself is morally suspect and its results are consequently also morally troubling. He

argues that projects of ecological restoration merely expand the ways in which humans attempt to dominate and control nature. He also argues that through the act of restoration, which Katz largely seems to view as interference, humans are creating an artifact; turning a natural object into a product of human labor and invention. In this way, he believes humans' attempts at restoration somehow denigrate and contaminate nature in such a way that we can no longer view or interact with it as "Nature" (Katz 1992).

Many of Katz and Elliot's concerns illustrate a reasonable anxiety about the rampant abuse and degradation of the natural world by humans. With the increase of restoration projects and new types of environmental interventions calling for the creation of positions such as environmental engineers, there is of course a fear that so called restoration will be a superficial attempt to erase the marks of human involvement. Or that restoration will occur within the same human paradigm that created the harm in the first place. While these fears appear justified at first blush, I offer two responses that reject the validity of this position. First, this position supports an over generalized view of humans' relationships with and behavior toward the environment, which supports the untenable culture versus nature dualism. Second, the premise upon which both Katz and Elliot's rejections of ecological restoration rely supports a belief in the possibility of value-free, "objective" landscapes.

Culture Versus Nature Rejection

Elliot and Katz's rejection of ecological restoration relies on a relatively rigid view of human involvement. Humans have interacted with their environments for generations in ways that affect discrete as well as massive changes for both humans and environments. To code all human involvement then as negative, and further immoral, is to take to a hard view of the ways

in which humans and environments are related and how they affect each other. For example, there are those that argue that humans are not outside of nature, but inherently natural beings. While we can understand some human interactions with the environment as good or bad, moral or immoral, motivated by various perspectives/values, etc., human interactions are importantly always natural (Plumwood 2002b; Plumwood 2002a; Cronon 1996). (It is also worth mentioning that many times particular political realities often guide the type of human intervention in environments we code as negative. For example, logics found within the system of capitalism encourage humans to view the natural world primarily, and sometimes solely, as a resource base of inert matter awaiting development and extraction by humans for profit and pure human benefit. However, this is just one way, of many, of relating to the environment) (Cock 2011).

The narrow conceptualization of ecological restoration as espoused by the complementary texts of both Elliot and Katz have been highly criticized within the literature for supporting the untenable dualism between culture and nature and for excluding humans from the sphere of "natural" entities or beings. Many ecological restorationists reject the idea that environmental restoration is always already harming nature by being somehow intrusive or inauthentic due to human involvement (Higgs 2003; Light and Higgs 1996; Jordan 2003; Light 2000a; Light 2006; Boyce, Narain, and Stanton 2007; Hall 1997; House 2000; Ray 2005; Van Wieren 2008). One could also question whether Katz could even conceptualize any truly "Natural" places under his definition because humans exist within nature to such an extent that finding an area untainted by human interaction seems at best highly unlikely. 8 It is also interesting that these scholars take such a negative view of human involvement in ecological restoration. As ecological restoration's attempt to promote ecological health and well being

_

⁸ Historically, the introduction of nature preserves such as national parks has been accompanied with oppressive political practices such as the forced removal of Indigenous peoples from their lands (Igoe 2003; Carroll 2014).

signals a new environmental ethic that replaces an older mentality of nature as a resource base to be used and discarded in a degraded state (Mills 1996; Jordan 2003; Higgs 2003; Light and Higgs 1996; Cronon 1996). This understanding of ecological restoration exists by creating "Nature" as an exclusionary category to human endeavors, which I assume would also exclude any notion of political relations. Humans are only actors in this sphere in their always already negative interactions with nature regardless of intention.

Conversely, William Cronon argues that definitions of "nature" or "wilderness," which rely on the complete absence of human existence are untenable. He suggests that humans socially construct notions of pure or untouched wilderness and that its use in framing restoration projects can actually cause more harm than good. This type of thinking is harmful, because it forecloses the possibility of a space for humans to relate to nature in mutually beneficial and ethical ways. If humans are always already bad for and harming the environment, there is no room to explore different and more positive ways of relating to the environment (Cronon 1996). This also has distinct harms for environments themselves, since coding any and all human intervention with ecological spaces as negative and inauthentic means that the attitude of care and respect for the environment through specific human involvement is also foreclosed. This is harmful to ecological spaces that may require our care to restore their functionality and integrity. Ultimately it closes off the possibility of both restoring ecological spaces and reconciling ourselves to these spaces for the good of responsible stewardship.

For Cronon, the construction of wilderness "embodies a dualistic vision in which the human is entirely outside the natural. If we allow ourselves to believe that nature, to be true, must also be wild, then our very presence in nature represents its fall" (Cronon 1996, 17). This understanding of a socially constructed wilderness embedded with the values of the culture that

created it as the only place worthy of being called "properly natural," could explain the thin paradigm of ecological restoration that guides particular restoration goals such as those espoused by Elliot and Katz.⁹ The equation of the properly natural with "wilderness" for Cronon is a serious problem because by separating humans from the properly natural, we "leave ourselves little hope of discovering what an ethical, sustainable, honorable, human place in nature might look like" (Cronon 1996, 17).

This construction of wilderness or the "properly natural" as predicated on the absence of humans has also proven to be harmful especially for historically vulnerable and marginalized human populations. Preservation projects aimed at fulfilling this idea of an imagined wilderness devoid of human presence has led to the removal and relocation of American Indian tribes as well as the illegalization of American Indian lifeways and relationships with the land. Harmful political relations have been instantiated to build the image of a "Nature" that never existed in these places. It has also led to the environmental racism seen in poor/urban communities of color. By creating a conception of the environment that is devoid of humans, urban and especially poor communities of color have endured the disproportionate siting of environmentally noxious facilities (Commission for Racial Justice 1987). Polluters have attempted to justify the placement of these facilities (overwhelmingly) in these communities through an argument that relies on the implicit understanding of "Nature" as not being in these places. Built or urban environments do not fall within the purview of what the "environment" is as constructed by mainstream environmentalism therefore our regard and ethic for the environment need not extend to these places or peoples (R. D. Bullard 1990).

-

⁹ Indeed, Elliot in particular imbues ecological restoration projects with cultural values found in art restoration, which he attempts to argue is analogous. It is not clear that his conception of nature is not already also compromised by certain perspectival biases and imported values.

Therefore paradigms of ecological restoration that rely on this separation of "nature" and "wilderness," as being devoid of humans, necessarily preclude the possibility of restoration, as such, since restoration relying on the absence of humans as a criterion does not exist. Restoration projects will be programmed to fail or be limited in the same scope as long as the nature we are endeavoring to "restore" is a place that has never once existed or involved robust human involvement. This paradigm, then, presents a limitation in the sense that it claims not to be engaged with political relations at all and sees this as a strength by focusing purely on ecological integrity and preservation. However, as we will see in the next section, this thin paradigm only thinks it is operating outside the realm of political relations, when in fact it is enacting a very particular and problematic set of political relations.

"Value-free"/"Objective" Landscape Rejection

Much is revealed through the terminology both Katz and Elliott use to discuss ecological restoration. "Fake" and "lie" both divulge a fundamental preoccupation with deception. Similarly, Elliot's analogy of ecological restoration to art restoration further highlights a fear of deception. This analogy introduces the particular iteration of thin ecological restoration examined above that relies on the restoration of a chronologically past and historically specific state of a landscape. This chronologically past landscape is in fact the goal of this type of restoration. However, the analogy of restoring a landscape to the process of restoring a piece of art is a bad analogy. It fails because landscapes are not objects in the same sense that works of art are. It is true that landscapes may have particular features but these features are not static and are imbued with relationality all the way through. What I mean by this is that restoring a particular color or scene to a painting represents a difficult but finite set of steps that are accomplished through comparison to an equally static original or likeness. However, landscapes are composed of

changing systems and relationships that are not as discretely knowable or apparent. In this way landscapes are not "objective" or object-like in the same ways that paintings are.

Further, Katz and Elliott rely on this goal of a chronologically past and specific historical state of a landscape, while simultaneously treating it ahistorically. The attempt to resurrect and restore this landscape as one would restore a piece of art erases the political and historical relations imbued in that landscape in the first place. These motivations and context are largely ignored for the physical and technical task of making it look or behave similarly to a previous existence. 10 The motivations for framing ecological restoration this way is not free of ideals or values or perspectives, but they are largely presented as an objective state of affairs, which are simply and unprobelmatically being reinstated. This type of framing is limited in that it ignores the ways in which those values and perspectives are not representative of a broad population, especially already vulnerable populations which may be disproportionately and negatively affected by this restoration and/or the degradation in the first place.

Making the goal of restoration the impossible act of successfully replicating a particular historical object is what allows Katz and Elliot to reject restoration as such, but this rejection is based on a fallacious comparison. By setting the goal of restoration as a product or an object, in this case a culturally specific product framed as an objective state of affairs, they are able to reject the entire process of restoration. For they frame all restoration projects as necessarily aiming at the resurrection of a specific landscape/cultural object and not as an opportunity to include political relations for the betterment of both humans and landscapes. They think restoration is an attempt to fool humans regardless of the ecological benefits restoration might

¹⁰ This is not to say that restoration projects are not and should not sometimes be guided by historical or past motivations, but not in such a way that focuses so intently on the replication of one particular historical object to the erasure of all other factors. Which is yet another reason why the art restoration analogy does not work with regard to landscapes.

entail, but this is because they are onboard with value-free objective renderings of physical landscapes. Landscapes are not isolated works of art wherein all the ratios and proportions make internal and objective logic. Changing an ecosystem in a particular landscape has relational value and consequences for many stakeholders. Katz and Elliot are so preoccupied with the possibility of humans being fooled by restoration projects, where the goal is seamless replication of a historical object that they neglect to see the ways in which the process of restoration with different goals can produce ethically beneficial results.

To further illustrate my point, consider the removal of many American Indian tribes for the development of Yellowstone National Park (Spence 1999). This was not a value-free decision or project nor was the decision to manicure the park in such a way as to harken back to a "time before humans." That landscape was largely imagined and imbued with values of those wishing to enjoy that landscape as a recreational escape from the imperfections of society and culture. However, these projects are largely framed as not only beneficial or good, but objectively so because they enact a perspective of privilege and power that asserts itself as both normative and objective. The erasure of the political relations associated with the tribes in this instance for the instantiation of white "Settler" political relations was calculated and subjective. The product of this restoration is not unethical because it was guided by a particular historical state of a landscape, but because the sole focus on that outcome resulted in means that enacted gross injustices for tribes, their land, and their relationship to their land. The appeal to objectivity through the unexamined political relations at play, here, acts as a way of justifying the means of political and ecological domination. This kind of thinking, which the thin paradigm allows for, is dangerous not only because it has real harmful consequences for those not embodying the

privileged position, but also because the thin paradigm offers limited interpretations that do not examine and justify the values that are guiding restoration projects and ecological restoration.

3.2 The Thick Paradigm of Ecological Restoration

The thick paradigm of ecological restoration does not code all human intervention in ecological spaces as inherently negative or problematic. It also expands the paradigm of ecological restoration beyond projects of restoring a historically specific landscape to considering how to create more ethical relationships amongst humans, humans and environments, and ecosystems. This counter movement to the sentiments expressed within the thin paradigm (primarily by Elliot and Katz) also involves, importantly for my project, a different conceptualization of transparent and non-dominative political relations as both integral and necessary for projects of ecological restoration, since ecological restoration is ultimately about restoring a relationship between political *and* ecological relations; it is a practice of reconciliation. In this way, the thick paradigm of ecological restoration opens a space for dialogue about what kind of values, perspectives, and experiences are included in human involvement in restoration projects and who gets to participate.

Consider the project of attempting to restore Lake Sturgeon in the Big Manistee River.

Focusing primarily on returning the Sturgeon to the river and increasing their population, to the exclusion of the political relations at play that resulted in the decreasing number of Sturgeon in the area, would constitute a problematic restoration project. The Manistee River is located in part of the Little River Band of Ottawa Indians' territory, an Anishinaabe nation in the Great Lakes region, commonly referred to as Northern Michigan. The native fish population of Lake Sturgeon, or Nmé as they are called in the Tribe's language (Anishinaabemowin), has

experienced a significant decrease in their numbers within the Manistee Water Shed. Nmé thrived in pre-colonization settings within the Great Lakes basin and "served as a substantial source of food, an indicator species for monitoring the environment, and a clan identity" (Holtgren, Ogren, and Whyte 2015). However, with the introduction of white "Settlers" and settler colonialism, the viability and stability of Nmé populations decreased and was put in danger. The Anishibek relationship to Nmé and the subsequent cultural, political, social, and biological systems constructed to ensure the health and stability of Nmé populations are guided by a perspective and valuing of Nmé as relatives. A restoration project that ignores this crucial aspect of relationality as well as the historical context of disruption and impediment of Anishinaabe lifeways and systems by settler colonialism, to the exclusion of the involvement of the Anishinaabe peoples as stakeholders in this process, constitutes a bad restoration project. This is one of the ways in which we see how who is involved and allowed to participate in restoration projects matters. Without acknowledging the historical, political context and examining how ecological relations are related to political relations, a restoration project of attempting to restore Nmé through purely technical and physical processes of increasing the number of fish seems like a sufficient restoration project. But it also misses certain harms still intact and the opportunity to restore relationships and lifeways foundational to the survival and flourishing of both humans and Nmé.

There are a number of scholars in the ecological restoration literature attempting to make the ecological dimension of harm and injustice an integral player in how we attempt to think about reconciliatory projects previously reserved to the sphere of humans. In acknowledging that political relations and ecological relations are always connected, there is a better chance of capturing targeted problems and creating better solutions. The thick paradigm of ecological

restoration will hopefully produce more ethical and sustainable solutions to problems within the political/ecological nexus. Stephanie Mills stresses the relatedness of ecological issues and political/social issues.

The forces that are tearing apart ecological communities are identical with those tearing apart human communities, and there is probably no saving the former without regenerating, or sometimes reinventing, the latter (Mills 1996, 8).

In failing to see the connectedness of human social and political endeavors with humans' relationship, conceptualization of, and behavior toward nature, our solutions and thinking about these problems will be similarly incomplete and bifurcated. This is one way of viewing the obfuscation of political relations (through not examining which ones are at play) presented in the thin paradigm. These abstract distinctions do not capture the reality of the intertwined existence of relationships between humans and nature or as Andrew Light references, the ways in which moral and social things are always going to be a part of humans' relationship with nature in such a way that the things we do to harm the natural world are also harming us, in meaningful ways (Light 2000a, 49).

In combatting the exclusion of politics from ecological restoration, Light argues that restoration projects are inherently political. There is a politics *in* restoration as well as a politics *of* restoration (Light 2006). Instead of focusing on whether restoration is possible due to human involvement not squaring with rigid conceptualizations of nature as excluding humans (Katz and Elliot), Light sees that the organization and process of particular restoration projects can be morally suspect when they are not carried out in a democratic and participative manner.

There is also an important moral dimension to good restoration, namely the degree of public participation involved in such projects. This view argues that there are unique values at stake in any restoration that can be achieved only through some degree of public participation in a project, for example, the potential of restorations to help nurture a sense

of stewardship or care between humans and the nature around them (Light 2006, 173, emphasis in original).

Now, part of this move to expand the paradigm of ecological restoration to include political relations prompts a clarification of how the ecological restoration process should see its relationship to the natural world. The thick paradigm should not become purely anthropocentric either. There should be a balance in trying to instill non-oppressive practices and realities for both humans and nature. The danger of ecological restoration becoming a purely anthropocentric process is a legitimate possibility and would again instantiate another thin model of ecological restoration albeit at the opposite end of the spectrum from the particular iteration of the thin paradigm explored in this chapter so far. Light and Higgs point out why restoration projects must include positive value for both human and nonhuman communities:

The value of the act of restoration and the value of the restoration itself are inextricably linked because restorations do not occur accidentally. As a result, an assessment of restoration as a practice must involve both the act as a value to the community and the product as a value for nature. Part of the distinctive value of restoration, therefore, is the production of this simultaneous positive value (Light and Higgs 1996, 235–236).

There has to be a space for conceptualizing part of the value of restoration as a value capable of being conceived without solely linking it to human interest. In this way we need to change our thinking about how our relationship to nature and the flourishing of ecosystems is a good in itself that also has important political and moral implications and lessons for human communities.

This would require a move beyond the view of nature as primarily a resource base. The resource base mentality allows us to care about the natural world in a semi-inauthentic way because we care about its functioning only in relation to how that allows us to function. By expanding consideration of ecological functioning as a good in itself, however, we acknowledge that healthy ecological relations have inherent value that can also benefit human political

relations. Recall the Nmé restoration project happening in the Manistee River watershed. The Anishibek lifeways were constructed around systems that ensured the ecological integrity and flourishing of an ecosystem that supported the Nmé populations. Relatedly, the flourishing of a multiple ecosystems' network (that also supported the stability of Nmé populations) deeply informed the Anishinaabe's cultural and political identities as well as their personal relationships to Nmé. With the onset of settler colonialism, the ecological systems that informed Anishinaabe lifeways and economic/political/social systems were replaced with a Settler model that prioritized the flourishing of settler communities to the detriment of the Anishinaabe people and Nmé (Whyte 2016a, 16). In this way, we see not only how ecological management systems inform the political realities and models we see in societies, but also how different management systems not in touch with certain relationships and knowledge endanger the health and stability of ecological systems, humans included.

3.3 Is the Thick Paradigm Better?

So far, I have offered an analysis two paradigms within ecological restoration literature. The thin paradigm concerns itself with possibility or desirability of ecological restoration per se where the goal of ecological restoration is a very particular kind of landscape, while the thick paradigm calls us to examine how the values, perspectives, and experiences of human involvement are weighed in the framing of restoration projects. This thick paradigm of ecological restoration is better than thin alternatives for the following reasons:

- The thick paradigm of ecological restoration allows us to identify oppressive and liberatory forms of ecological restoration.
- ii. The thick paradigm of ecological restoration gives us the space to deliberate about

different ecological relations and political relations at play in the formation of restoration projects towards the creation of just restoration for both humans and ecosystems.

By rejecting the goal of thin ecological restoration as an objective and unquestioned historical landscape free of particular political relations, we are allowed to assess whether particular types of human intervention are desirable or not due to the particular ecological relations and political relations promoted. For example, imagine a restoration project that attempts to restore ecosystem health and viability through a technical solution, but this technical solution is formulated and implemented by a group of practitioners that are made aware of local experts and knowledge bases, which they subsequently neglect to consult. Imagine also that these local experts and knowledge holders are part of a socially and politically vulnerable community. Suppose the practitioners who are not from the area suggest constructing a nature preserve that would severely limit local peoples' activities within the preserve. The local knowledge holders and residents would prefer the restoration of ecosystem health the practitioners' technical project would produce, but in the service of reestablishing important relationships with the flora and fauna. If this important cultural and existential desire is discounted because practitioners are operating within a paradigm of restoration that codes certain human involvement as negative and harmful¹¹, then this particular restoration project is inauthentic and harmful. Without a space for the locals' values, experiences, and perspectives to help shape the restoration project, the project itself can incite further harms even if ecological relations end up better off. Similarly, we are able to challenge whether even the ecological relations resulting from this type of intervention are preferable without the input of local

1

¹¹ For example, if the people are allowed to enter the preserve but only for recreational viewing purposes and not foraging or plant collection.

knowledge holders who know the ecological relations at play in their community and space.

The inclusion of multiple frameworks for assessing the viability and success of ecological restoration projects within the thick paradigm also allows for more inclusive participation in not only the framing of restoration projects, but also the procedural decisions being made throughout the process of restoration. It justifies expanding the scope to examine competing attitudes, beliefs, experiences, and values that influence ecological restoration all along whether we acknowledged them in the past or not. By moving the debate away from arguments around what's properly human and what's properly natural, we can include pressing issues invaluable to restoration projects. This opens the space of possibility for assessing and weighing differing concerns, both political and ecological. This allows us the pragmatic, deliberative forum to argue for particular political relations over particular ecological relations, certain ecological relations over certain political relations, integrated political and ecological models, co-management of ecological spaces for political reconciliatory purposes, and so on as each case presents. The opening of this deliberative space is essential to the forging of new environmental ethics in the sense of allowing for the possibility of different and new ways of relating to the natural world both politically and ecologically.

The positive potential of the thick paradigm restoration is illustrated through the examination of the case of the Sinkyone Intertribal Park Project. We see here how the openness of the space of deliberation and transparent discussion about what values, experiences, and perspectives being utilized tailor this restoration project to the enhancement of ecological relations and political relations.

The Sinkyone Intertribal Park Project is an ecological restoration project that operates within the thick paradigm of ecological restoration. This project, initiated in the early 1990s in the northwestern coastal forests of the United States, relies on cultural cooperation and collaboration for the restoration of redwood forests, coastal fog, and streams as well as restoration of American Indian cultural practices. It is important to remember when considering this case, the historical, social, and political conditions that resulted in the degraded ecosystem space restoration aims to ameliorate. In this case, the environmentally degraded landscape of this Pacific Northwest region was not the result of general human misuse and mismanagement. The arrival of white settlers to this area and the introduction of the systems of settler colonialism drastically changed not only the physical landscape through natural resource extraction such as logging for timber, but also severely affected interhuman relations amongst tribes in the area, between settlers and American Indians, and between American Indians and the land. Settler land management and land use practices as well as the physical, political, and social oppressions of American Indians removed and displaced Indian lifeways and systems with settler ones (Whyte 2016a). Settler ways, in this instance, were presented as objective and normative with no consideration of the Indians' connection to and knowledge of these places. This erasure and lack of acknowledgement were used to kill, remove, and dispossess tribes.

This case is important because it provides an example of why thick restoration is preferable given its attention to the social and political context that resulted in both human and environmental degradation. This intertribal project relies on an openness to explore the human conflicts present and the collaboration necessary for producing a more just restoration project. This case requires more than just the reintroduction of ecological relations or native species

because the tribes were and are part of the physical landscape. It is not surprising, then, that the project of settler colonialism destroyed relationships to the land and cultural lifeways at the same time that it destroyed certain ecological realities. Since the project of settler colonialism harmed both peoples' cultures and the physical aspects of the landscape, both those sites of harm are in need of repair.

Part of what is emphasized through the co-management of this project amongst Indian and non-Indian collaborators is a respect and space for Traditional Ecological Knowledge (that might be silenced were only practitioners from the dominant settler culture involved). It also is sensitive to the fact that certain cultural practices were detrimental to both ecological and cultural integrity and health in the region. This allows us to conclude that these same dominant cultural practices should not be solely relied upon in the development of sustainable solutions and restoration.

For example, a campaign of reforestation accompanied with the withdrawal of human involvement afterwards would not work in this region where long-term involvement and the rejuvenation of multiple ecosystems is required. A purely aesthetic campaign might restore a semblance of "wilderness" without actually substantially altering ecological health or sustainable cultural practices. Dennis Rogers-Martinez states "Restoration is not reforestation, but is much more...Reforestation is the bringing back together of people and land in a close working relationship to ensure the health and survival of both" (Rogers-Martinez 1992, 67). As witnessed in the Nmé restoration project, the outcome of simply larger or more abundant fish populations is desirable, but not on its own. In order for the relationship between the Anishinaabe and Nmé (or more generally, between humans and particular fauna, flora) to be restored, requires more than the ecological work of increasing fish populations or in this case, tree populations. Part of the

project of restoration in the Sinkyone case is to repair relationships between humans and the ecosystems such that certain values are apparent. One such value is sustainability. A restoration campaign focused purely on reforestation would not be sustainable in the long run or engender the repaired relationship stakeholders seek.

Addressing ecological issues without also addressing the political practice of settler colonialism that led to the wide scale degradation of ecological relations as well as the illegalization and erasure of Indian cultural *and* ecological practices will be an incomplete restoration project. To quote Rogers-Martinez again,

What do we want to restore? We want to restore life. We want to restore the living and sacred relationship between the people and the earth. We want to restore our spirits as we restore the land. We want to restore our culture, our songs, our myths and stories, and the Indian names for creeks and springs. We want to restore ourselves. This is what we want to restore at Sinkyone (Rogers-Martinez 1992, 67).

The utilization only of the thin paradigm of ecological restoration, in this example, would simply not be apt at capturing the full extent of harms present and necessitating restoration generally.

The degradation of the Sinkyone land is not simply a consequence of poor human management, but a larger political project of oppression and severing of relationships between the Sinkyone people and their environment.

This chapter has examined two paradigms of ecological restoration. The thin paradigm of ecological restoration presents restoration as encompassing projects that attempt to restore physical landscapes without openly addressing or confronting the political relations that inform the historical landscapes (ecological relations) practitioners wish to recreate. The thick paradigm frames ecological restoration as the opening of a space that allows for deliberation about sites of human conflict and collaboration relevant to restoration projects. The creation of deliberative

space within the thick paradigm is what makes it less probable to enacting dominative and oppressive restorations. I have argued that the thick paradigm is preferable because it actively addresses a wide range of the relations at play in constructing political and ecological landscapes for the creation and enactment of more environmentally ethical realities. In this way, thick restoration is a better process for ensuring the production and continuation of right relations necessary for reconciliation. Chapters four and five will explore the literatures of environmental justice and indigenous environmental ethics as sites that conceptualize harms and propose solutions from an integrated standpoint that pays careful attention to both ecological relations, political relations, and the ways they are related. In this way, chapters four and five will also track processes of reconciliation as the instantiation of right relations both ecologically and politically.

Chapter 4: Environmental Justice

As elucidated in chapters two and three, it is unreasonable to exclude the environmental from analyses of harm. Reconciliation as the instantiation of right relations requires analysis and righting of both political relations and ecological relations. Chapters two and three focused on the problems that abound when only one set of relations is considered. The literatures of political reconciliation and ecological restoration each benefit from the examination of both ecological relations and political relations because this integrated purview allows for more precise harm analysis as well as more innovative proposals for repair/reconciliation. Articulations of what is required for political reconciliation within chapter two named things such as trust, political agency, and citizenship. This chapter argues that political agency is not achievable as a goal without analyses and interrogations of environmental harm that foreclose the possibility of full political agency to many communities. This chapter examines the environmental justice movement as one literature that understands environmental dimensions of harm as roadblocks to the creation of reconciliation and instantiation of right relations within society. Section I will explore the ways in which environmental justice tracks the patterns of social inequality and environmental inequality that lead to the most socially/politically marginalized and vulnerable communities incurring the least safe and most degraded environments, with special attention on black* communities in the US. Section II focuses on black American communities in the US as a group disproportionately affected by environmental degradation and suggests that one of the ways in which harm is done to black American communities is through the destruction of their unique environmental heritages and environmental identities. Section III investigates the Flint

^{*} Black, for the purposes of this chapter, will refer to decedents of enslaved Africans within the United States. Thus, "black American" and "African American" will be used interchangeably throughout.

Water Crisis as a case study, which illustrates the need for reconciliation among black American communities and characterizes the instantiation of right relations as the ability of these communities to express their environmental heritages and identities. The ability to express and the acceptance of these heritages and identities by society is integral to the practice of social/political agency. In this way, this chapter will argue that environmental harm, environmental heritages, and environmental identities are all integral to reconciliation's goals of political agency and environmental health. Thus environmental justice is fundamentally a project of reconciliation

4.1 The Emergence of the Environmental Justice Movement

Environmental justice began as a movement concerned with the interrogation of certain realities communities faced. Communities of color, poor communities, and most frequently communities where these populations intersect (within the US) face distinct environmental challenges. In 1988, the United Church of Christ's Commission on Racial Justice published a report that confirmed what members of poor, communities of color knew: that race and socioeconomic makeup of communities corresponded with the siting of commercial hazardous waste facilities. This study was able to illustrate the systematic and predictable structure through which certain communities are targeted as outlets for the externalities of corporate affluence, thus objectively verifying the day-to-day experience poor, communities of color were navigating. The report states:

The findings of the analytical study suggest the existence of clear patterns which show that communities with greater minority percentages of the population are more likely to be the sites of commercial hazardous waste facilities. The possibility that these patterns resulted by chance is virtually impossible, strongly suggesting that some of underlying factor or factors, which are related to race played a role in the location of commercial hazardous waste facilities in the United States (Commission for Racial Justice 1987).

The significance of this study should not be understated especially considering the societal dismissals that often discount, silence, and erase the testimony of marginalized and vulnerable populations. This report made legible the realities, which are largely rendered invisible and isolated within these communities, precisely because the situations of those communities affected prompted the investigation.

Environmental justice examines the racist and classist logics that result in environmental racism. Environmental racism is the disproportionate burdening of poor, communities of color with environmental ills free of the related affluence these ills engender for other parties (R. D. Bullard 1990). In this way, we can understand a major motivation of environmental justice as an attention to the ways in which environmental bads and goods are distributed unevenly or unfairly across populations; a series of connected inequalities that constitute a set of deeply harmful relations calling for reconciliation. Environmental justice, as a framework, also centers and privileges the tacit knowledge and expert navigation of the communities experiencing these environmental ills. Communities living with and navigating these realities everyday are empowered to speak for themselves, especially in the face of environmental racism and corporate greed that labors under the assignation and identification of these communities as powerless. The distribution of environmental harms and burdens follows what Robert Bullard terms a "path of least resistance" (R. D. Bullard 1990). "The path of least resistance" is the phenomenon by which communities identified as least likely or able to thwart predatory and unjust environmental burdens incur these harms. These communities are chosen as targets for these additional harms precisely because of their social, political, economic positionality and its contribution to these communities' inability to push back against this unjust distribution. In many ways, these communities are manufactured as recipients of society's refuse precisely through their

construction as people who are socially, politically, and environmentally disposable (R. D. Bullard 1990; Robert D. Bullard 2005).

Thus, environmental justice articulates a particular harm and injustice in not only the unfair distribution of environmental harms and goods, but the basis of this distribution being based on racist identifications and racist constructions of identity that associate (for the purposes of this chapter) black Americans with societal waste. It is not surprising that the "Not In My Backyard" (NIMBY) movement only gains practical traction in white/affluent communities that have the resources to make this pronouncement audible and effective through social/political as well as material representation and follow-through. In fact, the rare occurrence in which NIMBY is enacted within a community dealing with rampant environmental injustice, may largely sidestep the procedural inequalities/injustices necessary to actually address the environmental justice claims occurring (Whyte 2010). That which makes NIMBY possible as a movement to white/affluent communities is precisely the burdening of poor, communities of color through the phenomenon of "Place in Blacks' Backyard" (PIBBY) (R. D. Bullard 1990). In this way, environmental justice situates itself at the intersections of multiple oppressions and sees the social, political, and economic harms experienced by highly specific demographics of the human population as inextricably linked with environmental quality, human health, and environmental degradation. Additionally, the construction of people of color and poor communities (especially poor black communities in the US) as not properly concerned with the environment supports dominative logics that degraded environmental spaces are "normal," or unproblematic to these populations. These logics of domination also importantly construct designations of what the environment is and who is allowed to care for or regard the environment in critical ways. One of the ways in which environmental racism flourishes is through the manufactured disregard of

poor, communities of color through racist and classist logics within the US, but an equally important well worn path of environmental injustice is to construct the spaces where black Americans and people of color live as *not the environment*.

The rise of the "mainstream" environmental movement in the US throughout the 1960s and 1970s articulated restrictive, racist, classist, and discriminatory constructions of not only what the environment or "nature" is, but also what environmental regard, care, concern, and appreciation looked like. What we refer to as the US "mainstream" environmental movement was largely produced by white, upper class men (R. D. Bullard 1990; Shrader-Frechette 2002). "Nature" was, for the most part, constructed as a place "out there" free of human involvement or taint and functioned as a retreat through which (some) humans could remove the base trappings of civilization and find one's "true self" through contemplation and recreation (Muir 2015). In this way, "nature" became something remote, "wild," and devoid of humans. The "urban" was constructed as "nature's" foil, a place thoroughly debased with the corruptions of industrialism.¹² Concerns for the environment within this limited construction of "natural" and "urban" spaces promoted "authentic" relationships with "nature" in a highly specified and biocentric way. While, biocentrism is a broad and general term, there was a prominent strain of biocentrism promoted by the US mainstream environmental movement that privileged the flourishing of ecological systems to the erasure and sometimes active harming of human communities and concerns. This particular conception of biocentrism has been referred to as "misanthropic biocentrism" or indeed "environmental fascism" (Shrader-Frechette 2002, 4–5). Misanthropic biocentrism and "environmental fascism" both elevate the human-interpreted needs of natural systems/"nature"

_

¹² The same industrialism that created the wealthy confined the poor to the urban areas directly surrounding their industrial sites of employment. Thus making recreation in nature an activity of the rich and inaccessible to the working class/poor. Similarly agricultural workers were similarly restricted from this narrative of nature as the environment quiet literally was their workplace, a place of toil.

above or to the peril of human flourishing; in this way, human affairs become something not only separate, but antithetical to ecological integrity and flourishing. C.R. Palamar cites the exclusion of human health concerns from understandings of ecological integrity as a major limitation to mainstream environmental movements' broad social uptake:

The failure of contemporary environmental movements to provide for protection of human and non-human communities and health, their limited understanding of 'environment,' and their failure to focus upon healthy restoration of both social communities and ecological stability is, in part, responsible for their inability to manifest as powerful social movements (Palamar 2008, 91).

So, part of the reason environmental justice emerged was to create a movement that included the concerns not only of those dwelling in built/urban environments (mainly lower income populations and populations of color), but also to expand notions of who/what was included within realms of environmental concern. Consider how this racist/classist construction of the environment and environmental interaction limits and dictates who is allowed to care for or express regard for the environment. Here, the construction of "urban" or industrial spaces is not just raced and classed to single out poor communities and communities of color, but also functions in such a way as to suggest urban spaces are not spaces in which environmental health exists or *can* exist. Nature is not existent in urban spaces under this logic and therefore cannot be in peril or negatively affecting communities in these areas. If environmental beauty existed in urban places how would bourgeois and classed notions of nature outside the "city" function as exclusive retreat?

However, it is necessary to make a further distinction in regard to misanthropic biocentrism. Misanthropic biocentrism assumes that the concerns of *all* humans are secondary to the prescriptions necessary for ecological integrity (assumes human health is not a part of or an integral aspect of ecological integrity). This is the kind of perspective that when taken to its most

extreme conclusion leads to proposals of species wide extinction of humans through suicide as the most logical solution to enact ecological flourishing of the planet (Singer 1972; Ormrod 2011). 13 What, I argue, is more prevalent is the intersection of misanthropic biocentrism with environmental racism that leads to what I term discriminatory biocentrism. Much as in chapter three, it is not simply the exclusion of human concerns from the realm of environmental regard, but rather the exclusion of particular humans' concerns and the instantiation of privileged humans' concerns presented as the objective/best course of action for environmental management and flourishing. A topical example of the ways in which racist and classist logics are interacting and inflaming environmental issues is the discussion surrounding the killing of Harambe, the silverback gorilla, at the Cincinnati Zoo. Zoo officials shot Harambe after a fouryear-old child fell into the gorilla enclosure. Almost immediately after the incident racist, classist, and sexist rhetoric began to circulate that largely focused on the parenting skills and abilities of the boy's mother. It is relevant to mention the family is black. There was even a petition circulated calling for the parents of the child be held accountable for Harambe's death amidst related discussions of child abuse/neglect (Lang 2016). Absent from these discussions is a problematizing of the zoo as a place that exists in the first place, but these responses also illustrate the logic in which remnants of racist, classist, sexist constructions of environmental regard quite easily and eagerly suggest that certain humans' health and safety are less important than the unfettered flourishing of "nature." It suggests that some people's lives *should* be sacrificed or at least not mourned when they are lost in "wild" or "natural" circumstances. 14

1

¹³ This is a problematic conclusion and proposition for many reasons, which I will not expand upon here, but most critically because it assumes that all human existence is necessarily detrimental to the ecological flourishing of Earth. ¹⁴ Here, I want to avoid assumptions about the "value" of human lives over non-human lives or vice versa, but I want to stress the ways in which we build environments like zoos for entertainment, while simultaneously trying to promote problematic rhetoric about wildness. It seems to me this kind of rhetoric encourages a move to arguments

The characterization of environmental regard and care as predicated on the marginality of particular humans' concerns led to particular land use and management models that also promoted a lack of human presence (such as preservation and wilderness protection). These models relied on concern for a very specific construction and understanding of what the environment and "natural" world is. As mentioned earlier, this construction relied on depictions of nature as wild and untamed, as well as free of human occupation, presence, and influence (Cronon 1996). As such, the mainstream environmental movement did not adequately consider the concerns of those living in "built" environments especially highly vulnerable populations (communities of color, poor communities, women, children, and the like) dealing with housing, siting, health and safety, environmental quality, and resource access issues. It missed these issues because it did not properly consider them environmental and was indeed a movement constructed by persons not situated in those lived experiences and contexts. Palamar states, "[a]ttentiveness to wilderness protection, while important culturally, intellectually, and ecologically, belies adherents who are not subject to the ravages of environmental pollution" (Palamar 2008, 83). From the inception of the mainstream environmental movement, certain realities were excluded from the purview of environmental concern because of the founders' positions of distance from these realities (e.g. living in neighborhoods populated with environmentally noxious facilities). Environmental justice, as well as the existence of activists and scholars articulating diverse avenues of inquiry and interaction within/about the environment suggests that amendments to environmentalism are necessary (P. Mohai, Pellow, and Roberts 2009; Ranco et al. 2011; Schlosberg 2010; Sze and London 2008; D. E. Taylor 2000; Cole and Foster 2001; Figueroa 2006).

of "you should have known better," when violent incidents or deaths happen with "wild" animals. I think these constitute moves to innocence that ultimately blames certain people for their own deaths or misfortunes in these contexts; oftentimes in the US, those found blameworthy are not white.

Environmental justice, as a movement and as a discipline, is interested in the dismissal of discriminatory biocentric models of environmental concern, which privilege ecological flourishing to the exclusion of examinations of human health and well being, especially the health and well being of those most vulnerable and marginalized. Environmental justice incorporates and centers humans as a fundamental part of the natural world and environment, whose concerns and well being must be considered. But it is also importantly concerned with the insertion of particular values, lived experiences, and perspectives associated with populations of humans whose needs and concerns have been largely excluded or erased from the development of mainstream environmental movement(s). In this way, environmental justice rearticulates the project of environmentalism and environmental concern with the concerns of *all* affected in actuality, whereas previous mainstream environmental movements assumed universality and inclusion while enunciating environmentalism from a particular location of privilege and disregard for those humans affected differently by environmental degradation.

Environmental justice is distinctive in its inclusion of ecological issues as importantly related to or indicative of political relations. The fact that the most predictable recipients of environmental harms are the most socially/politically vulnerable communities of a society exposes a structural and systematic pattern that drastically affects outcomes for certain populations. The focus on the intersections of race and class in terms of access to environmental quality and resources shone a light on communities usually excluded from environmental discourse and regard because their realities and issues did not fall within the discriminatory biocentric purview of the properly "environmental." In this way environmental justice, does not attempt to view the environment as a place *out there* for which we must primarily care for or focus on. Rather it views the environments we live, work, and play in as integral to our health

and well being as humans and vice versa.

4.2 Amendments to the Environmental Justice Movement

Environmental justice expands the space of possibility for examining the intersectional sites of humans and environments while also expanding who we consider when we talk about environmental degradation, however, there are additional realms of concern related to the exclusion of people of color when thinking about the natural world. The focus on environmental racism limits the place and identity of people of color in relation to the environment to always already negative or degraded sites of interaction. This is not to dismiss or diminish the importance of environmental justice or the work being done by people of color in relation to the environment, but it does constitute a limited approach in terms of analyzing particular environmental identities and heritages. The reactionary nature of environmental justice is limited by certain avenues of inquiry (again this is not to diminish the real urgency of these interventions and avenues of inquiry) that can often obscure other concerns such as positive and historical sites of interaction with certain communities and the environment. It also obscures the ways in which histories are inscribed into the sites of conflict as they appear in the contemporary context. This section will explore how the oft-erased and obscured historical narratives, environmental heritages, and environmental identities of black Americans are linked to the goals of political agency and citizenship necessary for reconciliation within US society.

In her book *Black Faces, White Spaces: Reimagining the Relationship of African Americans the Great Outdoors*, Carolyn Finney examines the largely unheard and unexamined narratives of African Americans and their relationship(s) to the environment. The dominance of particular narratives within the US, largely the narratives of European Americans who are

ethnically white, erases and obscures the unique narratives of African Americans and the environment. This tracks a larger trend found within settler colonialism that displaces the histories, customs, lifeways, and very existence of those that do not embody a settler identity where, here, settler implies European ethnicity and white skin (Tuck and Yang 2012). The destruction and erasure of these histories and heritages also profoundly affects African Americans' connection to place and environment in ways that diminish their political agency and claims to belonging/citizenship. This dearth of easily accessible and available narratives relevant to African Americans help to perpetuate the myth that African Americans do not "care" about the environment or that they are only involved in environmental issues in regard to the realm of interaction outlined by the environmental justice movement. In relation to this limitation Finney states:

One of the biggest challenges for individuals whose work is considered "environmental" is how quickly anything related to African Americans and the environment gets designated as an "environmental justice" concern. There is usually no discussion about the particulars—just the mere fact that "race," or "black people" are involved usually relegates African American environmental interactions to a particular point on the environment spectrum—environmental justice (Finney 2014, 108).

The assumption that all African American interest in the environment need necessarily or exclusively take the shape of an environmental justice concern is damaging. Not only does it further limit the sphere of environmental concern from the externality of white privilege, but it also is another way in which African Americans' experiences are coded as monolithic and identical in content.

Part of what Finney's work urges us to consider is how landscapes and geographies are imbued with meanings and histories, which can and have been sanitized of certain populations' presence for the dominance and propagation of other narratives. "But while all individuals may

imbue a landscape with meaning, only some meanings gain traction in our quest to define ourselves and the places we live, or to shape a national narrative that supposedly reflects the beliefs and experiences of all Americans" (Finney 2014, 76). The erasure of the narratives, histories, and presences of African Americans from landscapes and nationalistic mythmaking further marginalize African Americans not only from the physical landscape and territory of the US, but also from notions of citizenship and civic belonging.¹⁵

Civic Estrangement and the Erasure of Black Ecological Identities

In chapter three, I explored the ways in which the instantiation of political relations can privilege particular lived experiences, values, and perspectives that support or challenge dominant narratives in the field of ecological restoration. This chapter continues this interrogation in regard to what dominant narratives of environmentalism or environmental interaction within the US tells us about whose experiences, histories, and narratives largely construct the meaning the environment holds for people. Oftentimes the environmental burdens communities of color—especially black communities—in the US face drive the narrative that prioritizes social justice to black environmental movements. While the immediacy and severity of these disproportionate and racist sitings of environmental burdens within these communities is unquestionable, this section will focus on the erasure of black American environmental heritages and environmental identities as a importantly related to the political "otherness" that makes these environmental degradations commonplace. Black Americans' construction as alienated and not belonging to the physical territory and land of the US is a strategic political move to further construct their identities as existential and political others "deserving" society's ills. I examine

_

¹⁵ I should add here that it is not only black histories/narratives that are displaced and erased through dominant settler ones, but also American Indian ones. These narratives are displaced and erased on many fronts and, importantly, through the narratives and consequences of slavery and territory allocation to freed/former slaves and their descendants.

how the permanent mediation of social injustice in constructions of blackness both contribute to and result in different relations to the ecological world. The erasure of black environmental heritages and identities alienates them not only from environmental participation as it's coded for white Americans, but also alienates them from expressions of political agency and citizenship related to the territory of the US in deeply meaningful ways. The proclamation that black Americans do not "care" about the environment in ways that sync with mainstream (white) environmentalism in the US becomes, then, a consequence of white supremacist logics that aim to exclude black Americans from full civic membership and protections of their communities, especially in terms of environmental quality and safety.

Given the integral nature of political relations and ecological relations as well as political/ecological harms, the placing of environmental burdens on already socially/politically marginalized groups exposes itself as a logic of domination (Plumwood 2002b; Warren 1990). One of the results of overburdening already socially and politically marginalized group in a way that dictates a particular relationship to the environment (a risky, dangerous, negative one) is that it obscures or makes impossible other ways of relating that may be informed by certain environmental identities, environmental heritages, and environmental histories. An under examined aspect of environmental justice is the primacy of environmental identity and environmental heritage among groups experiencing environmental injustices. Environmental identity is "the amalgamation of cultural identities, ways of life, and self-perceptions that are connected to a given group's physical environment," while environmental heritage is understood as the ways in which "the meaning and symbols of the past frame values, practices, and places we wish to preserve for ourselves *as members of a community*" (Figueroa 2006, 371–72, emphasis in original). Environmental degradation and overburdening of certain communities can

be read, then, as a fundamental disrespect or erasure of the environmental identities and environmental heritages of particular peoples.

The fact that vulnerable groups are so often the victims of the unfair distribution of environmental burdens reflects discrimination against the groups' environmental identity. [...] More generally, the distribution of environmental burdens is closely related to the ways in which groups' environmental identities and environmental heritages are respected within a society' (Figueroa 2006, 372).

When particular groups' environmental identities and heritages are disrespected and discriminated against, this is not just an interpersonal slight. Rather, it is a sign of the denigration of an entire population's relationship to their environment and the shared world we inhabit. We can see the truly horrific outcomes of attitudes of disrespect to environmental identities and heritages through the quite literal outlawing of certain groups' lifeways (Tuck and Yang 2012; Whyte 2016a). The outlawing and erasure of these cultural group practices and lifeways is directly related to ongoing marginality and oppression within the geopolitical spaces of nation states, particularly nation states such as the US that came to existence through the violent elimination and forced enslavement of specific groups.

In Sites of Slavery: Citizenship and Racial Democracy in the Post-Civil Rights

Imagination, Salamishah Tillet explores how the erasure and reinsertion of black historical

narratives informs the possibility of racial reconciliation and democracy within the United States'

context. Essential to her examination, is the concept of "civic estrangement." "Civic

estrangement" refers to the paradoxical position of African Americans as legally enfranchised,

while simultaneously alienated from complete civic membership. Tillet states that, "[i]n the case

of African Americans, civic estrangement occurs because they have been marginalized or

underrepresented in the civic myths, monuments, narratives, icons, creeds and images of the past
that constitute, reproduce, and promote an American national identity" (Tillet 2012, 3). These

obstacles to full civic membership, as outlined by Tillet, constitute the damaging existential status of both citizen *and* non-citizen for African Americans "who experience the feelings of disillusionment and melancholia of non-belonging and a yearning for civic membership" (Tillet 2012, 3). The erasure of black presence from "civic myths" leads to a harmful alienation that infuses and colors the subsequent and current racial inequalities within the US.

These absences and erasures of black environmental heritages and environmental identities similarly marginalize black political agency and notions of citizenship. The out of place-ness facilitated by the estrangement of black people from natural spaces that function as modes of recreation, relaxation, reflection, and civic participation for white Americans is indicative of a continuous othering of and violence against black bodies within the US. This has led to a problematic trend of theorizing blacks as not adequately or seriously invested in ecological and environmental issues. 16 Kimberly Smith explores the perception that blacks have less concern for the environment by expanding what is properly regarded as environmental thought. Smith defines environmental thought as "a set of ideas concerning the relationship between humans and nature, including the norms that ought to govern that relationship" (K. Smith 2004, 268). Smith considers what the erasure of black agrarianism from the civic memory and myths and of the U.S. means in terms of a pervasive (mis)understanding of American blacks not "caring" about the environment or not having a distinct environmental heritage. She studies black agrarianism within 19th century slave narratives as a site for early black environmental thought and a nuanced environmental ethic. The active "forgetting" and erasure of black narratives and relationships to the environment/land obscure the ways in which

_

¹⁶ This is especially repugnant given arguments that black Americans are not "of this land" made by ethnically white Americans who are also not "of this land" in the same sense to the complete misrecognition of American Indians land tenure/presence/existence as well as the context of forced enslavement that brought the majority of African Americans to this territory.

existential/phenomenological experiences (re)create attachments to the world and the environment. In this way, the privileges of white settler Americans dictates the environmentalism viewed as mainstream in ways that are not attentive to or respective of the varied experiences of black Americans as formerly enslaved peoples in the US. This social injustice serves as a barrier to a relationship to the land that most white Americans take for granted and why many times environmental concern for black Americans is coded differently, largely as civil rights' issues. These mainstream constructions based on racist, sexist, and classist logics also cannot track or make legible the ways in which black Americans are constantly negotiating environmental spaces or environmental issues within their communities informed by environmental ways of knowing, heritages, and identities. Additionally, the lack of landed status of enslaved Africans, their descendants, and later freed African Americans, despite promises of property with the abolition of slavery, (a promise entirely predicated on the oppression and theft of land from Indigenous peoples) constitutes a unique positionality of African Americans generally within the US body politic.

Relevant to discussions of "citizenship" and political agency are the varying histories and narratives of "incorporation" to the body politic/nation state of the US; the historical context by which Africans were brought to the US matters. It matters because Africans did not come of their own volition as settlers, but were brought forcibly and enslaved. That is the nature of their introduction to what we refer to as the US. In order to justify the unjustifiable, or continued multi-generational enslavement of Africans and later African Americans, there had to be a construction of a fundamental difference between whites and blacks. We can see this is in the construction of the concept of "citizen." Before the contemporary understanding of legal citizen, notions of belonging and unbelonging pervaded what it meant to be a citizen of a place. This was

clearly because actually existing within the geopolitical "borders" of a nation-state should not have been sufficient to legal citizenship or else slaves would have to had been considered citizens in this regard. Owning land as an avenue to citizenship was obviously foreclosed to slaves. Similarly, notions that what made land one's property was working the land or mixing the physical earth with one's labor were not extended to the slave labor performed by Africans and their descendants in the US (Locke 2011a). Thereby the very nature of the context that brought Africans to be enslaved in this country also became the condition by which they were excluded from the rights and protections of legal enfranchisement.

The "exceptionalism" of blackness, then, becomes an exception to the rule of good(s): citizenship, enfranchisement, freedom, property, bodily integrity, safety, belonging, and so on. Tillet explores the erasure of black presence from civic myths that determine what it means to be American and of America. This erasure and active forgetting is political because should it be successful and unquestioned, then the current context of racial injustice in the U.S. becomes a feature of blackness and not importantly a consequence of white supremacy, settler colonialism, and massive historical oppressions. To draw this comparison out to environmental injustices, the disproportionate overburdening of black communities with environmental hazards and risks also becomes a coincident of blackness and not a premeditated construction of black undesirability by a racist state. The connections and inter-imbrications of social, political, and environmental harms instantiate harmful relations that impede reconciliation and must be addressed in order to bring about right relations for black Americans within the US.

It is necessary to acknowledge and analyze here the ways in which the structures of racebased enslavement and settler colonialism co-constituted and supported each other in highly gendered ways. I have relied on generalized constructions of marginalization and vulnerability within black American communities, but I have not attended to the ways in which gender creates hyper-marginality and hyper-vulnerable positions for women within these communities, especially black women. Tiffany King's In the Clearing: Black Female Bodies, Space and Settler Colonial Landscapes, examines black female bodies as sites where the projects of settler colonialism and slavery intersect. The need for space within the project of settlement (settler colonialism) created a concomitant need for bodies (slavery) to "clear" and maintain, that space, which required and produced the "black female slavery body as a unit of unending property" (King 2013, abstract). "Clearing" required both the genocide of Native Bodies and the selfactualization of settlers through the creation of land and bodies (brown and black) as property. Both of these structures support each other, then, in the production of *space*/clearing that allow the settler to inhabit that space and self-actualize their identities as inhabitants/citizens of this space...the US. In this way, the construction of bodies as property was as integral to the spacemaking project of settler colonialism as literal land theft/land clearing. King states: "Settlement is redefined as a space producing and subject producing act that is always happening in relation to the self-actualization of the Settler, the death of the Native and the negation of the Slave" (King 2013, 28). It is important to keep this triad in mind in the formation of what we call the US precisely because projects of settlement and enslavement were related to the production of a space primarily for and of settlers. Natives and slaves were never viewed as persons within these projects only as means to the end of the self-actualization of settlers through the expansion, settlement, and domination of land and bodies as property. They were never meant to be incorporated as citizens in any real way because that would require the status of settler that was reserved for ethnically European occupiers of the US. In this way, theorizations of the construction of the US as a settler state, which are "often overdetermined by Native and White

bodies, and spaces, is also a spatial practice that requires the production of Black bodies" (King 2013, 17). The US still requires and relies on the production of black bodies, particularly black female bodies, as property and sites of domination directly foreclosing the possibility and desire for the reconciliation of black Americans as citizens and full civic members of society. The ongoing murder of black women within the US can be understood as an ongoing project of settler colonialism and slavery attempting to assert territorial control and space-making through the instrumental use and elimination of black female bodies. The particular gendered hierarchies that accompanied both slavery and settler colonialism work together to ensure the hypermarginalization and oppression of black and Native women¹⁷ specifically, which can also be seen in the lack of visibility of black and brown women in mainstream environmental movements despite their presence, as well as their erasure from environmental histories and heritages.

The erasure of black American agrarianism as well as relationships to land within rural contexts is important precisely because of the importance land and relationships to land has to notions of belonging, membership, and political agency. The incorporation of African slaves within the US body politic as property meant that their relationship to land was a property-to-property relationship in the eyes of the state and their masters. The transition from enslavement to "freedom" (abolition of slavery) did not in fact confer the status of citizenship to freed slaves or those still enslaved. After the Union victory in the Civil War, populations of nearly four million slaves were freed and conferred a new and ambiguous status within the US body politic (Baptist 2014; Sinha 2016). The "forty acres and a mule" policy was proposed as a way to

_

¹⁷ The continued disappearance and murder of Native women within the US and Canada also illustrates the ongoing project of settler colonialism and view of the elimination of the Native as necessary to the ongoing assertions of US and Canadian sovereignty.

incorporate former slaves as landed individuals in the US and existed as an attempt to "peacefully" incorporate former slaves into US society. These lands were confiscated and/or "abandoned" by confederate populations (these lands were stolen from Native Americans in the first place). This policy and even the provisions of the Freedmen's Bureau disappeared as the US reneged on its commitments to help "settle" formerly enslaved blacks in the US¹⁸ (Berlin et al. 1992; Foner and Hahn 2007; Glymph 2008; Hahn 2005).

These histories and narratives are important to understanding the ways in which current race relations and attacks upon black personhood (especially black womanhood) persist. The erasure of these social, political, existential and ecological histories and narratives aids in foreclosing the possibility of understanding how current political and ecological realities are related and imbued with historical turmoil. It also points to the fact that reconciliation is necessary for addressing the injustices that continue to happen. Viewing black populations as primarily urban is inaccurate and erases the long and continuous history of black agrarianism and relationships to land that fall outside of the provincial urban/rural distinction. It erases the history of slavery, migration, broken promises, genocide, indigenous land theft, and so many others that mark and constitute the moral, imaginative, and physical landscape of the US. Black Americans still long for belonging, they long to be; to be heard and acknowledged, to have their histories honored and addressed as integral to the fabric of this nation, and to not be the place holders or vessels of racial hatred, refuse, environmental destruction, and much more.

In this way, we see how non-dominative environmental identities and heritages are discriminated against and sacrificed up to the dominating societal conception of the environment

_

¹⁸ Primarily because former confederate landholders began to terrorize black agricultural towns/communities when they came back to "claim" their land.

as a resource base, as property. Environmental identities and heritages that contest this narrative are subjugated and made invisible in order for the fundamental disrespect of those ideas to be enfolded into the status quo. So, the ways in which we use and view the environment or participate in environmental relations is fundamentally political and requires reconciliation. Our ecological relations inform the structure of our environmental identities and heritages. "The environmental justice paradigm calls us to recognize that environmental practices, values, and politics have serious repercussions; in order to anticipate, understand, and ameliorate theses repercussions, environmental consciousness must be transformed so that we promote justice for both ecologies *and* communities instead of framing the two goals as irreconcilable" (Figueroa 2006, 374).

4.3 Case Study: "The Flint Water Crisis"

As the previous sections have illustrated, the environment cannot be disentangled from projects of reconciliation and achieving the goals of political agency that underserved communities seek. The articulation, acceptance, and respect of black communities' environmental heritages and identities are integral to the creation of right relations through the goods of citizenship, civic membership, political agency, and national belonging. This section will examine the Flint Water Crisis as a case indicative of the dangers of harmful relations stemming from the erasure of the importance of relationships to the environment from the purview of political realities.

In April 2014, the city of Flint, Michigan—under the emergency management of Darnell Earley (appointed by Governor Rick Snyder) and advisement of the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality—switched water sources from the lake Huron water source, serviced

through the city of Detroit's water treatment infrastructure, to the local water source of the Flint River. The Flint River is a historically, well-known polluted river due to the plethora of industrial polluters from Flint's booming industrial peak. The river has been the site of industrial runoff, illegal dumping, and pollution from automotive factories and factories contingent to automotive production (e.g. paint factories, part factories, chemical factories, etc.) for nearly 80 consecutive years (Rosner 2016). The switch to Flint River water was regarded as a temporary switch while another pipeline was being constructed to access Lake Huron water and Flint's multi-decade contractual dependency of the Detroit Water Sewage Department. The river water was so highly contaminated that it required intensive and excessive chemical treatment. However, without additional corrosion control measures, the water corroded the existing pipes within the city's water infrastructure causing metals such as lead and others to leach into the drinking water servicing Flint's residents (Davis et al. 2016).

Flint is a city that is nearly 60% African American, where approximately 40% of people live below the poverty line. The affluence of Flint's automotive industrial boom receded when major industrial manufacturers withdrew from the area, while the ramifications of the externalities required to create that industrial affluence and production remain. Indeed the history of Flint, and many other post-industrial cities such as Detroit, tracks a narrative of disempowerment at the hands of both industrial polluters and government intervention. The Environmental Protection Agency dismisses or rejects the majority of administrative complaints and an investigation conducted by the Center for Public Integrity found that out of "nearly 300 complaints filed by communities of color, the EPA has never once made a formal finding of a civil rights violation" (Cha 2016). There are a confluence of factors at many levels of government and management that have led to the events Flint currently faces, not least of all the

problematic, paternalistic, and entirely undemocratic policy of the Michigan Emergency Manager Law. Public Act 436 has been deployed primarily in majority African American, economically struggling, post-industrial cities (Carrera 2016). However, the hyper vulnerability and lack of regard for communities such as Flint and Detroit is foremost an issue of injustice levied on people we count as outside the bounds of proper civic membership and environmental concern.

The Flint Water Advisory Task Force Final Report, commissioned by Governor Snyder and completed in February 2016 states:

The facts of the Flint water crisis lead us to the inescapable conclusion that this is a case of environmental injustice. Flint residents, who are majority Black or African American and among the most impoverished of any metropolitan area in the United States, did not enjoy the same degree of protection from environmental and health hazards as that provided to other communities. Moreover, by virtue of their being subject to emergency management, Flint residents were not provided equal access to, and meaningful involvement in, the government decision-making process (Davis et al. 2016, 54).

Here we see the classic features of a case of clear environmental justice. Following environmental racism, Flint was designated, as a site for commercial hazardous sites due to is racial and socio-economic makeup. Protections or safety provisions were never in place, but were seen as unproblematic during Flint's industrial affluence, but the exodus of capital after the auto industry tanked left the residents of Flint impoverished via lack of municipal services as well as dealing with the legacy of pollution from industrialization. Worst of all, after being left to fend for themselves amidst rampant environmental destruction and danger, the invocation of the Public Act 468 (Emergency Manager Law) effectively stripped Flint residents' of its access and ability to participate in government decision making procedures. The Flint case directly illustrates the ways in which constructions of black Americans, especially poor blacks in urban, post-industrial areas, as disposable in terms of environmental quality and regard are directly tied

to political agency and citizenship. As the task force report's clearly identities, race was a determining factor in the entirely preventable tragedy of a city's water supply. The fact that the community of Flint was further disempowered by having their democratic decision making power as citizens stripped by their own government is unconscionable.

The context in which the decisions were made for the switch to the Flint River as a primary water supply for the city matters. Both Detroit and Flint were under emergency management during the "negotiations" leading up to the switching of water supplies. Public Act 436¹⁹ that establishes Emergency Management procedure in the state of Michigan is one of the strictest and most undemocratic in the US. An Emergency Manger is appointed when the Governor deems it necessary during a municipal financial emergency. The law has historically been voted down by referendum by the citizens of Michigan, only to be modified, made into law again, and amended to disallow it to come up to vote by referendum any further. Public Act 436 allows the Governor of Michigan to select and appoint one person as Emergency Manager to make any and all decisions for an entire municipality and this person is only accountable to one other person, the Governor who appointed him/her. Throughout Public Law 436's various iterations, it has been used 77% of the time in cities that are majority African American (Carrera 2016). Factually, it can be argued that the Emergency Management law is undemocratic by a variety of metrics. First, since it has been prohibited from being voted down by the citizens of Michigan further, democratic checks on gubernatorial power have been effectively removed. Next, citizens of municipalities under emergency management are unable to have any say in decisions that directly affect them (and in the Flint case any input into decisions that directly

-

¹⁹ This law was initially enacted in 1988, and the number has changed as it has been passed numerous times with the content, which empowers emergency management in financially distressed municipalities remaining the same. PA 436 carries the additional provision that it cannot be voted down by referendum by Michigan residents.

aversely affected their physical, psychological, and emotional existence). Finally, it is applied in a predatory fashion to relinquish control and power from local governmental and community structures in places with a history of mismanagement, discrimination, segregation, and abandonment by the state of Michigan and the US.

In many ways the Flint Water Crisis was foreseeable and preventable but the vehicle of the discriminatory and predatory emergency management directly elided community's input, voices, and refusal. In fact, after the water source switch, community members voiced urgent concerns about the water quality and direct adverse effects on their health (Davis et al. 2016). These concerns were entirely ignored and unaddressed further affirming that Flint as a community of people did not matter. Negotiations about the switch never amounted to a conclusive decision to change water sources and the decision to make this change was entirely decided and enacted by Flint's Emergency Manager (Davis et al. 2016). The lack of response on the part of the Michigan government headed by Governor Snyder is indicative of a trend of ignoring the environmental injustice in poor, communities of color. The logics of domination present in this case most definitely factored into the ignoring and silencing of citizens of Flint's direct voicing of disaster. If we live in a society where black Americans are always already political others we never wish to integrate or incorporate in any real means (evinced by the patently obvious urban segregation of Flint years in the making), then why should we care or listen to their direct testimony of being poisoned by the state of Michigan (Highsmith 2015)?

The stereotypical construction of African Americans largely as urban dwelling populations is already an elimination of the agricultural and environmental histories African Americans have, while also ignoring the migrations and violence black agricultural workers faced due to the logics of a white supremacist state (Wilkerson 2011). The predatory and

disproportionate practice of placing commercial toxic waste facilities in communities of color is well-documented and relies on a fundamental discounting of those communities' identities and well-being (Commission for Racial Justice 1987). The "Flint Water Crisis" as it is so euphemistically called is not an accident or natural disaster (even though Governor Rick Snyder applied more than once for funds from the Federal Emergency Management Agency and was denied), rather, it is the quite linear, logical conclusion of policy, leadership, and design that will sacrifice the means of people, integrity, ethics to the altar of capitalistic affluence (Nann Burke 2016). We reserve the most perverse environmental degradation and human rights violations such as undrinkable, poisoned water and polluted, noxious air to the segments of society most vulnerable to these externalities and farthest from our regard. Is it really such a coincidence that descendants of slaves whom the US has never gone out of its way to acknowledge, apologize to, offer reparations to, are still reaping the ills of a state that refuses to confront that history? Is it abject circumstance that allows those least able to financially combat externalities of industrial pollution to remain trapped in cities abandoned by all others who had the resources to leave?

What happened in Flint is a symptom of the much larger racist, classist, sexist, logics of a white supremacist settler state that erases non-dominative histories, heritages, identities, and environmental relations of the already socially/politically marginalized to such a point that they are not viewed as humans let alone citizens, civic members, or political agents. As a symptom of this larger problem, reconciliation is required not only in Flint, but in the US generally otherwise there will be many more Flints, Detroits, Greensboros, Norcos, Kettleman Citys. The environment cannot be disentangled from these problems or kept out of these solutions. As shown in this chapter, connection, relation, and inhabitation of place/land all inform aspirations

to political agency, citizenship and the establishment of trust necessary for reconciliation that is so desperately needed in the US.

In this chapter, I have explored the historical context through which environmental justice as a movement and a discipline came about. Through an examination of environmental racism and discriminatory biocentrism, I have argued that environmental justice was established largely as a way to move past the limitations of an exclusive environmental movement that only focused on the lifeways of the privileged people who created it. This prompted an investigation into how environmental identities and environmental heritages of certain groups are discounted and erased from environmental histories in an attempt to establish the mainstream (white/settler) environmental histories as objective and normative. By examining the various environmental histories and identities of African Americans and their oft-unacknowledged contributions to the history of the US, I argued that the obscuring of African Americans' narratives is directly related to their marginal and oppressed status within the body politic arguing that the environment and relations to the environment are inextricable from social and political projects and the process of reconciliation. Finally, I examined the logic of the political and environmental disregard for African Americans through the case study of the Flint Water Crisis in which we witness the confluence of political/ecological harms resulting in disaster. The interaction and influence of political and ecological marginality have been stressed and illustrated through this chapter to ultimately support an integrative starting place when it comes to theorizing environmental harm as inherently political and prompting similarly integrated processes of reconciliation. The construction of environments and those within those environments as disposable, outside of national regard directly relates to marginalized and vulnerable communities' construction as political others and civic strangers deserving of environmental injustice. The erasure of black

American communities' environmental heritages and identities is part of the process of keeping them in positions of marginality and oppression. These patterns are not unrelated and coincidental, but rather well worn pathways meant to paint unjust and dominative state practices against poor, people of color as objective, unquestionable, and an unproblematic feature of these marginalized communities' identities.

Chapter 5: Indigenous Environmental Ethics

"Don't admire what you perceive as our stoicism or spirituality—work for our lives to continue in our own Ways. Despite the books which still appear, even in radical bookstores, we are not Vanishing Americans" (Chrystos 1988).

As argued in chapter four, the environment and ecological relations are integral to the construction of reconciliatory processes that aim to build political agency and trust among the marginalized communities affected by social, political, and environmental harm at the hands of the state. This chapter will support this thesis through exploring the ways in which Indigenous cosmologies, epistemologies, and knowledges inform particular methods of analyzing harm and reconciliation. Essential to this analysis is the Indigenous emphasis on the harmful effects of settler colonialism on Indigenous lands, ecosystems, and peoples. In this way, reconciliation always requires the instantiation of right relations with the land, which is inextricable from political structures and realities. Section I analyzes the disruptions to Indigenous systems (physical, epistemological, ecological, spiritual) and lifeways that were interrupted and displaced through "Contact" and settler colonialism. Section II examines the danger of dominant epistemological systems uprooting and erasing Indigenous ones in the form of reconciliatory processes that rely on specific testimonial exchanges as the primary basis for evidence of wrongdoing. This section also explores the importance of the emotional space of theory as articulated by Dian Million, which is necessary for addressing the excessive trauma and lived experience of Indigenous histories with settler states. Section III studies the essential role and place of land, Creation, and relationality to the existence and flourishing of Indigenous communities as well as their primary roles in reconciliatory processes. Section IV explores Indigenous/settler co-management practices as sites of reconciliation that incorporate,

acknowledge, and honor Indigenous peoples and their epistemological systems, traditions, and lifeways. This section also examines the practical applications of Indigenous-centered forms of reconciliation through the sturgeon and Sinkyone case studies touched upon briefly in chapters two and three.

In the current context of environmental degradation, political turmoil, and the exponential growth of problems stemming from anthropogenic climate change, there is a marked increase in the search for solutions external to the paradigm that created these realities. One such route of exploration involves the engagement of Indigenous cosmologies and philosophies as sites for different ethical attitudes and interactions with the environment/world. While this is, at face value, not an inherently problematic practice, increasingly engagement with the cosmologies and philosophies of Indigenous peoples is pervaded by the same spirit of coloniality that has not only physically and geographically marginalized Indigenous peoples, but that has also relegated their lifeways and worldviews to the periphery of intellectual regard. This has resulted and continues to result in the prevalent and unacceptable practice of Indigenous knowledges and lifeways being coopted by dominant discourse, especially in academia, and branded as original material through its appearance in scholarship by privileged persons. It is my intent in this chapter to provide an overview of salient aspects of Indigenous knowledge systems and ways of knowing as an avenue to understanding our current context through the thoughtful engagement of these ideas with full credit and authorship given. In this way, these ideas will not be presented as new, but rather as a return necessary for reconciliation within and among human and environmental communities.

Given that the initial problem this dissertation takes up is the untenable bifurcation of political relations and ecological relations as it presents in both how we analyze harm and how we construct solutions, this chapter revisits Indigenous cosmologies and lifeways as a space of

theorization and practice where political relations and ecological relations are wedded. In this way, Indigenous cosmologies and lifeways offer a different path to the dominative, colonial relations that were forcibly and violently imposed upon Indigenous peoples and the Earth. These colonial forms of dominance and violence paved over, but did not completely erase (not through lack of effort) different ways of relating to the world. Given that Indigenous peoples possessed and continue to possess rich cultural traditions, lifeways, epistemological systems, ways of knowing, and rich cosmologies, this chapter will analyze the ways in which the forcible displacement of these relations and replacement of them with colonial, dominant systems was the primary mode through which settler power was and is articulated, which also contributes to the staying power of coloniality (Tuck and Yang 2012; Whyte 2016a). What is important to note throughout the analysis of this chapter, however, is that the very recognition of Indigenous lifeways and cosmologies was necessary and integral to the negation of these ways of thinking and practices by colonial powers. This recognition and then non-recognition or mis-recognition betrays a fundamental acknowledgement of the ways in which political relations and ecological relations are related and deeply inform how we exist and navigate the world, whether recognized correctly or recognized incorrectly. The practice of settler colonialism is deeply physical and the analysis of the ways in which physical domination and destruction of the environment is indicative of the practice of the construction of settlers and settler states reveals the irreducible nature of environment/land as a locus of harm and fundamental site of reconciliation. Thus, reconciliation can never be just the restoration of either political relations or ecological relations, but must be *both*.

5.1 Coloniality, Time, and Spatiality

The prioritizing of Indigenous theorizing illustrates that a major barrier to reconciliation within settler states is the ongoing physical effects of settler colonialism on land and ecosystems. With the initiation of "contact" largely memorialized as the arrival of Christopher Columbus to the "New World" (the Americas) in 1492, Europe expanded its geographical and territorial reach to lands conceptualized and referred to as "new." However, this categorization of newness was only extended to these unknown (to Europeans) lands in an attempt to expand the territorial reach and physical space of particular European powers. This was part of the spatial ideology and domination of the colonial project and marked a reconceptualization of the world as a system of parts in relation to other parts. Walter Mignolo discusses the perspectival shift that accompanied cartographies of the "New" world (Mignolo 1997). Earlier maps depicting geopolitical territories centralized the physical place commissioning and making the actual map. For example, if Spain were making the map, Spain would be featured prominently in terms of landmass and centralized location in relation to other known territories. Here, we can see how projects of cartography and boundedness or closedness directly correlate to articulations of power or dominance whether imaginative or actual. In this way, projects of colonial dominance and articulations of colonial power were always concerned with land and relationships to land. This process of colonial mapping also attempted to obscure Indigenous peoples' understandings of their lands and relationships to their lands and territories.

With the "discovery" of the "New" world, maps fundamentally changed since they had to account for the space of previously unknown geographical territories and the new spatial relationality and aimed for accuracy (perhaps over propaganda) for those "explorers" interested in reaching these new lands. This rearticulation brought the Eurocentric perspective into question

because subjective renderings of Europe as the center of the world/map were no longer accurate or objective. Since, physical space no longer afforded the centrality necessary to Eurocentric perspectives, ideologies were developed to compensate. Thus, other logics were developed to ensure the centralization of Europe and to keep Eurocentrism, as a locus and enunciation of power, intact (Quijano 2008; Mignolo 2008).

This ideology required the production as well as maintenance of two founding and contradictory myths to support it (within the face of the spatial decentering and reorientation of Europe): "first, the idea of the history of human civilization as a trajectory that departed from a state of nature and culminated in Europe; second a view of the differences between Europe and non-Europe as natural (racial) differences and not consequences of a history of power" (Quijano 2008, 190). Within Eurocentric ideology, time and progress are imagined and articulated as linear trajectories infused with hierarchies colored by both moral and power differentials. This allows for the contradictory pronouncement that peoples of the "New" world and non-Europe are both inferior and chronologically in the past. It is important to note that each of these myths are necessary to the coloniality of power because just relying on the chronological backwardness of non-Europe is insufficient in a logic where progress is measured linearly. If non-Europe is simply behind Europe in terms of chronological time or linear progression, then surely non-Europe could catch up, as it were. To combat the rationality of this occurrence, the myth of inferiority had to accompany chronological deficits to ensure that it was never possible under any circumstance that non-Europe could be considered on relatively equal footing or regard to Europe.

The new identity also involved their [non-Europe's] relocation in the historical time constituted with America first and with Europe later: from then on, they were the past. In other words, the model of power based on coloniality also involved a cognitive model, a

new perspective of knowledge within which non-Europe was the past and, because of that, inferior, if not always primitive (Quijano 2008, 200).

This has implications not only for the interaction of European/colonial powers with the Indigenous populations of the American continents, but also importantly points out the physical and conceptual/epistemological process of colonialism. This constitutes one avenue of understanding why Indigenous knowledge(s) are overlooked, stolen, re-appropriated, and then recast as "New" in neocolonial discourse.

The concept and practice of mapping and relationality will be integral in understanding the consequences of "Contact" both for Indigenous populations and as sites of harmful interaction between Indigenous peoples and settlers. As mentioned above, the act of mapping is essential not only to articulating spatial ideologies and understanding the world, but also constitutes a cognitive/epistemological process through which we attempt to comprehend the world and our relationships to the world as well as others in the world. The prominence of colonial maps and closed/bounded spatial ideologies was integral in not only erasing or paving over unique Indigenous understandings and articulations of land, space, territory, and relations to all of these, but also encourages understandings of land as object, property, and parcel.

Settler Colonialism

Another theoretical practice that obscures the extent of harm done to Indigenous communities is the tendency of postcolonial studies to focus on types of settlement and colonization that view colonialism as a thing of the past. This often leads to the study of settler colonialism that directly affects and includes Indigenous peoples to be under theorized. Settler colonialism combines both external forms of colonialism and internal forms of colonialism that resist the ability to argue that it is a past event. External colonialism "often requires a subset of

activities properly called military colonialism—the creation of war fronts, frontiers against enemies to be conquered and the enlistment of foreign land, resources and people into military operations" (Tuck and Yang 2012, 4). Within external colonialism, "all things Native become recast as 'natural resources'—bodies and earth for war, bodies and earth for chattel" (Tuck and Yang 2012, 4). Internal colonialism is the" biopolitical and geopolitical management of people, land, flora and fauna within the "domestic" borders of the imperial nation" (Tuck and Yang 2012, 4 emphasis mine). Both external and internal forms of colonialism found within the structure of settler colonial projects require drastic consequences on land and ecosystems and consequently Indigenous peoples' well being, heritages, and identities as related to those spaces.

The especially pernicious nature of settler colonialism is that in settlers' quest for new territories, it invokes in the wholesale and continuous displacement and erasure of not only Indigenous land tenure, but also the entire historical/social/political structures that are bound up in those people's relationship to that landscape. This is what Patrick Wolfe refers to as the "elimination of the native," which is one of settler colonialism's main aims. "Whatever settlers may say—and they generally have a lot of say—the primary motive for elimination is not race (or religion, ethnicity, grade of civilization, etc.) but access to territory. Territoriality is settler colonialism's specific, irreducible element" (Wolfe 2006, 388). In this way, "settler colonialism is a structure not an event" (Wolfe 2006, 388). Settler colonialism is a structure by virtue of the fact that it is constantly working to establish and re-establish itself. Part of this is done through a mythical narrative of how the settler state comes into being and subsequent erasure of the facts that directly contradict and disprove this "creation story." This involves a strange double movement in which "settler society required the practical elimination of the natives in order to establish itself on their territory. On the other symbolic level, however, settler society

subsequently sought to recuperate indigeneity in order to express its difference—and, accordingly, its independence—from the mother country" (Wolfe 2006, 389). So the entire project of settlement requires the displacement and elimination of the Indigenous populations and societies to the end of establishing settlers, foreigners, and invaders as the actual indigenous sovereigns.

Fundamental to the ongoing project of settler colonialism is the land, but a key misunderstanding of land is deployed when settler colonialism is attempted to be understood (mistakenly) as an event and a not a structure. "[L]and/water/air/subterranean earth," are all things land is, but it does not exhaust all the things land *means* (Tuck and Yang 2012, 5). Settler colonialism is primarily motivated by land and specific settler conceptions of what land is and what/who it functions for. "Land is what is most valuable, contested, required. This is both because the settlers make Indigenous land their new home and source of capital, and also because the disruption of Indigenous relationships to land represents profound epistemic, ontological, cosmological violence" (Tuck and Yang 2012, 5). Yet again, it is clear that the political relations of settler colonialism cannot be divorced from the ecological relations it aims to promote. Indigenous relationships to land affect and deeply constitute their epistemic, ontological, and cosmological systems/relations in ways that are directly threatened and harmed by land theft, relocation, and illegalization of lifeways through the violent inscription of settler systems.

In the process of settler colonialism, land is remade into property and human relationships to land are restricted to the relationship of the owner to his property. Epistemological, ontological, and cosmological relations to land are interred, indeed made pre-modern and backward. Made savage (Tuck and Yang 2012, 5).

The domination of the property relationship ascribed by settler systems fundamentally makes impossible, undesirable, and eventually illegal Indigenous ways of relating to the land outside of this ascription.

In articulating how injurious and unjust settler colonial articulations and understandings of land are to the existence of flourishing of many Indigenous peoples, Kyle Whyte states:

[I]njustice also occurs when the social institutions of one society systematically erase certain socioecological contexts, or horizons, that are vital for members of another society to experience themselves in the world as having responsibilities to other humans, nonhumans and the environment. Injustice, here, involves one society robbing another society of its capacities to experience the world as a place of collective life that its members feel responsible for maintaining into the future (Whyte 2016b, 178).

Thus one of the most pervasive harms of settler colonialism is that it severely hinders or makes impossible the ability of many Indigenous peoples to practice their responsibilities and relations to land and ecosystems. The erasure of these socioecological horizons is directly related to the serious harm of foreclosing the possibility of Indigenous peoples' practices that are guided by their ways of knowing, relations, and responsibilities. It fundamentally disrupts and harms their way of being in the world, which is deeply related to their heritages and identities, as well as being who they are.

Now that settler systems have run aground with the myriad political and ecological crises they have created, we see a return to relations outside of the dominant property relationship to land proposed by settler societies. However, as mentioned earlier oftentimes this practice of return is carried out in an equally colonial manner where once again Indigenous systems are co-opted as settlers' perpetuating the production of settler colonialism. The entire quest of settler colonialism is bound up in a territorial/physical and epistemological, social, and political nexus. All the parts are necessary for reproducing the fiction that the settler society is real and justified.

Hence, why epistemological projects of research also exhibit this settler appropriation, domination, and move to establish settler indigeneity. Citing and acknowledging the presence, existence, and epistemologies of Indigenous peoples within the context of settler colonialism directly unsettles the charade of settlement.

Similarly, projects of mapping are directly related not only to the practice and constant reproduction of settler identities and society, but also how cartography frames the way we think about the places we inhabit and our relationships to them. Indeed, the very concept and process of mapping asserts a knowledge base or attempt at knowing a space or the world in which we dwell. The imposition of boundaries and actual or imaginary borders establish and extend the impositions as well as ideologies of closed, bounded spatial areas. They also attempt to express or track settler social institutions and socioecological contexts, which directly support settler flourishing and erase Indigenous ones. Mishauna Goeman explores the ways in which the spatial policies effect the cognitive mapping of Native lands and bodies with the goal of developing strategies to "uproot settler maps that drive our [Native] everyday materiality and realities" (Goeman 2009, 170). In particular, the way in which settler maps present territories as closed and spatially/temporally bounded is a yet another attempt to settle and reify settler colonial relations and support claims to settler indigeneity. Even the way in which settlers employ language to speak about bounded territories works to reinforce settler belonging: "the tribes in the state of Michigan," betrays an understanding of Indigenous presence and sovereignty as beholden to the state and found within the settler logic of statehood. A more accurate way to communicate that statement would be to say, "the tribes *surrounded* by the state of Michigan." This phrasing acknowledges that the state of affairs is not neutral and resists the attempt to enfold Indigenous populations into the settler logic of bounded and closed spatiality, although it does not

completely escape those logics. Language and epistemology have power to uphold and resist the ways in which we think about the spaces we find ourselves in, our relationships to those spaces, and the possibilities of experiencing the world in culturally important/appropriate ways.

5.2 The Danger of Testimony and Epistemic Violence

This section will focus on the problematic nature of testimonial exchanges and epistemic violence within settler states involving Indigenous peoples. One of the contextual conditions that render apologies and testimonies problematic is the ever-present settler construction of land and ecosystems, which is directly related to the marginalization and oppression of Indigenous peoples. What I mean by this is that these testimonies and apologies are still operating within the settler colonial constructions of land as being divorced or irrelevant to the status of Indigenous peoples as carried out by the state. These testimonies and apologies, in order to be legible and accepted by settler states must be performed in ways that map onto settler social/legal/political institutions, which are fundamentally developed based on an understanding of land/ecosystems directly harmful and unjust to Indigenous peoples and Indigenous sovereignty (Turner 2006).

When we think about the socio-historical context that produces and contributes to the harmful situations requiring reconciliation, it is easy to be tempted to focus primarily on a "factual" accounting of the injustices. However, as evinced from the work done on trauma and disaster, the testimonial and epistemological limits of expression or representation of these situations are challenging (Agamben 2002; Blanchot 1995). Since many of the protocols used within the Truth and Reconciliation models for healing and repair rely explicitly on testimony, it is necessary to examine the ways in which certain testimonial practices and procedures can act as a site of harm as well as healing. Within the context of settler colonialism, in this instance, it is

critical to examine whether the processes advocated for within the journey of healing are not also vestiges of a deeper and now normative coloniality.

Often in dominant Western/settler epistemological systems, testimony is conceptualized in a very particular way, especially where testimony is being relied upon to try to determine wrongdoing and blame. We can think about these instances of testimony as juridical interpretations of testimony (Walton 2007). These interpretations of testimony often rely on a thesis as a guiding principle of what this testimonial exchange is modeled on (Adler 1996; Welbourne 1979; Reynolds 2002; Evans 1982; Audi 1997; Lackey 1999). Jennifer Lackey describes the transmission thesis as the process through which "knowledge is acquired through testimony when speakers transmit their beliefs, along with the epistemic properties such beliefs possess to their corresponding hearers" (Lackey 2008, 1). She also analogizes the transmission thesis to a bucket brigade in which water is transmitted and passed from bucket to bucket down the line. This model and analogy assumes that each actor has some water to pass down and that the water ultimately originates from another source (Lackey 2008, 1–2).

Within the context of western/settler epistemological systems that produce testimonial models upon which wrongdoing and harm are tracked, we can look to the transmission thesis as an explanatory model that guides many of the ways (though not all) in which we think about what is happening in formal/state-mandated reconciliatory procedures. These models assume that within testimonial confessions, the speaker is transmitting some content that can be directly translated into proof or evidence of wrongdoing or harm. It also usually assumes that the proof or evidence that testimonial confessions profess track some sort of truth or falsity that is verifiable. There are many valid critiques of the transmission thesis and the corresponding bucket brigade analogy. For one, it assumes that everyone is similarly situated to give and receive water and that

they are also equipped with the properly shaped and maintained buckets to hold and contain that water/knowledge. Another major oversight is the idea that different languages can be translated in seamless ways or that transmission can be perfectly successful even within the same language. By viewing testimony as akin to passing water down the line of the bucket brigade, we ignore the very messy and complicated nature of testimonial exchanges. We disregard the excess that is always present within any testimonial exchange when the "water" of an utterance isn't neatly contained in another's bucket. Utterances frequently outstrip their receptacles because human agents are not buckets designed to collect testimony.

In a fictional novel set in the aftermath of the government mandated and sanctioned massacre of Haitians or those presumed to be Haitians within the Dominican Republic (an actual historical event), Edwidge Danticat expresses the violent and pernicious potential testifying to trauma and disaster can pose. "'I know what will happen,' he said. 'You tell the story, and then it's retold as they wish, written in words you do not understand, in a language that is theirs, and not yours'" (Danticat 246). Within the context of settler colonialism, this concern is especially poignant and relevant as one of the main ways "settlement" is achieved is through the destruction of Indigenous languages and Indigenous peoples' freedom to practice their linguistic traditions. Language and linguistic traditions are essential to Indigenous peoples' cultures, lifeways, and their very ability and desire to relate to the world/creation.

The impetus to tell and say what has happened to one and one's people in the aftermath of systematic, generational trauma is strong, but it is also complicated. The project of settler colonialism at its heart is a project of stripping Indigenous peoples of their capabilities to practice their own lifeways, one of which is their very ability and freedom to practice their own language. Through the recounting of trauma primarily through somewhat public testimony as it

occurs within these Truth and Reconciliation Commission styles of healing, we must be aware of the danger of this revealing. A key aspect of testimonial exchange is examination of the conditions, which make testimony possible. In examining a particular instance of testimony, whether successful or not, it is valuable to investigate the conditions that frame such an exchange. This is important not only for evaluating the success or failure of very mundane acts of interlocution, but also is especially relevant when life-threatening consequences are at stake. In her paper "Tracking Epistemic Violence, Tracking Practices of Silencing," Kristie Dotson offers an account that addresses the practice of epistemic violence as it occurs when hearers exhibit "pernicious ignorance" and are not adequately attuned to meet their speakers' need within a testimonial exchange (Dotson 236).

But a speaker has no direct way to force an audience to "hear" her/him, where direct control would take the form of some kind of mind control. In short, to communicate we all need an audience willing and capable of hearing us. The extent to which entire populations of people can be denied this kind of linguistic reciprocation as a matter of course institutes epistemic violence (Dotson 238).

One could question whether settler audiences are even capable of hearing and accepting the testimony emerging from Truth and Reconciliation Commissions settings when hearing and accepting these testimonial exchanges as valid and true is directly related to the unearthing and delegitimization of their own settler histories, projects, and existences. The translation of testimony and the guidelines by which testimony is considered proof of wrongdoing are set my settler colonial institutions that directly harm and silence Indigenous life ways, ways of knowing, cosmologies, relations to land, and so on. Will these traumatic and vulnerable testimonial pronouncements be heard or fall on the pernicious ignorance Dotson describes, further reinscribing problematic power relations? There is also the potential of the objectification,

othering, and oftentimes re-victimization of those delivering testimony of their pain and suffering due to historical traumas and wrongdoing.

While one of the problems with these models is the perpetrators' ability to hear or listen to victims' testimony, there is also the potential for perpetrators to add their own testimonials in the forms of asking for forgiveness or articulating symbolic apologies. Andrea Smith discusses the problematic nature of confessionals of privilege. The conditions, which allow for the selfreflexivity (and political saving face) that prompt privileged confessionals, such as "I'm sorry," largely work to constitute and affirm the white settler subject over and against the still abject other; these confessionals run the risk (especially when motivated by disingenuous or not immediately transparent reasons) of further reifying the hierarchical relation of perpetrator versus victim, victor versus vanquished, and the like. In this way, the acknowledgement of privilege even within the admission of somewhat abstract wrongdoing, without clear and deliberate actions to interrogate or attempt to dismantle white supremacy and setter colonialism, still function in supporting those structures of oppression Indigenous peoples face (A. Smith 2014, 217). A symbolic and empty apology on its own does nothing to address the structural system and unearned privileges that constantly reaffirm and reconstitute the injustices and traumas that very apology attempts to repair. A meaningful apology would require an understanding that these problems are not just isolated incidents to be "fixed," but rather foreseeable conclusions of unjust structures, which eliminate non-white-settler narratives, histories, and existences and must firmly commit to the work of dismantling these structures.

Integral to the theories of political reconciliation examined in chapter two is the idea of the re-establishment and sometimes, wholesale creation of trust necessary to the work of moving past historical injustices and harms. The examination of the conditions present and also the

conditions necessary for reconciliation require critical attention and discussion. This also requires an analysis of the limits of language and testimony for expressing the deep embodied and felt experiences of these injustices and traumas.

The Emotional Space of Theory

Through the process of researching some of these reconciliation projects, I came across many video testimonials of various First Nations individuals speaking about their experiences within the Indian Residential School System in Canada. The theme of shame is one that surfaced over and over again. First Nations men and women, who were taken as children from their families and put into residential schools, spoke about the intense feelings of shame they felt in not only recalling these experiences, but also in being approached to participate in this project for the purposes of reconciliation. They spoke about the *shame* of reconciliation. They recounted not understanding what was happening to them in these schools and why they were so hated and abused for being who they were: speaking their languages, practicing their traditions, existing as First Nations peoples (Legacy of Hope Foundation 2001). This testimony directly speaks to the dangers of these sort of models of Truth and Reconciliation, while also articulating space for the felt knowledges and the unspeakable yet experienced traumas that occur that cannot and maybe should not be captured by certain dominant epistemological frames and testimonial venues.

In her essay, "Felt Theory: An Indigenous Feminist Approach to Affect and History," Dian Million writes of the danger, vulnerability, and power that emotional and felt knowledges hold within a settler colonial framework of "truth-telling." She writes about how the personal experiences recounted through the sharing of emotional knowledges "changed the actual conditions for what *could be* said about the poverty and discrimination that were their [First

Nations women's] daily fare" (Dian Million 2009, 54). Instead of viewing emotional or felt knowledges as something additional or outside the realm of theory, Million explores how integral personal experiences, especially of First Nations women, is to the process of truth-telling and reconciliation. In trying to understand the paralysis of shame the residential school survivors spoke of in their testimony, Million examines the moral affective power that centering lived/felt experiences can have in transforming the very frameworks that try to further stigmatize and other Native existence. "Native women's personal narrative explored the racialized, gendered, and sexual nature of their colonization. In doing so, they transformed the debilitating force of an old social control, *shame*, into a social change agent in their generation" (Dian Million 2009, 54). As in chapter four, we see the ways in which experiences of oppression and trauma within settler states is highly gendered and often disproportionately affects women for the worse.

Million explores the ways in which what she calls "felt analysis" challenges and also "creates a context for a more complex 'telling,' that illuminates the deeper meaning" of the dominant (in this case Canada's) narrative of what happened within the Indian Residential School System (Dian Million 2009, 54). The very assertion of a lived/emotional sphere of experience within this context directly contradicts the "truths" the state views as valid in terms of evidence and uncovers/makes present a realm of experience that this trauma and record actively attempt to cover over and make unreal. Addressing the power of ownership of their stories, Million references the process of centralizing emotional knowledges and lived experiences as a way in which these Indigenous women "create[ed] a new language for communities to address the real multilayered facets of their histories and concerns" (Dian Million 2009, 54). By making lived experience and emotional knowledges actively present within the remembrance and telling of their own histories, Indigenous women are in many ways expressing the inexpressible, the

truth that in many ways exceeds pure juridical models of testimonial exchange or transmission models of testimonial exchange. By claiming and asserting these emotional and experiential knowledges *as knowledge*, Million points to a condition of existence the project of settler colonialism, and the attempts at elimination of Indigenous peoples, is unable to control or destroy. It is within this space, that the work of Indigenous futurity both resists erasure and expresses itself.

5.3 The Restoration/Reconciliation of Community is Land

[W]e have a lot to offer society. But we have to look at the bad stuff, and what has happened to us, and why....We cannot do this without going through the past, and watching ourselves and analyzing ourselves, because we are carrying a pain that is 400 years old. We're carrying the pain of our fathers, our mothers, our grandfathers, our grandmothers it's part of this land (LaRocque 1993, xxvii).

In mapping the centrality and integral nature of felt/lived experience and emotional knowledges to the remembrance and telling of Indigenous existence, knowledge becomes an embodied practice that is situated and living in the world. The idea that we are embedded in a world of relationships is a guiding Indigenous philosophy. This philosophy and knowledge is not new, but as mentioned above, it was/is often denigrated and obscured by dominant settler society until it becomes beneficial to that same society to "discover" it again and appropriate it. The framing of these dominant theoretical inquiries as "new" is untrue and extremely harmful. It is yet another instance of coloniality that operates to disempower and strip indigeneity from Indigenous people so it can be worn and expressed by settlers. I hope by drawing attention to this phenomenon to bring awareness to the fact that many times the work and ideas of people of color are excluded from mainstream discourse, "discovered" by white scholars, and appropriated/made visible by these same scholars in ways that are transparently colonial and harmful. Excluding Indigenous populations from the realm of knowledge production, and the

land that informs that knowledge, from the story of reconciliation and what it means to be reconciled, perpetuates a system of exclusion and white supremacy that dominant theories of reconciliation proclaim to want to deter.

In *This is Not a Peace Pipe: Towards a Critical Indigenous Philosophy*, Dale Turner explores the ways in which Indigenous knowledges are discounted and disrespected within the context of political interactions between Indigenous peoples and the state of Canada. Turner states:

The key problem of participation arises because most Aboriginal peoples still believe that their ways of understanding the world are, de facto, radically different from Western European ways of understanding the world. These differences raise tension between Aboriginal ways of knowing the world and the legal and political discourses of the state (Turner 2006, 7).

Again we come back to the problem of the "translatability" of epistemological systems and knowledges. Thus the burden of translation or intelligibility is placed upon Indigenous populations when they are continually asked to make their situations and perspectives "intelligible" within the parameters of the legal and political structures/languages of the state. This is further insulting by the consideration that if any epistemological system or structure is *foreign*, it is precisely that of the now "normative" legal/political discourses of the settler Canadian state. Turner elucidates the additional epistemic injustice of this process of burdening and disrespect: "*The fact that our ways or understanding the world are not worthy of equal participation in a dialogue over the meaning and content of our rights is itself a form of inequality* (Turner 2006, 26, emphasis mine).

Part of the inability of the state to understand or correctly track what true reconciliation between Indigenous peoples and the Canadian government means to both parties is due to the

dismissal of treaty law that allows the state of Canada to assert its sovereignty as more foundational than that of First Nations peoples.

For Aboriginal peoples, the treaties have a normative role in the contemporary relationship because they recognize rights that Aboriginal peoples possess by virtue of their unique political status, not by virtue of shared citizenship. In other words, for many Aboriginal people Aboriginal rights are political rights that predate the formation of the Canadian state, not rights that arise from post-Confederation concept of shared citizenship (Turner 2006, 44).

This passage is essential to understanding that for Indigenous peoples the "sovereignty" of the state of Canada is predicated on a recognition then erasure of Indigenous nations and sovereignties. This erasure is based primarily on the simultaneous ignoring and erasure of the Indigenous cosmologies and philosophy that informed their understandings of treaty agreements and relationships to land, in the first place. A critical distinction between Indigenous and European settler perspectives on land is the difference between ownership of land and belonging of/to land. Indigenous philosophies largely view land in a reciprocal, relational manner such that ideas around land ownership are not the primary way in which land is conceived or experienced. Injustice in many Indigenous communities is tied up with a correct balance of relationships and the existence/maintenance of right relations.

Notions of belonging and relationality permeate Indigenous philosophies and cosmologies. The positioning of relationality as the central node that connects and guides our interactions in the world requires an understanding of the importance of creation. Harm and injustice, then, become the ways in which we are out of balance or badly related to creation and all of our relations amongst creation.

An Anishnaabe understanding of environmental justice considers relationships not only among people but also among *all our relations* (including all living things and our ancestors). Environmental *in*-justice, then, is not only inflicted by dominant society upon

Aboriginal peoples, people of colour, and people in low-income neighbourhoods but also upon Creation itself (McGregor 2009, 28).

This point is fundamental to understanding why and how Indigenous philosophies are positioned differently from other Western paradigms of injustice/harm and reconciliation that rely on the separation of what happens in the "human" world and what happens in the "natural" world. In this case, environmental injustice is not just the harm dominant society inflicts on certain marginal and vulnerable populations, but also the injustices being inflicted upon creation itself. Since creation and everything within it is related and related in a dependent and deep way, harming one part of it affects the entire system and web of relationships. By engaging with this perspective and way of being in the world, we quickly see that models of reconciliation that are not motivated deeply by understanding the ways in which harm is not and cannot be an isolated incident, will not produce long-lasting, effective, or satisfactory suggestions and solutions. Approaching ourselves and the natural world as all a part of creation with dynamic, shifting, and unique gifts and responsibilities to each other motivates a very different way or relating to our shared world; one in which the proposition of relating to the world as a commodity or pure resource would already be framed as an incorrect and immoral way of being and way of understanding.

It is important to think about how our orientation to ourselves and to all the beings of the world and the land changes when we conceptualize justice as a way of honoring our obligations and gifts. In this way, our relationship to the earth, to the land, to creation involves honoring and listening to the duties and obligations present in maintaining those relationships. We must practice honoring the gifts we bring and that other beings bring to living in an authentic and healthy way within the world (Wall Kimmerer 2016). This understanding also changes the ways in which we view the historical context and spirit in which treaties and agreements were entered

by many Indigenous nations and peoples. "The treaty position, in its various forms, takes the political stance that the treaties represent not only binding political agreements but also *sacred* agreements, and that to violate them is morally reprehensible in a political relationship between nations" (Turner 2006, 28). The fundamental and deep disrespect Indigenous peoples have faced at the hands of invading settler states and populations are numerous and nuanced, but the ill will of faux and never honored treaty agreements is surely a central injustice. Not only does this constitute a recognition injustice, as well as a legal and political injustice, but also, as noted in the quote above, betrays a sacred trust. Reneging on treaty agreements carries the additional harm and injustice of upsetting and unbalancing Indigenous peoples' relationships and specific obligations to their communities, their lands, and creation itself. Learning and honoring Indigenous epistemological systems and ways of knowing is crucial not only to respecting their traditions and their ideas crucial to moving forward in a more positive way in our shared world, but also to understanding how certain solutions may be inappropriate and undesirable based on nuanced comprehension of shared and honored knowledges.

5.4 Co-Management Models of Reconciliation

While I have focused largely on the problems of Indigenous cosmologies and philosophies being mined and coopted for their innovative problem solving within our current eco-political crises, there is also revolutionary work being done in the form of co-management and collaboration of settler and Indigenous groups. These exchanges rely on non-dominative ways of relating that require the discomfort of difficult conversations necessary for coalition building and transcultural understanding. In keeping with this chapter's emphasis on reconciliation for Indigenous peoples requiring an accounting and reconciliation of the drastic physical effects of settler colonialism on land and ecosystems, this section will illustrate through

the examination of three case studies (Uluru, Nmé, and Sinkyone) conceptions of reconciliation that focus on the reshaping of land and ecosystems through settler/Indigenous co-management projects.

Robert Figueroa argues that reconciliation for and amongst Aboriginal and Indigenous peoples requires a deep acknowledgement, understanding, homage, and honoring of their traditions, knowledges, and worldviews. Figueroa claims that the damage and harm of injustice are not just about the deprivation of environmental goods, such as clean air. Rather, harm has deep physical, psychological, and existential dimensions and consequences that are far-reaching in terms of time, nature, and severity. Reconciliation, then, as a single, once-and-for-all style or primarily symbolic acknowledgement is insufficient. Aboriginal and Indigenous peoples have been sharing, living, and educating settler populations for hundreds of years mostly to the continued disrespect and oppression of their communities at the hands of settler communities and states. Reconciliatory processes must include and collaborate with Indigenous communities in serious ways that open the space for the possibility of transcultural understanding and practices. Figueroa's conception of harm aims to capture a broader picture of the intricate network that can result from the complicated erasure and imposition of unjust structures (Figueroa and Waitt 2010). One of those unjust structures is settler colonialism's ability to erase and make impossible Indigenous socioecological horizons through which they experience the world (Whyte 2016b).

An example of the kind of solution Figueroa envisions is the reconciliation and healing that occurred at Uluru-Kata Tjuta National Park in Australia. Uluru is a sacred natural site for the Anangu people, and is currently under joint management of the Anangu and white settler Australians. Uluru is a rock that many white settlers wish to climb, which is in direct violation of the Anangu's belief that the rock is not to be climbed. Figueroa states:

Indeed reconciliation is a central discourse for achieving justice between the Aboriginal and settler Australians. Although "working together" had been the purpose of the Joint-Management Committee since 1985, the Park became harnessed onto more explicit politics of reconciliation one year after the 1998 reinvention of National Sorry Day a Journey of Healing, when officials gathered at Uluru as a part of the "People's Apology" to deliver healing message sticks to representatives of the Stolen Generation (Figueroa and Waitt 2010, 142).

Figueroa leaves room for reconciliation politics such as "Sorry Days" or "Sorry Books" but warns that they should not be couched in colonial analysis. Ultimately, he thinks that reconciliation as a process within an environmental justice framework is beneficial because it emphasizes obligations to "local voices, grassroots efforts, and, in this case, the indigenous voices, knowledge, and perspectives for justice" (Figueroa and Waitt 2010, 142). The positive potential of these co-management style reconciliations is that it requires constant and ongoing dialogue about the ways in which spaces and places are used, while at the same time confronting tourists and settlers with the histories they have never learned, or learned and erased/ignored. Imagine the power of confronting dominant settler society and articulating the world from an Aboriginal point of view that the tourists and settlers at Uluru are compelled to consider. For the first time perhaps in their entire lives settlers have to face the knowledges and peoples their dominant epistemological, political, social and legal systems encourage them and reward them for ignoring, erasing, and paying over.

These types of co-management reconciliation projects resist articulations or prescriptions of harm as a single act or event. Rather reconciliation here, allows for the participants to connect nodes of these networks such that they make oppressors aware of the harms done and give voice to the oppressed who have been silenced. This fits in importantly with particular Indigenous political philosophies as well, which stress the unstable nature of relationships due to the natural vulnerabilities of beings among creation. Relationships are living, delicate things that need to be

handled carefully, as evinced in the status agreements and treaties as living notions, which consider how all beings are related to creation. The concept and practice of renewal is essential to Indigenous frameworks on what agreements and treaties require (Turner 2006). This entails revisiting agreements and terms because the centrality of relationality requires an acceptance and acknowledgement of changes in orientation, in growth, and in understandings. The space of comanagement matters because it stresses the difference that exists in how these places are conceived, and how they could be and are related to, by different peoples.

Sinkyone and Sturgeon Restoration Projects

Both the lake sturgeon (Nmé) restoration project and the Sinkyone Intertribal Park project illustrate what projects of reconciliation can look like when transcultural cooperation is done well. In the Nmé restoration project, the state of decreased and struggling Nmé populations is seen not only as the result of improperly balanced relations between Indigenous peoples and ecological systems due to settler colonialism, but also as indicative of a lack of understanding of the ways in which beings in the world are intimately related. The collaboration of tribes (Anishaabek) in the area of the Manistee Water Shed and settlers enables both parties to confront the system of harms that have led to the Nmé's situation and how that situation affects members of each party differently. Restoration in this case is not just about helping the Nmé population to flourish in terms of their population numbers, but also working to restore relationships between people and Nmé, as well as tribes and settlers, such that this problem will not occur again. What I mean by this is that restoring one relationship in what can be viewed as a relatively, singular case (fish population) requires a whole series of other relations and relationships to be made right that fundamentally transforms land and ecosystems at the same time. One of the key aspects of this restoration project was the focus on the Little River Band of Ottawa Indians' relation to Nmé

whom they view as relatives. The nature of this connection to Nmé requires certain sacred responsibilities to Nmé such that simply restoring their populations is beneficial, but not nearly a complete restoration of that relationship. A huge part of what makes the entirety of this restored relationship possible is an understanding and facilitation of the lifeways that make this practice of honoring the Little River Band of Ottawa Indians' responsibilities to Nmé possible. Marty Holtgren states that the goal of the project is to:

[R]estore the harmony and connectivity between Nmé and the Anishinaabek and bring them both back to the river... Bringing the sturgeon back to the river was an obvious biological element; however, restoring harmony between sturgeon and people was steeped in the cultural and social realm. Each meeting began with a ceremony, and the conversation was held over a feast (Holtgren 2013, 136).

Thus in the practice of reconciling communities, when viewed as restoring relations, allows for the healing of political relations *and* ecological relations because it recognizes their relatedness from the outset.

Similarly, the Sinkyone Intertribal Park Project promotes the development of better relations between settler Americans and the Sinkyone Tribe (as well as other tribes in the Pacific Northwest) to restore coastal redwood forests and the ecological systems related to redwood forests. Here the story of "contact" and settler colonialism matters deeply because settler systems erased and replaced Indigenous ones to the barring of Indigenous lifeways and practices. When landscapes are altered in the dramatic ways in which settler colonialism alters them, it is not simply the physical and ecological representations and functionings that are changed. As stressed within this chapter and throughout the dissertation, histories, customs, cosmologies, and much more are inscribed within landscapes such that the destruction of a landscape is related to the destruction of all that is imbued within those spaces. Rogers-Martinez stresses the necessity of this understanding within Sinkyone intertribal park project by stating that this project is about the

restoration of "ourselves," with all that entails. That requires the restoration of "our spirits, our cultures, our songs, our myths, our stories, [...] Indian names for creeks and springs" (Rogers-Martinez 1992, 67). Thus restoration requires a restoration *of land* where land has be acknowledged and honored not simply as a biological entity, though it is also that, but it is the relationships of peoples' to that land, it is language, it is culture, it is tradition, it is knowledge. Without the restoration of all these things and more, which perhaps we cannot name now or may never be able to name that constitute landscapes, that give places, and peoples meaning. The healing and reshaping of settler and Indigenous relations to land and ecosystems helps to undo the harm of settler colonialism by attending the centrality of land to Indigenous identity, survival, and flourishing. Processes of reconciliation that do not prioritize, centralize, and include the importance of land and ecosystems to Indigenous peoples' ability to live and relate to the world are still upholding settler colonial structures that block justice and reconciliation for all.

This chapter has argued for the centrality of reconciliation that confronts the profound harm of settler colonial destruction of land and ecosystems that directly leads to the marginality and continued oppression of many Indigenous peoples. If the balance, reciprocity, and centrality of relatedness is a defining characteristic of Indigenous cosmologies informed notions of reconciliation, it seems to me that reconciliation becomes a contextualized process in which history, traditions, and lifeways of all involved *matter* for the creation of an improved network of right relations. This means reconciliation needs to be viewed as a series of processes and goals that are revisited constantly since they are composed of various relationships, duties, gifts, and obligations to the world we share. There is not a space for absolutes or hard separations between the "human" world or the "natural" world, the "political" or the "environmental." These are all integral relationships and parts of the whole that are attempting to coexist in ways that do not

over determine or denigrate, but allow the gifts and responsibilities of all to flourish and be held in a balance that honors creation.

Concluding Remarks

In this dissertation, I have examined the ways in which seemingly disparate and oftenseparated avenues of inquiry, within both political philosophy and environmental ethics, articulate similar processes of reconciliation. I have defined reconciliation as the restoration or creation of right relations that moves communities out of unjust or oppressive situations to situations in which members are related to each other in just and honorable ways. Within political philosophy, I critically engaged the literature of theories of harm and political reconciliation to understand why environmental harms and concerns are not considered integral to both the analysis of harm and the analysis, as well as implantation, of reconciliatory processes. Ultimately, I concluded that the continued exclusion of ecological relations from the analysis of harm and reconciliation within the "political" sphere is a relic of the dominant western ideological systems that still (mistakenly) view the environment as a resource base/property that supports human existence. The crises we see both politically and ecologically are results of the continued and unchecked development and flourishing of this way of thinking. Within the field of environmental ethics, I looked at the area of ecological restoration as presenting a similar problem as political philosophy, but through the exclusion of political relations instead of ecological relations. The hyper-focus on the state of ecological relations and the urgent impetus to restore them and then leave them alone, belies a similar belief found within political reconciliation theories that humans occupy a primary role, which should be severely limited within the restoration projects happening within ecological spaces. This type of thinking led to curious restoration projects in which physical/technical processes were promoted and argued for without serious consideration of the social and political relations that helped affect these harms

initially, or that could impede long-term, sustainable ecological stability and human/environmental stewardship.

After identifying and interrogating the similarly situated ways of thinking that manifested in the separation between political philosophy and environmental ethics through the subfields of political reconciliation and ecological restoration, I moved onto areas of inquiry that wed political relations and ecological relations. A major conclusion of the first part of the dissertation is that lack of diverse perspectives, values, and lived experiences creates and maintains similarly one-dimensional ways of thinking and problem-solving. Expanding upon this thesis, chapter four explores the ways in which environmental racism and discriminatory biocentrism affect communities of color and poor communities, specifically African Americans. Beginning from the heart of environmental and political crisis allows for an integrated analysis that can accurately and sufficiently articulate the ways in which political relations and ecological relations are mutually influential. The erasure of black Americans' history of political incorporation to the nation state, erasure from US civic myths, as well as the erasure and ignoring of their ecological identities and ecological heritages are a critical component of their relegation to unsafe and unjust conditions in almost every aspect of their lives: social, political, ecological, spiritual, and the like.

The final area the dissertation explores Indigenous philosophies as sites of theory and praxis which offer many critical solutions precisely because they are situated in a tradition and history that directly confronts and contests the dominant western epistemological and physical processes which have largely led us to these current massive crises. Chapter five tracks and articulates some of the ways in which contact and settler colonialism with North America interrupted, erased, and illegalized the practice of indigenous lifeways and thus discredited and

tried to invalidate rich indigenous epistemological systems and knowledges. It examines how the extreme effects of settler colonialism on land/ecosystems was integral to the destruction of Indigenous peoples relations to those land/ecosystems and displaced their socioecological horizons of existing in the world in authentic and healthy manners. It proposes that part of the resurgence of western, white, settler co-optations and further colonization of indigenous philosophies, which western white scholars and activists are presenting as not only their own, but new, is due to the completion of the project of settler colonialism. Having completed the phase of running aground a dominant western system of power, which displaced more sustainable and balanced indigenous philosophies and life-systems, the settler returns to the sites of indigenous destruction to attempt to restore or reconcile the issues. This is *not* reconciliation; this is the furthering settler futurity. This chapter suggests that reconciliation of the natural world and of humans, especially within the complicated and traumatic history of settler colonialism, requires coalition building that is fundamentally different from the context that created settler colonialism and allowed it to flourish. This requires a deep and serious accounting of historical injustices, harms, and traumas as well as a large space for healing and an understanding that some harms are incommensurable between groups and will never be healed in an ultimate or finite sense (Tuck and Yang 2012). The work of rebuilding relations and trust is extremely difficult, timeconsuming, and uncomfortable.

This dissertation's purpose has been to lay some initial theoretical groundwork for thinking about the ways in which political relations and ecological relations grow together. They influence each other in creating harms and injustices, but also work together to offer us solutions and ways forward. We no longer (if we ever had) the time or luxury to support the ways of thinking that have led us to this current state. Ideas have consequences and we are forced to

confront that thesis given the challenges and opportunities we face to preserve our world as well as our humanity. The health of the planet and the health of the peoples of this planet, including our more-than-human relations are both indications of how are thinking and doing are flourishing or failing. We must honor and hold that relationship, understanding, and potential to reconcile ourselves to ourselves, to others, and to the earth close and carefully.

BIBLIOGRAPHY

BIBLIOGRAPHY

- Adler, J. 1996. "Transmitting Knowledge." Noûs 30: 99–111.
- Agamben, Giorgio. 2002. *Remnants of Auschwitz: The Witness and the Archive*. Translated by Daniel Heller-Roazen. Reprint edition. New York: Zone Books.
- Arendt, Hannah. 1998. *The Human Condition, 2nd Edition*. 2nd edition. Chicago: The University of Chicago Press.
- Arthur, John, and William H. Shaw. 1991. *Justice and Economic Distribution*. 2 edition. Englewood Cliffs, N.J: Pearson.
- Audi, R. 1997. "The Place of Testimony in the Fabric of Justification and Knowledge." *American Philosophical Quarterly* 34: 405–22.
- Baptist, Edward E. 2014. *The Half Has Never Been Told: Slavery and the Making of American Capitalism*. New York: Basic Books.
- Barkan, Elazar, and Alexander Karn, eds. 2006. *Taking Wrongs Seriously: Apologies and Reconciliation*. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.
- Barnett, Jon, and W. Neil Adger. 2007. "Climate Change, Human Security and Violent Conflict." *Political Geography*, Climate Change and Conflict, 26 (6): 639–55. doi:10.1016/j.polgeo.2007.03.003.
- Barry, Brian. 1991. *Theories of Justice: A Treatise on Social Justice, Vol. 1.* Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Berlin, Ira, Barbara J. Fields, Steven F. Miller, Joseph P. Reidy, and Leslie S. Rowland. 1992. Slaves No More: Three Essays on Emancipation and the Civil War. Cambridge England; New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Blanchot, Maurice. 1995. *The Writing of the Disaster*. Translated by Ann Smock. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press.
- Bourdieu, Pierre. 2000. *Pascalian Meditations*. Translated by Richard Nice. Stanford, California: Stanford University Press.
- Boyce, James K., Sunita Narain, and Elizabeth A. Stanton, eds. 2007. *Reclaiming Nature: Environmental Justice and Ecological Restoration*. London; New York: Anthem Press.
- Brooks, Roy L., ed. 1999. When Sorry Isn't Enough: The Controversy Over Apologies and Reparations for Human Injustice. New York: NYU Press.

- Bullard, R. D. 1990. *Dumping in Dixie: Race, Class, and Environmental Quality*. Boulder: Westview Press.
- Bullard, Robert D. 2005. "Neighborhoods 'Zoned' for Garbage." In *The Quest for Environmental Justice: Human Rights and Politics of Pollution*. San Francisco: Sierra Club Books.
- Burton, Lloyd. 1987. "The American Indian Water Rights Dilemma: Historical Perspective and Dispute-Settling Policy Recommendations." *UCLA Journal of Environmental Law and Policy* 7 (1). http://escholarship.org/uc/item/45m0r0qz.
- Butler, Jeffrey, Robert I. Rotberg, and John Adams. 1978. *The Black Homelands of South Africa: The Political and Economic Development of Bophuthatswana and Kwa-Zulu*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- Cabin, Robert J. 2011. *Intelligent Tinkering: Bridging the Gap between Science and Practice*. Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- Carrera, Jennifer. 2016. "Panel Discussion: The Flint Water Crisis." presented at the Fate of the Earth Symposium, Kellogg Hotel and Conference Center, Michigan State University, April 6.
- Carroll, Clint. 2014. "Native Enclosures: Tribal National Parks and the Progressive Politics of Environmental Stewardship in Indian Country." *Geoforum* 53 (May): 31–40. doi:10.1016/j.geoforum.2014.02.003.
- Cha, J. Mijin. 2016. "Flint Water Crisis Is Classic Case of Environmental Racism." January 16. http://thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/energy-environment/266850-flint-water-crisis-is-classic-case-of-environmental.
- Chrystos. 1988. Not Vanishing. Vancouver: Press Gang Publishers.
- Cock, Jacklyn. 2011. "Green Capitalism' or Environmental Justice? A Critique of the Sustainability Discourse." *Focus* 63: 45–51.
- Cole, Luke W., and Sheila R. Foster. 2001. "We Speak for Ourselves: The Struggle of Kettleman City." In *From the Ground Up: Environmental Racism and the Rise of the Environmental Justice Movement*. New York: New York University Press.
- Commission for Racial Justice, United Church of Christ. 1987. "Toxic Wastes and Race in the United States: A National Report on the Racial and Socio-Economic Characteristics of Communities with Hazardous Waste Sites." Commission for Racial Justice, United Church of Christ.
- Cronon, William. 1996. "The Trouble with Wilderness; Or, Getting Back to the Wrong Nature." *Environmental History* 1 (1): 7–28.

- Davis, Matthew M., Chris Kolb, Lawrence Reynolds, Eric Rothstein, and Ken Sikkema. 2016. "Flint Water Advisory Task Force: Final Report." https://www.michigan.gov/documents/snyder/FWATF_FINAL_REPORT_21March2016_517805_7.pdf.
- Dian Million. 2009. "Felt Theory: An Indigenous Feminist Approach to Affect and History." *Wicazo Sa Review* 24 (2): 53–76.
- Elliot, Robert. 1982. "Faking Nature." *Inquiry* 25 (1): 81–93.
- ——. 1997. Faking Nature: The Ethics of Environmental Restoration. Environmental Philosophies Series. London: Routledge.
- Evans, Gareth. 1982. *The Varieties of Reference*. Edited by John McDowell. Oxford Oxfordshire: New York: Clarendon Press.
- Fanon, Frantz. 2008. *Black Skin, White Masks*. Translated by Richard Philcox. New York: Berkeley, Calif.: Grove Press.
- Figueroa, Robert. 2006. "Evaluating Environmental Justice Claims." In *Forging Environmentalism: Justice, Livelihood, and Contested Environments*, edited by J. Bauer, 360–76. New York: M.E. Sharpe.
- Figueroa, Robert, and Gordon Waitt. 2010. "Climb: Restorative Justice, Environmental Heritage, and the Moral Terrains of Uluru-Kata Tjuta National Park." *Environmental Philosophy* 7 (2): 135–63.
- Finney, Carolyn. 2014. *Black Faces, White Spaces: Reimagining the Relationship of African Americans to the Great Outdoors*. Chapel Hill: The University of North Carolina Press.
- Foner, Eric, and Steven Hahn. 2007. *Nothing But Freedom: Emancipation and Its Legacy*. Baton Rouge: LSU Press.
- Fraser, Nancy. 1997. "From Redistribution to Recognition? Dilemmas of Justice in a 'Postsocialist' Age." In *Justice Interruptus*. Routledge.
- Gann, George D., and David Lamb, eds. 2006. "Ecological Restoration: A Means of Conserving Biodiversity and Sustaining Livelihoods." *Society for Ecological Restoration International*.
- Glymph, Thavolia. 2008. Out of the House of Bondage: The Transformation of the Plantation Household. Cambridge; New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Goeman, Mishuana. 2009. "Notes toward a Native Feminism's Spatial Practice." *Wicazo Sa Review* 24 (2): 169–87.

- Griswold, Charles. 2007. Forgiveness: A Philosophical Exploration. Cambridge University Press.
- Gunderson, Ryan. 2015. "Environmental Sociology and the Frankfurt School 1: Reason and Capital." In preparation.
- Hahn, Steven. 2005. A Nation Under Our Feet: Black Political Struggles in the Rural South from Slavery to the Great Migration. Cambridge, Mass.: Belknap Press.
- Haila, Yrjö. 2000. "Beyond the Nature-Culture Dualism." *Biology and Philosophy* 15 (2): 155–75. doi:10.1023/A:1006625830102.
- Hall, Marcus. 1997. "Co-Workers with Nature: The Deeper Roots of Restoration." *Restoration & Management Notes* 15 (2): 173–75.
- Heyd, Thomas. 2005. "Nature, Culture, and Natural Heritage: Toward a Culture of Nature." *Environmental Ethics* 27 (4): 339–54.
- Higgs, Eric. 2003. *Nature by Design: People, Natural Process, and Ecological Restoration*. Cambridge, Mass: The MIT Press.
- Highsmith, Andrew R. 2015. Demolition Means Progress: Flint, Michigan, and the Fate of the American Metropolis. Chicago: University Of Chicago Press.
- Hobbes, Thomas. 1994. Leviathan. Indianapolis: Hackett Publishing Company, Inc.
- Holtgren, M. 2013. "Bringing Us Back To the River." In *The Great Lake Sturgeon*, edited by N. Auer and D. Dempsey. East Lansing: Michigan State University Press.
- Holtgren, Marty, Stephanie Ogren, and Kyle Whyte. n.d. "Renewing Relatives: Nmé Stewardship in a Shared Watershed." *Humanities for the Environment*. http://hfe-observatories.org/projects/renewing-relatives-nme-stewardship-in-a-shared-watershed/.
- Honneth, Axel. 1992. "Integrity and Disrespect: Principles of a Conception of Morality Based on the Theory of Recognition." *Political Theory* 20 (2): 187–201. doi:10.2307/192001.
- ———. 2004. "Recognition and Justice: Outline of a Plural Theory of Justice." *Acta Sociologica* 47 (4): 351–64.
- Hoogeveen, Dawn. 2014. "Sub-Surface Property, Free-Entry Mineral Staking and Settler Colonialism in Canada." *Antipode*.
- House, Freeman. 2000. *Totem Salmon: Life Lessons from Another Species*. Boston: Beacon Press.
- "Idle No More." n.d. *Idle No More*. http://www.idlenomore.ca/.
- Igoe, Jim. 2003. Conservation and Globalization: A Study of National Parks and Indigenous

- Communities from East Africa to South Dakota. Belmont, California: Wadsworth Publishing.
- Jordan, William R. 2003. *The Sunflower Forest: Ecological Restoration and the New Communion with Nature*. University of California Press.
- Katz, Eric. 1992. "The Big Lie: Human Restoration of Nature." *Research in Philosophy and Technology* 12: 231–41.
- King, Tiffany. 2013. "In the Clearing: Black Female Bodies, Space and Settler Colonial Landscapes." University of Maryland, College Park.
- Kymlicka, Will, and Bashir Bashir, eds. 2010. *The Politics of Reconciliation in Multicultural Societies*. Reissue edition. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- Lackey, Jennifer. 1999. "Testimonial Knowledge and Transmission." *The Philosophical Quarterly* (1950-) 49 (197): 471–90.
- ———. 2008. *Learning from Words: Testimony as a Source of Knowledge*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Lang, Cady. 2016. "Thousands Sign Petition For Dead Cincinnati Zoo Gorilla." *Time*, May 31. http://time.com/4352211/change-org-petition-justice-for-harambe-cincinnati-zoo-gorilla/.
- LaRocque, Emma. 1993. "Preface or Here Are Our Voices-Who Will Hear?" In *Writing the Circle: Native Women of Western Canada: An Anthology*, edited by Jeanne Perreault and Sylvia Vance. Norman: Univ of Oklahoma Pr.
- Legacy of Hope Foundation. 2001. *Our Stories...Our Strength*. Where Are the Children? Healing the Legacy of Residential Schools. Canada. http://wherearethechildren.ca/en/stories/.
- Leopold, Aldo. 1989. "Thinking Like a Mountain." In *A Sand County Almanac, and Sketches Here and There*. Oxford University Press.
- Light, Andrew. 2000a. "Ecological Restoration and the Culture of Nature." In *Restoring Nature: Perspectives from the Social Sciences and Humanities.* Washington, D.C.: Island Press.
- ———. 2000b. "Restoration or Domination? A Response to Katz." In *Environmental Restoration: Ethics, Theory, and Practice*, 95–111. Amherst, NY: Humanity Books.
- ——. 2006. "Ecological Citizenship: The Democratic Promise of Restoration." In *The Humane Metropolis: People and Nature in the 21st-Century City*, edited by Rutherford H. Platt and Lincoln Institute of Land Policy. Univ of Massachusetts Press.
- Light, Andrew, and Eric S. Higgs. 1996. "The Politics of Ecological Restoration:" *Environmental Ethics* 18 (3): 227–47.

- Locke, John. 2011a. "Chapter 5: On Property." In *Second Treatise of Government*. Watchmaker Publishing.
- ——. 2011b. Second Treatise of Government. Watchmaker Publishing.
- Marx, Karl. 1979. A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy. Edited by Maurice Dobb. Intl Pub.
- Mauritz, Elizabeth. 2005. "Burn and Sow: The Ethical Implications of Ecological Restoration." Master of Arts, Denton, TX: University of North Texas.
- McGregor, Deborah. 2009. "Honouring Our Relations: An Anishnaabe Perspective on Environmental Justice." In *Speaking for Ourselves: Environmental Justice in Canada*, edited by J. Agyeman, P. Cole, and R. Haluza-Delay. Vancouver: UBC Press.
- Michigan Roundtable for Diversity and Inclusion. 2011. "Charter for the Metropolitan Detroit Truth & Reconciliation Commission on Racial Inequality." Detroit: Metropolitan Detroit Truth & Reconcilation Commission. http://www.miroundtable.org/Roundtabledownloads/FinalMandate2011.pdf.
- Mignolo, Walter. 1997. *The Darker Side of the Renaissance: Literacy, Territoriality, and Colonization*. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.
- 2008. "The Geopolitics of Knowledge and Colonial Difference." In *Coloniality at Large: Latin America and the Postcolonial Debate*, edited by Mabel Moraña, Enriqué Dussel, and Carlos A. Jáuregui, 225–58. Durham: Duke University Press Books.
- Mills, Stephanie. 1996. *In Service of the Wild: Restoring and Reinhabiting Damaged Land*. Boston: Beacon.
- Minow, Martha. 1999. Between Vengeance and Forgiveness: Facing History after Genocide and Mass Violence. Boston: Beacon Press.
- Moellendorf, Darrell. 2007. "Reconciliation as Political Value." *Journal of Social Philosophy* 38 (2): 205–21.
- Mohai, Paul, Byoung-Suk Kweon, Sangyun Lee, and Kerry Ard. 2011. "Air Pollution Around Schools Is Linked To Poorer Student Health And Academic Performance." *Health Affairs* 30 (5): 852–62.
- Mohai, P., D. Pellow, and J.T. Roberts. 2009. "Environmental Justice." *Annual Review of Environment and Resources* 34: 405–30.
- Muir, John. 2015. The Yosemite. CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.

- Murphy, Colleen. 2010. A Moral Theory of Political Reconciliation. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Nann Burke, Melissa. 2016. "FEMA Denies Snyder Appeal for More Flint Aid." *The Detroit News*, March 16. http://www.detroitnews.com/story/news/michigan/flint-water-crisis/2016/03/16/fema-denies-snyder-appeal-flint-aid/81858426/.
- Ormrod, James S. 2011. "'Making Room for the Tigers and the Polar Bears': Biography, Phantasy and Ideology in the Voluntary Human Extinction Movement." *Psychoanalysis, Culture & Society* 16 (2): 142–61.
- Palamar, C.R. 2008. "The Justice of Ecological Restoration: Environmental History, Health, Ecology, and Justice in the United States." *Human Ecology Review* 15 (1): 82–94.
- Plumwood, Val. 2002a. *Environmental Culture: The Ecological Crisis of Reason*. New York: Routledge.
- ——. 2002b. Feminism and the Mastery of Nature. Taylor & Francis.
- Quijano, Aníbal. 2008. "Coloniality of Power, Eurocentrism, and Latin America." In *Coloniality at Large: Latin America and the Postcolonial Debate*. Durham: Duke University Press Books.
- Radzik, Linda. 2009. *Making Amends: Atonement in Morality, Law and Politics*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Ranco, D. J., C.A. O'Neill, J. Donatuto, and B. L. Harper. 2011. "Environmental Justice, American Indians and the Cultural Dilemma: Developing Environmental Management for Tribal Health and Well-Being." *Environmental Justice* 4 (4): 221–30.
- Rawls, John. 1999. A Theory of Justice. Revised edition. Cambridge, Mass: Belknap Press.
- Ray, Janisse. 2005. *Pinhook: Finding Wholeness in a Fragmented Land*. White River Junction: Chelsea Green Publishing.
- Reynolds, S. 2002. "Testimony, Knowledge, and Epistemic Goals." *Philosophical Studies* 110: 131–61.
- Roemer, John E. 1998. *Theories of Distributive Justice*. Cambridge, Mass: Harvard University Press.
- Rogers-Martinez, Dennis. 1992. "Northwestern Coastal Forests: The Sinkyone Intertribal Park Project." *Restoration & Management Notes* 10 (1): 64–69.
- Rolston III, Holmes. 1994. Conserving Natural Value. New York: Columbia University Press.

- Rosner, David. 2016. "Flint, Michigan: A Century of Environmental Injustice." *American Journal of Public Health* 106 (2): 200–201.
- Rousseau, Jean-Jacques. 2010. *The Social Contract*. United States: CreateSpace Independent Publishing Platform.
- Schaap, Andrew. 2005. Political Reconciliation. New York: Routledge.
- Schlosberg, David. 2010. "Indigenous Struggles, Environmental Justice, and Community Capabilities." *Global Environmental Politics* 10 (4).
- Shrader-Frechette, Kristin. 2002. *Environmental Justice: Creating Equality, Reclaiming Democracy*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.
- Singer, Peter. 1972. "Famine, Affluence, and Morality." *Philosophy & Public Affairs* 1 (3): 229–43.
- Sinha, Manisha. 2016. *The Slave's Cause: A History of Abolition*. New Haven, CT: Yale University Press.
- Smith, Andrea. 2014. "Native Studies at the Horizon of Death: Theorizing Ethnographic Entrapment and Settler Self-Reflexivity." In *Theorizing Native Studies*. Duke University Press.
- Smith, Kimberly. 2004. "Black Agrarianism and the Foundations of Black Environmental Thought." *Environmental Ethics* 26 (3): 267–86.
- Spence, Mark David. 1999. *Dispossessing the Wilderness: Indian Removal and the Making of the National Parks*. New York: Oxford University Press. http://ezproxy.msu.edu/login?url=http://search.ebscohost.com/login.aspx?direct=true&scope=site&db=e000xna&AN=143989.
- Stanley, Anna. 2016. "Resilient Settler Colonialism: 'Responsible Resource Development,' 'Flow-Through' Financing, and the Risk Management of Indigenous Sovereignty in Canada." *Environment and Planning A*, July. http://epn.sagepub.com/content/early/2016/07/23/0308518X16660352.
- Sze, Julie, and Jonathan London. 2008. "Environmental Justice at the Crossroads." *Sociology Compass* 2 (4): 1331–54.
- Taylor, Charles. 1994. "The Politics of Recognition." In *Multiculturalism: Examining the Politics of Recognition*, edited by Amy Gutmann, 25–73. Princeton, N.J.: Princeton University Press.
- Taylor, D.E. 2000. "The Rise of the Environmental Justice Paradigm: Injustice Framing and the Social Construction of Environmental Discourses." *American Behavioral Scientist* 43 (4): 505–80.

- Teitel, Ruti G. 2000. Transitional Justice. Oxford; New York: Oxford University Press.
- *The Guardian*. 2016. "Divided Cities: South Africa's Apartheid Legacy Photographed by Drone," June 23. http://www.theguardian.com/cities/gallery/2016/jun/23/south-africa-divided-cities-apartheid-photographed-drone.
- Thompson, Janna. 2002. *Taking Responsibility for the Past: Reparation and Historical Injustice*. Cambridge, UK: Malden, MA: Blackwell Publishers: Polity.
- Thoreau, Henry David. 2008. Walden. New Orleans: Megalodon Entertainment LLC.
- Throop, William. 2000. *Environmental Restoration: Ethics, Theory, and Practice*. Humanity Books.
- Tillet, Salamishah. 2012. Sites of Slavery: Citizenship and Racial Democracy in the Post–Civil Rights Imagination. Duke University Press.
- Truth & Reconciliaton Commission, South Africa. 1998. *Truth and Reconciliation Commission of South Africa Report*. Cape Town: The Commission.
- Tuck, Eve, and K. Wayne Yang. 2012. "Decolonization Is Not a Metaphor." *Decolonization: Indigeneity, Education & Society* 1 (1): 1–40.
- Turner, Dale. 2006. *This Is Not a Peace Pipe: Towards a Critical Indigenous Philosophy*. Toronto: University of Toronto Press, Scholarly Publishing Division.
- Umbreit, Mark, and Marilyn Peterson Armour. 2011. *Restorative Justice Dialogue: An Essential Guide for Research and Practice*. New York: Springer Publishing Company.
- Van Ness, Daniel W., and Karen Heetderks Strong. 1997. *Restoring Justice: An Introduction to Restorative Justice*. New Providence: Matthew Bender & Company, Inc.
- Van Wieren, Gretel. 2008. "Ecological Restoration as Public Spirtual Practice." *Worldviews* 12: 237–54.
- van Wormer, Katherine S., and Lorenn Walker. 2013. *Restorative Justice Today: Practical Applications*. Los Angeles: Sage.
- Walker, Margaret Urban. 2006. *Moral Repair: Reconstructing Moral Relations after Wrongdoing*. New York: Cambridge University Press.
- Wall, Barbara E. 2001. "Navajo Conceptions of Justice in the Peacemaker Court." *Journal of Social Philosophy* 32 (4): 532–46.
- Wall Kimmerer, Robin. 2016. "Keynote Address." presented at the Shatitsirótha/Boodiwewin

- Reigniting the Sacred Power of Creation: Essential Knowledes for Transformative Action, Trent University, April 24.
- Walton, Douglas. 2007. Witness Testimony Evidence: Argumentation and the Law. Cambridge University Press.
- Warren, Karen J. 1990. "The Power and the Promise of Ecological Feminism." *Environmental Ethics* 12 (2): 125–46.
- Weinmann. 2011. "Climate Change Hurts Indian Tribes Disproportionately, Report Finds." *National Wildlife Federation*. https://www.nwf.org/News-and-Magazines/Media-Center/News-by-Topic/Global-Warming/2011/08-03-11-Climate-Change-Hurts-Indian-Tribes-Disproportionately.aspx.
- Welbourne, M. 1979. "The Transmission of Knowledge." The Philosophical Quarterly 29: 1–9.
- Whyte, Kyle. 2010. "Why Not Environmental Injustice?" Ethics, Policy and Environment 13 (3).
- ——. 2015. "How Similar Are Indigenous North American and Leopoldian Environmental Ethics?" In *Revisiting Leopold's Land Ethic: Emerging Cultures of Sustainability*, edited by Teressa Trusty and William Forbes. Stephen F. Austin University Press.
- ——. 2016a. "Indigenous Food Systems, Environmental Justice, and Settler-Industrial States." In *Global Food, Global Justice*.
- ———. 2016b. "Indigenous Experience, Environmental Justice and Settler Colonialism." SSRN Scholarly Paper ID 2770058. Rochester, NY: Social Science Research Network. http://papers.ssrn.com/abstract=2770058.
- Wilkerson, Isabel. 2011. *The Warmth of Other Suns: The Epic Story of America's Great Migration*. New York, NY: Vintage.
- Wolfe, Patrick. 2006. "Settler Colonialism and the Elimination of the Native." *Journal of Genocide Research* 8 (4): 387–409.
- Young, Iris Marion. 2011. *Justice and the Politics of Difference*. Princeton, N.J: Princeton University Press.